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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, which statements
involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “might,” “possible,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,”
“target,” “project,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that concern
our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report include statements about:

• our ability to commercialize the Aurora Driver safely, quickly, and broadly on the timeline we expect;

• the safety benefits of our technology and product;

• the market for autonomous vehicles and our market position;

• our ability to compete effectively with existing and new competitors;

• the ability to maintain the listing of our Class A common stock and warrants on Nasdaq;

• our ability to raise financing in the future;

• anticipated trends, growth rates, and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate;

• our ability to effectively manage our growth and future expenses;

• the sufficiency of our cash and cash equivalents to meet our operating requirements;

• our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our officers, key employees or directors;

• the impact of the regulatory environment and complexities with compliance related to such environment;

• our ability to successfully collaborate with business partners;

• our business partners' ability to source materials for and manufacture vehicles for deployment of the Aurora Driver at scale;

• the anticipated benefits from our relationships with our partners and customers;

• our ability to obtain, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property;

• economic and industry trends or trend analysis;

• the benefits of the use of artificial intelligence in Aurora’s services or products;

• the impact of infectious diseases, health epidemics and pandemics, natural disasters, war (including Russia’s actions in Ukraine and the conflicts in the Middle East),
acts of terrorism or responses to these events; and

• other factors detailed under the section entitled “Risk Factors.”

We caution you that the foregoing list does not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report
primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.
The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those described in the section titled “Risk
Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to
time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report. We cannot
assure you that the results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or circumstances could
differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

Neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-looking statements. Moreover, the forward-looking
statements made in this Annual Report relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking
statements made in this Annual Report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated
events, except as required by law. You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of
any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.
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Part I - Financial Information

Item 1. Business.

INFORMATION ABOUT AURORA

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to the “Company,” “Aurora,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to the business of Aurora Innovation, Inc. and its
subsidiaries.

Corporate History and Background

On November 3, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Aurora Innovation, Inc. (f/k/a Reinvent Technology Partners Y and referred to herein as the “Company”), consummated a
business combination with Aurora Innovation Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (f/k/a Aurora Innovation, Inc. and f/k/a Avian U Merger Holdco Corp. and referred to
herein as “Legacy Aurora”), and RTPY Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to an
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated July 14, 2021 (the “Merger Agreement” and the transactions contemplated thereby, the “Merger”), by and among the Company, Legacy
Aurora and Merger Sub. Our Class A common stock and public warrants are listed on Nasdaq under the symbols “AUR” and “AUROW,” respectively. Our Class B common
stock is neither listed nor publicly traded.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, a business combination between the Company and Legacy Aurora was effected through the merger of Merger Sub with
and into Legacy Aurora, with Legacy Aurora surviving as the surviving company and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On the Closing Date, the Company
changed its name from Reinvent Technology Partners Y to Aurora Innovation, Inc.

Company Overview

Our mission is to deliver the benefits of self-driving technology safely, quickly, and broadly.

Aurora was founded in 2017 by Chris Urmson, Sterling Anderson, and Drew Bagnell, three of the most prominent leaders in the self-driving space. Led by a team with
deep experience, we are developing the Aurora Driver based on what we believe to be the most advanced and scalable suite of self-driving hardware, software, and data services
in the world to fundamentally transform the global transportation market. The Aurora Driver is designed as a platform to adapt and interoperate amongst a multitude of vehicle
types and applications. To date, we have successfully integrated the Aurora Driver into numerous different vehicle platforms designed to meet its requirements: from passenger
vehicles to light commercial vehicles to Class 8 trucks. By creating a common driver platform for multiple vehicle types and use cases, the capabilities we develop in one
market reinforce and strengthen our competitive advantages in other areas. For example, highway driving capabilities developed for trucking will carry over to highway
segments driven by passenger vehicles in ride hailing applications. We believe this is the right approach to bring self-driving to market and will enable us to target and transform
multiple massive markets, including trucking, passenger mobility, and local goods delivery.

Beyond the economic opportunity, we believe we have a unique opportunity to have a material positive impact on the lives of millions of people, while also improving
business productivity. First and foremost, we are focused on the opportunity to greatly improve road safety. In trucking, we can enable logistics networks to move goods more
efficiently, and also help fill the shortage of truck drivers by providing a self-driving option. We will expand access to transportation, improving the lives of the millions of
people with a disability in the U.S. who have difficulty traveling outside of the home. And we will give people back their time that can be made more productive and enjoyable.

We intend to launch trucking as our first driverless product, as we believe its massive scale, significant structural need, attractive unit economics, and self-similar
operating environment will allow us to rapidly deploy and profitably scale on high-volume, highway-focused routes. Drafting on the revenue and technical capability we expect
this trucking product to generate, we plan to leverage the extensibility of the Aurora Driver to deploy and scale into the passenger mobility and local goods delivery markets. We
have operated our self-driving test vehicles in diverse weather and operating environments, including in Arizona, California, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, and Texas, allowing
us to create a more robust self-driving system. We also autonomously haul (under the supervision of vehicle operators) truck freight on behalf of our pilot customers in
preparation for driverless commercialization.
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Our first-principles approach underpins our technology development strategy for the Aurora Driver. We made foundational investments early on, based on our prior
experience in the self-driving industry, that allow us to accelerate development and position our platform for long-term scalability. Some of these foundational investments
include developing the Aurora Driver with what we believe to be the optimal combination of artificial intelligence and machine-learning with rule-based approaches. We have
used a “Verifiable AI” approach, intended to leverage advancements in artificial intelligence and machine learning to deliver a practical, verifiable, and commercially scalable
solution. We have also built a proprietary Virtual Testing Suite, which makes our development more efficient and faster than traditional approaches that rely heavily on on-road
vehicle fleets. While many companies in the self-driving industry tout miles driven as a metric, our Virtual Testing Suite allows us to iterate faster and more efficiently, while
reducing our reliance on on-road testing.

We have also invested in our next-generation sensing suite, which combines the best of camera, radar, and lidar. This includes developing our Aurora FirstLight Lidar,
which uses proprietary frequency modulated continuous wave (“FMCW”) technology that enables long-range sensing, and simultaneous detection of both the position and
velocity of objects. We believe that when combined with our industry-leading sensor suite and perception system, this technology uniquely enables safe operation at highway
speeds and is unmatched by our competitors’ alternative solutions. We believe this unlocks the global trucking market, as trucks must be capable of operating at up to 65 miles
per hour and 80,000 pounds gross vehicle weight, necessitating redundant long-range sensing in order to plan and take action appropriately. High-speed operation is also key to
unlocking the full opportunity set across passenger mobility and local goods delivery, where a significant percentage of trips require operation on highways and other high-
speed roads.

To bring our product to market at scale, we focus on what we do best – building self-driving technology – and through strategic partnerships work with best-in-class
companies to deliver the benefits of our technology broadly. We have strategic partnerships with:

• PACCAR & Volvo, who together represent a significant share of US Class 8 truck sales.

• Toyota, a leading vehicle manufacturer globally.

• Uber, a leading ride hailing company globally.

• Continental, a leading global technology manufacturer and Tier 1 automotive supplier.

With these strategic partnerships, each party is making significant investments towards integrating the Aurora Driver into vehicles, logistics and mobility networks, and
business models. We believe that partnering with other industry leaders enables us to scale more efficiently, as it allows us to focus on what we do best – developing the Aurora
Driver—while our partners handle activities such as vehicle and hardware manufacturing, fleet ownership, and operation. We are proud that these industry leaders have selected
Aurora as their self-driving partner. During 2024, we operated commercial trucking pilots with FedEx, Hirschbach, Schneider, Uber Freight, Volvo Autonomous Solutions, and
Werner, among others, through which we regularly and autonomously hauled loads under the supervision of vehicle operators, and are also integrating access to Uber Freight’s
digital freight network within our autonomous trucking subscription service. Further, we continued our strategic collaboration with Ryder Systems, piloting on-site fleet
maintenance to support current autonomous freight pilot operations and prepare for commercial operation at scale.

We envision a two-phase process for ownership and operation of Aurora Driver-powered self-driving vehicles. Early in our commercialization, we intend to own or lease
and operate an initial fleet of trucks and will invest in self-driving system hardware, base vehicles, and commercial facilities (such as freight terminals). Following this initial
phase, we expect to ultimately commercialize the Aurora Driver in a Driver as a Service (“DaaS”) business model, in which we will supply self-driving technology and earn
revenue on a fee per mile basis. In this second phase, we do not intend to own nor operate large vehicle fleets ourselves. We will partner with automotive companies, fleet
operators, and other third parties to commercialize and support Aurora Driver-powered vehicles. We expect that these strategic partners will support activities such as vehicle
manufacturing, financing and leasing, service and maintenance, parts replacement, facility ownership and operation, and other commercial and operational services as needed.
We expect the DaaS model to enable an asset-light and high-margin revenue stream for Aurora, while allowing us to scale more rapidly through partnerships.

As of December 31, 2024, we have assembled an approximately 1,800-person team, consisting of leading experts in robotics, artificial intelligence, machine learning,
hardware design, software engineering, systems engineering, and safety. We believe that our combined experience and expertise allow us to move faster and more efficiently
than our competitors as we make purposeful, foundational technological investments in safe and scalable self-driving technology.
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Commercialization & Growth Strategy

We plan to commercialize the Aurora Driver safely, quickly, and broadly. We believe our self-driving technology has a strong value proposition with benefits including:
• improved safety,
• faster, more efficient goods movement,
• more reliable freight supply,
• reduced insurance expenses,
• enhanced energy efficiency,
• increased access to passenger mobility, and
• greater individual productivity.

Trucking

We plan to launch Aurora Driver for Freight, our driverless trucking subscription service, as our first commercial product. We have prioritized this market as we believe
it is an optimal first product for both commercial and technical reasons:

• Commercial. As a critical part of the United States economy, responsible for moving a significant portion of goods, the trucking industry is a large market
opportunity. The trucking industry also faces a number of ongoing challenges that the Aurora Driver can help solve. The industry has experienced a persistent driver
shortage, resulting in high driver turnover. Growth in e-commerce increases customer expectations for same- or next-day delivery, while service restrictions on driver
operating hours create inherent limitations to optimally fast and responsive supply chains. These constraints increase the cost to transport goods and create supply
chain inefficiencies. By enabling greater efficiency, autonomous trucks can have a significant positive impact. For these reasons, the US Department of Transportation
has stated that autonomous trucking has the potential to be meaningfully additive to US GDP over time. We believe our technology can help solve key pain points of
fleet owners by providing a consistent driver supply, the ability to offer fast and efficient transport, and fuel efficiency. In turn, we believe this creates significant
demand and willingness to pay for our product. Additionally, the design and road construction of highways is more standardized and defined across the United States
interstate highway system than are local roads, and a very significant amount of freight volume is concentrated on major highway corridors. We believe these factors
will enable rapid and broad scaling.

• Technical. The United States interstate highway system is a more structured environment than urban streets given limited access to pedestrians, bicyclists, and
crossing intersections. Moreover, moving goods avoids the complexity of solving for passenger ride comfort, as the system can be optimized to drive cautiously and,
for instance, pull over on the highway shoulder safely if the system encounters something that it has not learned to handle autonomously. One element of highway
autonomous trucking that must be considered is the increased requirements on the system’s perception capabilities, particularly as it relates to seeing at far range,
given that the vehicle may weigh up to 80,000 pounds and operate at up to 65 miles per hour. Aurora’s investment in long-range perception, including Aurora’s
proprietary FirstLight Lidar, enables us to solve this, while benefiting from the other elements that make deploying trucks on highways an advantageous initial market
entry point.

During 2024, we operated commercial trucking pilots with FedEx, Hirschbach, Schneider, Uber Freight, Volvo Autonomous Solutions, and Werner, among others,
through which we regularly and autonomously hauled loads under the supervision of vehicle operators, and also explored integrating access to Uber Freight’s digital freight
network within our autonomous trucking subscription service. We also continued our strategic collaboration with Ryder Systems, piloting on-site fleet maintenance to support
current autonomous freight pilot operations and prepare for commercial operation at scale.

We plan to initially launch Aurora Driver for Freight in Texas, which has the largest freight market in the US, a favorable business and regulatory environment, and
moderate weather. These characteristics make it an attractive market for our initial driverless launch. From there, we plan to expand to other key freight corridors, which we will
prioritize based on commercial, technical, and regulatory considerations.

Passenger Mobility

Our second core market focuses on passenger mobility, initially targeting the ride hailing space with Aurora Driver for Rides, our driverless ride hailing subscription
service.

3



Table of Contents

As it exists today, however, passenger mobility is subject to inefficiencies and responsible for notable negative impacts – roadway deaths, lost productivity, and
greenhouse gas emissions. These are all challenges that self-driving technology has the potential to help alleviate. We believe that the Aurora Driver can provide a safer
alternative to manually-driven transport, return numerous hours that would otherwise have been spent driving, and expedite the transition to electric vehicles.

We believe technological advancements in ride-hailing and lower structural costs, enabled by self-driving technology, will expand ride-hailing into more passenger
mobility use cases and drive mass adoption, further democratizing access to mobility and increasing the passenger mobility market opportunity for our self-driving technology.
We aim to improve the rider experience through the quality, cleanliness, and consistency of the Aurora Driver-powered fleet while also offering more rider control over the in-
vehicle experience (e.g. music, climate). Future vehicle platforms may be designed to support specific transportation use cases (e.g. airport trips, commutes, social rides) that
further improve the experience offered today.

We plan to launch Aurora Driver for Rides following the launch and expansion of Aurora Driver for Freight, leveraging our strategic relationships with Toyota and Uber.
As we use the same Aurora Driver hardware and software as for trucking, we will leverage capabilities already in use by our trucking product. Our ability to drive safely at high
speed will allow us to serve the significant fraction of ride-hailing trips that require high speed on interstates and highways. We expect our growth will consist of commercial
expansion within and across cities.

Local Goods Delivery

Our third core market is local goods delivery, which spans several sub-segments, including last-mile parcel and post, prepared food, grocery, and business-to-business
(“B2B”) delivery.

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the importance of local goods delivery, as well as the supply chain disruptions that can be experienced when consumer behavior
changes abruptly. We expect consumer demand for online shopping and on-demand ordering will largely remain in place following the COVID-19 pandemic and that retailers,
restaurants, and other local businesses will seek to address these preferences through expanded delivery channels. Self-driving technology can provide meaningful value in
making e-commerce and on-demand purchases more affordable for consumers and more accessible to businesses.

Relative to trucking and passenger mobility, we believe local goods delivery has more advanced technical complexity given active problem-solving related to identifying
appropriate drop-off locations and completion of the “last 50 feet” of goods delivery from vehicle to door. We expect that the Aurora Driver will be uniquely positioned to serve
this market based on reinforcing competitive advantages and technical gains from trucking and ride hailing. We expect the operating domain for local goods delivery to overlap
closely with personal mobility and commercial operations of local goods delivery to commence following personal mobility launch.

Expand global footprint

We intend for the Aurora Driver to serve people and communities around the world. Our commercial operations will start in the United States, but we expect to broaden
our footprint to include international markets where the value proposition of our technology is compelling, regulations are conducive, and roadways are comparable. This
includes, but is not limited to, Canada, Europe, Japan, Australia, and New Zealand.

Self-reinforcing effects of our business model

We believe that our operation across these three large markets leads to multiple beneficial self-reinforcing effects for our business model:

1. Higher return on development investment. By being able to recoup the significant majority of our development costs across multiple end markets, we increase the
return on our overall investment, as well as each capability we develop.

2. Economies of scale and cost reduction. The scale we generate in one market will serve to drive down our hardware cost. Because we use the same hardware stack
across vehicle types, this reduces our cost to serve each end-market in which we operate.

3. Learning and data. By having an ever-increasing Aurora-Driver powered vehicle fleet, we collect more data and driving experience to hone our system; the benefit
accrues across all markets in which we operate.

4. Reputation. Trust in our company and technology is paramount, and we expect that the trust we earn – with governments, the public, and partners – builds across the
markets in which we operate.
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Aurora’s Competitive Advantages

Industry leading team

Aurora was founded in 2017 by Chris Urmson, Sterling Anderson, and Drew Bagnell, three leaders in the self-driving space. Chris led the Google self-driving car team
and was technology director for Carnegie Mellon when it won the 2007 DARPA Urban Challenge. Sterling developed MIT’s Intelligent CoPilot, then launched Tesla’s Model
X and Autopilot, and Drew worked for two decades at the intersection of artificial intelligence, machine learning and robotics across industry and academia at Carnegie Mellon.
As of December 31, 2024, Aurora has assembled an approximately 1,800-person team, of whom approximately 1,600 focus on engineering and product. Our company consists
of world-leaders in robotics, artificial intelligence, machine learning, hardware design, software engineering, systems engineering, and safety. Aurora has over 1,800 awarded
and pending patents worldwide. In 2021, Aurora acquired and integrated Uber’s self-driving unit, strengthening our team, our technology, and our intellectual property. The
acquisition added to the breadth and depth of talent we have to deliver on our mission. We foster a high-performance and mission-driven culture which drives successful
execution, and we believe this makes us an employer of choice in our industry.

Next-generation technology

Unencumbered by legacy technology and methods, we have taken a clean sheet approach to creating a safe and scalable self-driving system. We have invested in key
areas of differentiation that we believe provide a long-term advantage, including:

• Careful integration of artificial intelligence / machine learning and engineering approaches throughout our perception and motion planning systems, combining the
strengths of modern artificial intelligence and machine learning with invariants to build the Aurora Driver that is both human-like in its behavior and trained to follow
the rules of the road;

• Virtual Testing Suite that allows for accelerated and efficient development;
• Differentiated long-range, high-resolution, multi-modal sensor suite that includes FirstLight Lidar technology, which allows numerous advantages over traditional

lidar, including the ability to unlock safe operation at highway speeds; and
• Scalable maps that are maximally relevant to the challenges of self-driving.

Common driver platform technology, scalable across vehicle types and use cases

The Aurora Driver is built on a common architecture that is designed to adapt readily to the vehicle platform it controls. This allows the Aurora Driver to learn from and
leverage its experience and capabilities across a wide range of vehicle makes and models. We invested early in our hardware suite to minimize reliance on any one vehicle
platform, allowing greater optionality in both the types of vehicles we use as well as their commercial applications.

Differentiated go-to-market strategy

Our technology enables us to first target trucking, which we believe is the optimal way to enter the market and scale self-driving technology. Because of the extensibility
of the Aurora Driver across vehicle types and use cases, we are able to take advantage of capability overlap across use cases, increased learning with scale, and cost reductions
in our self-driving system. Therefore, the capabilities and scale we develop in trucking accelerate our expansion into passenger mobility and local goods delivery, and vice
versa.

Deep strategic partnerships which support commercialization at scale

We have developed strategic partnerships with industry leaders like PACCAR, Volvo, Toyota, Uber and Continental and will work together to develop and scale Aurora
Driver-powered trucks and self-driving passenger vehicles. Our partners are industry leaders in their respective fields and we are able to leverage each of our respective
strengths as we commercialize. This allows us to scale faster and more efficiently.

Efficiency of development and operation

We believe that our approach to technological development, coupled with our Driver as a Service business model, enables us to develop and scale our technology
efficiently. This is further enhanced by our collaboration with Uber, which allows us access to proprietary anonymized data related to trip demand and economics. This data
allows us to optimize our development roadmap to invest in the highest value markets and capabilities.
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Mission-driven corporate culture

From the beginning, we have invested in building a mission-driven company based on a set of values that drive who we are and how we operate. A strong, inclusive, and
effective culture is fundamental for the long-term success of a business, and even more so when delivering a technology as complex and transformative as self-driving. We are
building an enduring company and our culture and values represent an advantage in delivering and scaling our product.

Our Product

The Aurora Driver

We are building the Aurora Driver – the hardware, software, and services to enable safe, cost-efficient, and high-uptime autonomous driving service. The Aurora Driver
is based on a common driver platform design that can integrate with vehicles of various makes, models, and classes to serve multiple commercial applications. To date, we have
successfully integrated the Aurora Driver across numerous different vehicle platforms.

The Aurora Driver is designed to deliver fully autonomous driving without the need for a human in the vehicle. This is classified as Level 4 – High Driving Automation,
with the vehicle capable of performing all driving functions under certain conditions, such as specific road types and weather. This set of conditions is referred to as the
system’s “operational design domain.” We believe that, because a human driver is no longer required inside the vehicle, this level of automation allows for step-change benefits
in both safety and efficiency and opens massive commercial opportunities.

Aurora’s custom-designed hardware suite includes full sensor coverage on three sensing modalities: lidar, radar, and camera, as well as high-performance computing to
enable rapid response time. The computer powers Aurora’s self-driving software, which plans a safe path of motion for the vehicle in order to reach its destination.

The commercial self-driving vehicles that integrate with the Aurora Driver will include redundant steering, braking, and power to promote safe vehicle operation in the
event of a component failure. We work closely with our OEM partners to develop a safe, reliable, and scalable integrated solution.
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Driver as a Service Business Model

The Aurora Driver will be delivered as a service via Aurora Driver for Freight, our driverless trucking subscription service, and Aurora Driver for Rides, our driverless
ride hailing subscription service. We intend to partner with our ecosystem of OEMs, Tier 1 automotive supplier, fleet operators, and mobility and logistics services, as well as
other third parties, to commercialize and support Aurora Driver-powered vehicles. With our business model, fleet owners will purchase Aurora Driver-powered vehicles from
our OEM partners, subscribe to the Aurora Driver, and utilize Aurora-certified fleet service partners to operate autonomous mobility and logistics services. In many instances,
the same party may play multiple roles: for example, our OEM partners will in certain cases also provide maintenance services and act as a fleet operator.

By subscribing to the Aurora Driver, our customers will be able to receive access to the following:
1. Aurora Driver hardware and software to enable safe and efficient autonomous operation of the self-driving fleet;
2. Updates to the Aurora Driver, including map and software updates;
3. Access to Aurora Services, a suite of tools and infrastructure to seamlessly integrate the Aurora Driver into their business;
4. Access to Aurora-certified third party services, including maintenance of the Aurora Driver, roadside assistance for the Aurora Driver, and insurance.

Components of the offering such as maintenance, hardware financing, and insurance, will be delivered in partnership with our third-party partner network. We believe
that this business model uniquely allows us to scale in a high margin way, and succeed as our customers succeed.

Technology

Our Technological Advantages

Since our inception, we have taken a clean sheet approach to the way we build our technology, leveraging our team’s past experience and learnings. We have made
purposeful, foundational technological investments that we believe will enable us to move towards meaningful commercialization more safely, quickly, and broadly. Examples
of this approach, across both hardware and software, include:

1. Proprietary lidar technology to unlock highway speeds;

2. Next-generation Verifiable AI approach to Perception and Planning that leverages the distinct strengths of both artificial intelligence / machine learning and
engineered approaches;

3. Common driver platform approach which allows our system to scale onto different vehicle types, such as cars and Class 8 trucks;
4. Aurora’s Virtual Testing Suite, which increases engineering velocity; and
5. Scalable approach to high-definition maps.

Proprietary Lidar technology

Aurora’s long-range, multi-modal sensing suite consists of high-resolution, high dynamic range and long-range cameras, next-generation imaging radar, and our
industry-leading proprietary FirstLight Lidar.

FirstLight alone provides a number of meaningful performance advantages over traditional lidar sensors for long-range sensing. Traditional pulsed lidar is amplitude-
modulated (“AM”), which works by emitting brief light pulses at a fixed frequency. The locations of objects are determined based on how long it takes for those laser pulses to
bounce off surfaces and return to the sensor. The challenge with AM lidar is that it has limited range, requires multiple measurements to estimate speed, and is susceptible
to lidar-to-lidar and solar interference. Aurora’s FirstLight uses frequency-modulated continuous-wave (“FMCW”) lidar technology. This has a number of key advantages,
which we believe are critical to unlocking safe operation at highway speeds:

1. Greater Range. Our lidar can see nearly twice as far as a traditional automotive lidar, because our coherent measurement enables single-photon sensitivity. The
enhanced range of our FMCW lidar enables the detection and tracking of objects and actors at the very long ranges essential for high-speed driving.

2. Simultaneous Range and Velocity. FirstLight instantaneously measures the radial velocity of the objects as well as distance. This allows quicker reaction times and
better tracking of other objects on or near the road.
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3. Interference Immunity. Each FirstLight sensor is primarily sensitive to only the signals it creates. Therefore, it benefits from immunity to interference from ambient
sunlight and to lidar-to-lidar interference, which will be important as self-driving fleets scale.

Leveraging Artificial Intelligence / Machine Learning and Engineered Approaches

Aurora’s approach to designing the Aurora Driver software leverages our team’s expertise in both artificial intelligence / machine learning and fundamental engineering.
Use of either approach for solving a problem has advantages and disadvantages, and therefore the thoughtful fusion of both is critical to creating a safe and scalable system. The
key distinctions between artificial intelligence / machine learning and engineering are that:

• Engineered systems are built by humans and tend to be simpler and more introspectable (i.e. can understand ‘why’ an action is taken).
• Artificial intelligence / machine-learned systems are tuned and developed by algorithms and trained on data. This can allow for greater nuance and complexity, and

have the additional advantage that new data can improve overall performance. However, artificial intelligence / machine-learned systems are less introspectable than
engineered systems.

Aurora’s software teams are selective in their application of each, and frequently bring both to bear on a single task in ways that utilize the independent strengths of each
to create a higher-performance system. We call this approach Verifiable AI.

An example of this is the Planning system. As the Aurora Driver operates, it uses an engineered approach to maintain appropriate safety buffers—an example is
maintaining sufficiently safe following distance, such that the Aurora Driver can stop safely even if the car in front of it brakes aggressively. Using this engineered approach
permits strong safety guarantees. However, a system built around such guarantees alone would not drive in a human-like fashion, and may act in such a way that other road
users would find it unpredictable. Therefore, we also employ an artificial intelligence / machine-learned approach where the system learns from exemplary human drivers how
to naturally behave during many commonplace interactions, such as merging onto a highway—subject to the buffers defined by the engineered system. Interleaving these two
methods allows for the creation of verifiably safe, and natural, driving behavior.

Common Driver Platform Approach

The Aurora Driver has been designed from the ground up to support multiple automakers and commercial applications with the same core hardware and software. We
invested early in a hardware suite that is consistent across vehicle platforms, and software that adapts to the unique behaviors, constraints, and dynamics of whatever vehicle it
controls—whether that be a Class 8 tractor or light passenger vehicle.

The Aurora Driver uses the same hardware suite across trucks and passenger vehicles. Because all Aurora-Driver powered vehicles carry a common core of self-driving
hardware and software, Aurora and its partners benefit from the collective scale of all participants on the platform.

Significant Investments in Virtual Development

Our Virtual Testing Suite is a major engineering accelerator. Virtual testing refers to any time that our system is being tested in response to synthetic or historical data as
opposed to operating in real-time on the road. Aurora incorporates frequent and extensive use of virtual testing.

There are numerous benefits to virtual testing:
• Efficiency. Aurora’s motion planning simulation is 2,500 times less expensive than on-road testing.
• Speed. Aurora’s Virtual Testing Suite can scale to continuously simulate the equivalent of over 50,000 trucks on the road. This figure will grow both as a result of

increased technological innovation inside Aurora, as well as from expanding scale available from leading cloud computing providers.
• Safety. Aurora’s Virtual Testing Suite dramatically reduces the number of on-road miles of driving needed to develop the Aurora Driver, which reduces exposure to

risk associated with on-road testing.
• Variation. Aurora’s Virtual Testing Suite can automatically alter details to create myriad permutations from a single scenario encountered on the road, and even

simulate scenarios we have not previously encountered on the road. We can adjust factors like weather, traffic density, or pedestrian behavior. We can quickly test
against many thousands of likely variations to understand how the system would have responded.
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• Repeatability. As our sensor stack evolves, our Virtual Testing Suite remains relevant, whereas past real-world data collected on an out-of-date sensor stack becomes
obsolete. We believe this is unique to Aurora due to our industry-leading expertise in sensor data simulation and systemically generating new scenarios.

Aurora has invested significantly in virtual testing at a time when much of the self-driving industry was focused on real world mileage accumulation. We believe that as
the industry reaches the long tail of development, these investments will increasingly accelerate our path to market and scale relative to competitors.

Scalable Approach to High-definition Mapping

Aurora’s approach to mapping aims to optimize for two factors: first, a map that is maximally relevant to the challenges of self-driving; and second, a map that can be
maintained at scale.

The Aurora Atlas is a map purpose-designed for these goals. It is broken into smaller maps that cover sub-areas, which are referred to as shards. Many classic maps have
not been built for self-driving and thus prioritize global positioning accuracy at a substantial detriment to local accuracy. Aurora’s map shards, however, prioritize being locally
accurate, as it is far more important that the Aurora Driver knows the location of nearby actors and objects as accurately as possible rather than where it is in some global sense.
We do this without sacrificing any meaningful amount of the Aurora Driver’s broader context about where it is in the world or along a route.

The sharded, locally consistent approach to the Aurora Atlas enables scalability. Rebuilding the content of a shard takes minutes, whereas for classic maps, these areas
can be the size of an entire city and take far longer to adjust. Swapping out a shard in a live deployed map is possible to do rapidly over-the-air, whereas deploying an entirely
new map for a city requires a lengthy process. Finally, as the Aurora Driver begins to operate in new areas, the increase in mapped content will not alter existing content or
require any editing/re-release of past maps, which a non-sharded approach would require; this keeps existing operational support much simpler even under a rapid expansion
plan.

Our Culture

Aurora’s values guide our work and culture and support our ability to deliver our mission. They set the tone for the way we operate, they define who we are and how we
do things, and they guide us when we face difficult situations. Our values are:

1. Focus for Impact. We create space to solve problems that matter. We don’t have time for distractions, so we work with urgency and focus on the work that will
accelerate our progress towards our mission and strengthen our company.

2. Operate with Integrity. We do the right thing. We are thoughtful and use good judgment. And, we always keep the best interest of our people and our mission at the
forefront of how we work.

3. Celebrate our Diversity. Inviting and including diverse perspectives and experiences make us stronger as a team, and help us better represent the world we live in.
We are building a technology and a company to serve all people and all communities.

4. Rise to the Occasion. We’re charting a path that is challenging yet filled with an incredible opportunity to impact generations to come. This is not an easy task, it
takes resilience, hard work and dedication. Embracing the hard stuff energizes and inspires us to continue. We rally to deliver on our commitments to our partners and
each other.

5. Win together. We are a stronger team when we elevate our unique strengths in service of our common goals. We thrive on open and honest communication to create
an environment of mutual accountability, understanding, achievement, and respect.

6. No jerks. We work from the assumption that people are good, fair, and honest and that the intention behind their actions is positive. We are intentional in how we
communicate and interact, and we hold each other accountable.

Competition

Our main sources of competition fall into two categories:
• Technology-focused companies building technical capabilities for self-driving applications
• Automotive players building internal self-driving development programs

The principal competitive success factors in our market, in no particular order, include, but are not limited to:
• Technology quality, reliability, and safety
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• Engineering capabilities
• Business model and go-to-market approach
• Commercial partnerships
• Cost and efficiency
• Patents and intellectual property portfolio

Because of the depth and breadth of our talent, fully integrated self-driving stack, differentiated go-to-market approach, and unique partnerships that drive
commercialization at scale, we believe that we are able to compete favorably across these factors.

Intellectual Property

Our success and competitive advantage depend in part upon our ability to develop and protect our core technology and intellectual property. We own a portfolio of
intellectual property, including patents and registered trademarks, confidential technical information, and expertise in the development of software and hardware for autonomous
vehicles and lidar technology.

We have filed patent and trademark applications in order to further secure these rights and strengthen our ability to defend against third parties who may infringe on our
rights. We also rely on trade secrets, design and manufacturing know-how, continuing technological innovations, and licensing and exclusivity opportunities to maintain and
improve our competitive position. Additionally, we protect our proprietary rights through agreements with our commercial partners, supply-chain vendors, employees, and
consultants, as well as close monitoring of the developments and products in the industry.

As of December 31, 2024, we owned over 1,800 patents and pending applications, including U.S. and foreign. In addition, we have 5 registered U.S. trademarks, 37
registered foreign trademarks and 5 pending trademark applications. Our patents and patent applications cover a broad range of technology relevant to self-driving vehicles.

Partnerships

PACCAR Strategic Partnership

In January 2021, we entered into a global strategic partnership with PACCAR in preparation for the launch of the Aurora Driver’s first application in trucking. This
partnership combines PACCAR’s considerable expertise in heavy-duty truck development, manufacturing, and sales with our deep understanding of autonomous vehicle
technology to bring a safe, efficient self-driving product to market quickly and deploy it broadly. This partnership brings PACCAR and Aurora engineering teams together
around an accelerated development program to create truly driverless-capable trucks, starting with the Peterbilt 579 and Kenworth T680. PACCAR and Aurora plan to develop a
suite of self-driving fleet services, including servicing and maintenance options for the deployment and operation of these trucks at scale over the next several years.

Uber Strategic Partnership

In January 2021, we acquired Uber’s self-driving unit. This acquisition expanded our talent base significantly, and we gained valuable research and technical assets that
strengthened and accelerated the first Aurora Driver application for heavy-duty trucks while allowing us to continue and accelerate our work on light-vehicle products.

In addition to acquiring Uber’s self-driving unit, we announced a strategic partnership with Uber that connects our technology to the world’s leading ride-hailing
platform and strengthens our position to deliver the Aurora Driver broadly. In support of our partnership with Uber, and concurrent with the acquisition of Uber’s self-driving
unit, Uber invested $400 million in Aurora and Uber Chief Executive Officer Dara Khosrowshahi is a member of our board of directors.

As part of our partnership with Uber, we receive access to Uber data. This allows more efficient development and operation, as we are able to refine our market selection
and prioritize our capability roadmap based on real-world data.

Toyota Strategic Collaboration

In February 2021, we announced a long-term, global, and strategic collaboration with Toyota and DENSO, one of the largest global automotive manufacturers and tier-
one automotive suppliers, respectively, to build and globally deploy self-driving cars at scale.
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As part of this collaboration, our engineering teams are jointly developing and testing driverless-capable vehicles equipped with the Aurora Driver, starting with the
Toyota Sienna. As part of this long-term effort, we will be exploring mass production of key autonomous driving components with DENSO and a comprehensive services
solution with Toyota for when these vehicles are deployed at scale, including financing, insurance, maintenance, and more. These efforts will lay the foundation for the mass-
production, launch, and support of these vehicles with Toyota on ride-hailing networks, including Uber’s.

Volvo Group Strategic Partnership

In March 2021, Volvo selected us as its technology provider to develop and jointly commercialize Level 4 Class 8 trucks in North America. These trucks will combine
the best of Volvo’s technology with the Aurora Driver into a compelling and scalable logistics platform.

As Volvo’s official technology partner for US hub-to-hub solutions, the parties continue to develop an unprecedented autonomous offering with one of the most trusted
commercial truck manufacturers in the world. This partnership will be the center of the integration of the Aurora Driver into Volvo’s on-highway trucks and development of
industry-leading Transportation as a Service solutions.

Continental Strategic Partnership

    In April 2023, we entered into an exclusive partnership with Continental to deliver the first commercially scalable future generation of the Aurora Driver.

As part of this partnership, we work with Continental to jointly design, develop, validate, deliver, and service the scalable autonomous system for the industry. We will
leverage Continental’s decades of experience in systems development for safer, more reliable automotive solutions to industrialize the Aurora Driver and deliver the entire
hardware required. Additionally, Continental will manage the complete lifecycle of the supplied autonomous hardware kits for the Aurora Driver, from the manufacturing line
to decommissioning. Continental will also develop a new industrialized fallback system as one of the redundancies in the event of a failure in the primary system of the Aurora
Driver. Under the “Hardware-as-a-Service” business model, Aurora will pay for the hardware and related services on a per mile basis.

We believe this long-term partnership is a crucial step to commercialize autonomous trucks at scale and achieve our profitability objectives.

Government Regulation

At both the federal and state level, the U.S. provides a positive regulatory environment to permit safe testing and development of autonomous vehicle functionality.
Aurora’s Government Relations team regularly engages with our partners in government to further develop the relationships and regulations necessary to successfully deploy
our technology.

Aurora has developed bipartisan support of self-driving technology in both chambers of the U.S. Congress as well as the U.S. Department of Transportation and its
agencies. At Aurora, we work with the federal government to ensure it maintains its regulatory authority over the design, construction, and performance of motor vehicles, as
well as over the safety of commercial motor vehicles operating interstate commerce, and applies that same authority to the regulation of autonomous vehicles.

As vehicles equipped with the Aurora Driver are deployed on public roads, we will be subject to legal and regulatory authorities such as the National Highway Traffic
Safety Administration (NHTSA), the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA), state agencies like Departments of Transportation or Departments of Motor
Vehicles, and local transportation departments. As the development of federal and state legal frameworks around autonomous vehicles continue to evolve, we may be subject to
additional regulatory schemes. We do not anticipate any near-term federal vehicle standards that would impede the foreseeable deployments of our technology. U.S. federal
regulations are largely permissive of deployments of higher levels of safe and responsible autonomous functionality.

States, such as Arizona, Florida, New Mexico, Nevada, Pennsylvania, and Texas, continue to attract self-driving companies with a welcoming regulatory climate that
provides the predictability necessary to deploy our technology in those communities. Some states, however, institute operational requirements or restrictions for certain
autonomous functions. We believe such hurdles will be removed in the future as we work with our government partners to highlight the benefits of self-driving technology. For
example, while California regulation currently only permits the testing and deployment of autonomous light-duty vehicles, in August 2024, state regulators requested informal
public input on draft regulatory language for the testing and deployment of autonomous trucks.
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We work closely with state and local elected officials and regulatory bodies to ensure they continue to welcome the testing and deployment of self-driving vehicles on
their roads. By working with these officials to develop technology neutral policies that promote a diverse set of autonomous vehicle use cases and create a level playing field
for the industry, we believe that Aurora will be able deliver the benefits of self-driving technology safely, quickly, and broadly.

Similar reporting and regulatory requirements exist or are being developed in foreign markets. For example, markets such as the EU also continue to develop their
respective standards to define deployment requirements for higher levels of autonomy. Germany and the United Kingdom have both approved legislation that would allow for
the deployment of self-driving technology without a human driver. Given the intense work in these areas, we expect several foreign markets to provide a workable path forward
for autonomous vehicle operations in their respective jurisdictions in the near-term.

Similarly, as a company deploying cutting-edge technology with international partners, we are also subject to trade, customs product classification and sourcing
regulations. Finally, our operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the occupational health and safety of our employees and wage
regulations. We are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended, and comparable state laws that protect and regulate employee
health and safety.

Like all companies operating in similar industries, we are subject to environmental regulation, including water use; air emissions; use of recycled materials; energy
sources; the storage, handling, treatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials; and the remediation of environmental contamination. Compliance with these rules
may include permits, licenses and inspections of our facilities and products.

Corporate Social Responsibility and Sustainability

Achieving our mission—delivering the benefits of self-driving technology safely, quickly, and broadly—is how we aim to make a positive impact in communities. We
strive to revolutionize transportation by making roads safer, helping goods to more efficiently reach those who need them, reducing greenhouse gas emissions, providing better
services for people who currently have difficulty accessing transportation, and freeing up time during commutes.

Aurora remains deeply committed to the communities in which we have a presence - partnering with educational institutions and community based organizations to
educate on the benefits of self-driving technology - investing in programs that address community workforce needs while strengthening the pipeline of diverse talent to fuel key
business needs. In December 2024, we announced the opening of our new 78,000 square-foot office and testing facility located on Montana State University’s Innovation
Campus in Bozeman, Montana, which builds upon the university’s 30-year history of producing industry-leading photonics engineers and innovations. Aurora has also been
working extensively with the Gallatin College Laser and Photonics Program in a partnership aimed at helping train and place the next generation of highly-trained technicians in
the field of optics, laser, and photonics. Additionally, throughout 2024, Aurora supported a community engagement roadshow along our commercial launch lane in Texas,
engaging students and other stakeholders on autonomous trucking technology, careers, and the future.

Diversity and Inclusion

We are committed to diversity and inclusion. One of our core values — Celebrate our Diversity — is based on bringing together diverse backgrounds and perspectives.
We celebrate the diversity of the people, experiences, and backgrounds that make up Aurora, and we encourage each other to speak up and share perspectives, respectfully and
thoughtfully. We are building technology that will benefit all people and all communities, so we strive to foster and embrace diversity throughout our business and our teams to
bring us closer to those we serve.

Sustainability

Fostering a sustainable environment is also important to us. Starting in 2019, we offset our estimated annual carbon emissions from our facilities, vehicles and air travel
by purchasing carbon credits through 2021, and we expect to continue to do this in the future when we generate operating profit. Longer-term, we believe commercialization of
our self-driving technology will contribute to a more sustainable future given the potential to materially reduce fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions. We believe that
autonomous trucks have the potential to materially reduce fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions meaningfully through eco-driving, off-peak deployment, and
capping peak speeds.
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Human Capital

As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately 1,800 employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we consider our employee relations to
be in good standing. To date, we have not experienced any work stoppages.

We have built a company culture which is anchored in our values: operating with integrity, focusing for impact, no jerks, celebrating our diversity, rising to the occasion,
and winning together. We reinforce our values by aligning our work to company objectives and key results and by providing meaningful and challenging growth opportunities
for our employees. We offer a variety of people-focused initiatives, including learning and development, transparent career paths, and a focus on diversity, equity, and inclusion.
We offer opportunities for meaningful and fun connections through company events and team-building activities. We celebrate our employees’ achievements through company-
wide recognition programs. Alongside these programs, we offer a competitive total rewards package including industry-benchmarked base salaries and a performance-based
bonus plan, equity ownership, generous time off, paid parental leave, a 401(k) plan to help our employees plan for the future, and a wide selection of health and wellness
benefits plans for employees and their dependents. We also proactively gather employee feedback through various channels, including surveys and focus groups to ensure
changes to our employee experience are meaningful and relevant.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at 1654 Smallman St, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222.

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock and the warrant agent for our warrants is Equiniti Trust Company, LLC. The transfer agent’s address is 48 Wall
Street, Floor 23, New York, NY 10005, and its telephone number is (800) 937-5449.

Available Information

Our website address is www.aurora.tech. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, and you should not consider information on our website to be part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports
on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the
Exchange Act, are filed with the SEC. Such reports and other information filed by us with the SEC are available free of charge on our website at ir.aurora.tech when such reports
are available on the SEC’s website. The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The information contained on the websites referenced in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by reference into
this filing. Further, our references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Channels of Distribution

We announce material information to the public through filings with the SEC, the investor relations page on our website, our X account (@aurora_inno), our LinkedIn
account, press releases, public conference calls, and webcasts in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of information to the public and for complying with our
disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. We encourage investors, the media, and others to follow the channels listed above and to review the information disclosed through
such channels. Any updates to the list of disclosure channels through which we will announce information will be posted on the investor relations page on our website.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risks, together with all of the other information contained in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, before making an investment decision. Our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially and adversely
affected by any of these risks or uncertainties, as well as by risks or uncertainties not currently known to us, or that we do not currently believe are material. In that case, the
trading price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to
the “Company,” “Aurora,” “we,” “us,” or “our” refer to the business of Aurora Innovation Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Merger, and
to Aurora Innovation, Inc. and its subsidiaries after the completion of the Merger.
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The following summary risk factors and other information included in this Annual Report should be carefully considered. The summary risks and uncertainties described
below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem less significant may also affect our business
operations or financial results. If any of the following risks actually occur, our stock price, business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely
affected. For more information, see below for more detailed descriptions of each risk factor.

• Self-driving technology is an emerging technology, and we face significant technical challenges to commercialize our technology.

• We have incurred net losses since our inception, and we expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses for the foreseeable future.

• Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter.

• It is possible that our technology will have more limited performance or technology development and commercialization may take us longer to complete than is
currently projected.

• Our progress and performance metrics are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics and metrics and values that
are below expectations could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results.

• We operate in a highly competitive market and some market participants have substantially greater resources. If one or more of our competitors broadly
commercialize their self-driving technology before we do, develop superior technology, or are perceived to have better technology, our business prospects and
financial performance would be adversely affected.

• Our services and technology may not be accepted and adopted by the market at the pace we expect or at all.

• We may require significantly more capital investment to run our business than previously expected.

• It is possible that Aurora’s self-driving unit economics do not materialize as expected.

• We are highly dependent on the services of our senior management team, without which we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.

• Our future capital needs may require us to sell additional equity or debt securities that may dilute our stockholders.

• We may experience difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations.

• Our operating and financial results projections that were previously provided rely in large part upon assumptions and analyses developed by us. If these assumptions or
analyses prove to be incorrect, our actual results of operations may be materially different from our projections and our estimates of certain financial metrics may
prove inaccurate.

• We could fail to successfully select, execute or integrate past and future acquisitions.

• Interruption or failure of Amazon Web Services or other information technology and communications systems that we rely upon could materially and adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• We are subject to cybersecurity risks to operational systems, security systems, infrastructure, integrated software and partners’ and end-customers’ data processed by
us or third-party vendors or suppliers.

• Unauthorized control or manipulation of systems in autonomous vehicles may cause them to operate improperly or not at all, or compromise their safety and data
security.

• Failures, or perceived failures, to comply with privacy, data protection, and cybersecurity requirements in the variety of jurisdictions in which we operate, or may
operate, may adversely impact our business.

• Issues relating to our use of artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies, combined with an uncertain legal and regulatory environment, could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Our future insurance coverage may not be adequate to protect us from all business risks or may be prohibitively expensive.
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• Our financial instruments, including warrants, are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in value of our warrants could have a material effect on our financial
results.

• If we are unable to develop and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results
in a timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating results.

• Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates, adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income, changes in tax laws or regulations, changes in our ability to
utilize our net operating loss, or other tax-related changes could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

• Our success is contingent on our ability to successfully maintain, manage, execute and expand on our existing partnerships and obtain new partnerships.

• We are dependent on our suppliers, some of which are single or limited source suppliers (including one partner for the production, provision, and full lifecycle support
of the future generation of our Aurora Driver hardware system), and these suppliers may not produce and deliver necessary and industrialized components at prices
and volumes and on terms acceptable to us.

• Burdensome regulations, inconsistent regulations, or a failure to receive regulatory approvals or exemptions for our technology could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operation.

• We may become involved in legal and regulatory proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes.

• We may be subject to product liability that could result in significant direct or indirect costs.

• We may not be able to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights, in which case our business and competitive position could be harmed.

• We may need to defend ourselves against intellectual property rights infringement claims, which may be time-consuming and could cause us to incur substantial costs.

• We could lose the ability to use certain intellectual property rights and technology or materials that we rely upon if the underlying license agreements are terminated or
not renewed.

• Our software contains third-party open-source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open-source software licenses could
restrict our ability to sell our products or give rise to disclosure obligations of proprietary software.

• The market price of our common stock may be volatile and could decline significantly.

• Our dual class structure has the effect of concentrating voting power with our founders, which limits an investor’s ability to influence the outcome of important
transactions, including a change in control.
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Risks Related to Our Technology, Business Model and Industry

Self-driving technology is an emerging technology, and we face significant technical challenges to commercialize our technology. If we cannot successfully overcome those
challenges or do so on a timely basis, our ability to grow our business will be negatively impacted.

Solving self-driving is one of the most difficult engineering challenges of our generation. The industry can be characterized by a significant number of technical and
commercial challenges, including an expectation for better-than-a-human driving performance, large funding requirements, long vehicle development lead times, specialized
skills and expertise requirements of personnel, inconsistent and evolving regulatory frameworks, a need to build public trust and brand image, and real world operation of an
entirely new technology. If we are not able to overcome these challenges, our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations will be negatively impacted and
our ability to create a viable business may not materialize at all.

Although we believe that our self-driving systems and supporting technology are promising, we cannot assure you that our technology will succeed commercially. The
successful development of our self-driving systems and related technology involves many challenges and uncertainties, including:

• achieving sufficiently safe self-driving system performance as determined by us, government and regulatory agencies, our partners, customers, and the general public;

• finalizing self-driving system design, specification, and vehicle integration;

• successfully completing system testing, validation, and safety approvals;

• obtaining additional approvals, licenses or certifications from regulatory agencies, if required, and maintaining current approvals, licenses or certifications;

• receiving performance by third parties that supports our R&D and commercial activities;

• preserving core intellectual property rights, while obtaining intellectual property rights, technology or materials from third parties that may be critical to our R&D
activities; and

• continuing to fund and maintain our current technology development activities.

We have incurred net losses since our inception, and we expect to incur significant expenses and continuing losses for the foreseeable future.

We have incurred net losses on an annual basis since our inception. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we incurred net losses of $748
million and $796 million, respectively. We believe that we will continue to incur operating and net losses each quarter until at least the time we begin to scale the driverless
commercial operation of our self-driving technology, which may take longer than we currently expect or may never occur. Even if we successfully develop and sell our self-
driving solutions, there can be no assurance that they will be commercially successful. We expect the rate at which we will incur losses to be substantially higher in future
periods as we continue to scale our development and commercialize products. Because we will incur the costs and expenses from these efforts before we receive incremental
revenues with respect thereto, our losses in future periods will be significant. In addition, we may find that these efforts are more expensive than we currently anticipate or that
these efforts may not result in revenues, which would further increase our losses.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter.

We began operations in 2017 and have been focused on developing self-driving technology ever since. This relatively limited operating history makes it difficult to
evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter. Risks and challenges we have faced or expect to face include our ability to:

• design, develop, test, and validate our self-driving technology for commercial applications;

• produce and deliver our technology at an acceptable level of safety and performance;

• properly price our products and services;

• plan for and manage capital expenditures for our current and future products;

• hire, integrate and retain talented people at all levels of our organization;

16



Table of Contents

• forecast our revenue, budget for and manage our expenses;

• attract new partners and customers and retain existing partners and customers;

• navigate an evolving and complex regulatory environment;

• manage our supply chain and supplier relationships related to our current and future products;

• anticipate and respond to macroeconomic changes and changes in the markets in which we operate;

• maintain and enhance the value of our reputation and brand;

• effectively manage our growth and business operations, including the impacts of unforeseen market changes on our business;

• develop and protect intellectual property rights; and

• successfully develop new solutions, features, and applications to enhance the experience of partners and end-customers.

If we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above, as well as those described elsewhere in this “Risk
Factors” section, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Further, because we have limited historical financial data and operate in
a rapidly evolving market, any predictions about our future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if we had a longer operating history or operated in a
more predictable market. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in the future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with limited
operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which we use to plan and operate our business, are incorrect or
change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations could differ materially from our expectations and our business, financial condition and results
of operations could be adversely affected.

It is possible that our technology will have more limited performance or technology development and commercialization may take us longer to complete than is currently
projected. This would adversely impact our addressable markets, commercial competitiveness, and business prospects.

Our products and self-driving system are technical and complex, and commercial application requires that we meet very high standards for technology performance and
system safety. We may be unable to timely release new products that meet our intended commercial use cases, and we may therefore experience more limited monetization of
our technology. These risks are particularly relevant for factors such as our self-driving system’s operational domain (i.e., the conditions under which our system is designed to
operate), which includes variables such as traversable road networks, speeds, and weather patterns. It is possible that there may be additional limitations in our operating
capabilities that are dependent upon a number of factors, including, for example, vehicle type (e.g., car, truck) and actor density (e.g., pedestrians, cyclists). If that is the case,
we may be more restricted in our addressable market opportunities.

Commercial deployment has taken longer in the self-driving industry than anticipated, and it may take us more time to complete our own technology development and
commercialization than is currently projected. The achievement of broadly applicable self-driving technology will require further technology improvements including, for
example, handling non-compliant or unexpected actor behavior and inclement weather conditions. These improvements may take us longer than expected which would increase
our capital requirements for technology development, delay our timeline to commercialization, and reduce the potential financial returns that may be expected from the
business.
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We publicly disclose certain progress and performance metrics, including the Autonomy Readiness Measure and the Autonomy Performance Indicator. These metrics are
subject to inherent challenges in measurement; real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics and metrics values that are below expectations could materially and
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We publicly disclose a measure of our progress toward the commercial launch of Aurora Driver for Freight (the “Autonomy Readiness Measure”). The Autonomy
Readiness Measure is the weighted function of completeness of our Safety Case (which is an internally-derived, claims-based approach that provides a generalized structured
argument to addressing safety items implicated by developing and operating self-driving technology on public roads). There are inherent challenges in calculating the Autonomy
Readiness Measure, including the fact that management judgment is used when applying weighting to individual pieces of evidence that support the claims that we are making
in our Safety Case (e.g., based on complexity, effort required to complete, scope of the Company’s commercial launch route, etc.) as well as when evaluating the percentage
complete of a particular piece of evidence. If individual pieces of evidence supporting the claims of our Safety Case turn out to be more complex, more challenging to complete,
insufficiently comprehensive or conclusive, or more time or capital intensive than we originally anticipated, adjustments will be required to be made to our calculations of the
Autonomy Readiness Measure. If our Autonomy Readiness Measure is not an accurate representation of our progress toward commercial launch, or if investors perceive this
measure not to be accurate, or if we discover material inaccuracies in the Safety Case or our calculations of the Autonomy Readiness Measure, our reputation may be
significantly harmed, the timing of commercial launch of Aurora Driver for Freight could be delayed, and our stock price could decline, any of which could materially and
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

    We also publicly disclose supplemental information regarding the on-road performance of the Aurora Driver (the “Autonomy Performance Indicator”). There are inherent
challenges in calculating this metric. For example, one of the components of this indicator is commercially representative miles driven where the vehicle received human
assistance via a vehicle operator intervention or other on-site support, but where it is determined, through internal analysis including simulation, that the support received was
not required by the Aurora Driver. There is management judgment involved in using internal analysis to determine whether or not such human assistance was necessary, and
third parties may reasonably disagree with positions taken by the Company on such determinations. Further, it is possible that we could conclude that human assistance was not
necessary even where the Aurora Driver did not perform correctly and/or in a way that we intended. Additionally, we do not expect the Autonomy Performance Indicator to
increase linearly as we approach commercial launch, nor do we anticipate that this indicator will be 100% even at launch, because certain situations (e.g., flat tires) will always
require on-site support. If the Autonomy Performance Indicator is not a sufficient or accurate representation of the Aurora Driver’s on-road performance, if investors do not
perceive it to be accurate, or it does not convey the level of performance anticipated, our reputation may be significantly harmed, our stock price could decline, and any of
which could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our internal systems and tools have a number of limitations, and our methodologies for tracking the Autonomy Readiness Measure and the Autonomy
Performance Indicator may change over time, which could result in unanticipated changes to the metrics or estimates that we publicly disclose. If the internal systems and tools
we use to track these metrics are not an accurate indicator of our performance or contain other technical errors, the data we report may not be accurate. While these numbers are
based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates of our metrics for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring our progress toward
commercial launch.

We operate in a highly competitive market and some market participants have substantially greater resources. If one or more of our competitors broadly commercialize
their self-driving technology before we do, develop superior technology, or are perceived to have better technology, our business prospects and financial performance
would be adversely affected.

The market for self-driving technology is highly competitive and can be easily influenced by rapid technological change. Our future success will depend on our ability to
develop and commercialize in a sufficiently timely manner in order to maintain competitiveness. Several companies, including, but not limited to, Waymo, Tesla,
Zoox/Amazon, Motional, Torc Robotics, Kodiak Robotics, Stack AV and Intel Mobileye are investing heavily in building this technology. These companies compete with us
directly by offering self-driving technology for the same or similar use cases. If our competitors, including those previously mentioned, broadly commercialize their technology
before we do, develop superior technology, or are perceived to have better technology, they may capture market opportunities and establish relationships with customers and
partners that might otherwise have been available to us.
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Material commercialization of self-driving technology first involves pilot deployments, which we and other competitors are currently performing. Competitors may
initiate similar deployments in various different use cases and/or geographies earlier than we will or may perform better than we do in such deployments. Several of these
competitors have substantially greater financial, marketing, R&D, and other resources. In the event that one or many of these competitors broadly commercializes their
technology before we do, our business prospects and financial performance would be adversely impacted.

Our services and technology may not be accepted and adopted by the market at the pace we expect or at all.

Self-driving technology is still nascent and is neither generally understood nor universally accepted. We are at risk of adverse publicity that stems from any public
incident involving self-driving vehicles (whether involving Aurora or a competitor), which could result in decreased end-customer demand for our technology. Part of our
commercialization plan includes public awareness and education campaigns, but this guarantees neither public nor customer acceptance of our services. If we cannot gain
sufficient trust in our technology, we will be unable to commercialize as intended. We may also experience adverse publicity that argues self-driving technology is replacing
human jobs and disrupting the economy. Such media attention could cause current and future partners to terminate their business with us, which would significantly impact our
ability to make future sales.

Further, as the market for self-driving cars develops, the differences in the approaches of Aurora and others will become more widely known to suppliers, insurers,
regulators and others. Until these distinctions are known and appreciated, the actions of a single market participant may be imputed to the self-driving industry as a whole. As
such, as a result of an action or inaction by a third-party, it is possible that suppliers, insurers, regulators and others may refuse or cease to interact with or conduct business with
the self-driving industry as a whole, including Aurora.

If the market does not accept and adopt our services and technology at the pace we expect or at all, it could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations.

We expect that our business model will become less capital intensive as we transition our business to our Driver as a Service model and if that transition is delayed or does
not occur, we will require significant additional capital investment to run our business.

Our business plan envisions a two-phase process for ownership and operation of Aurora Driver-powered self-driving vehicles. Early in our commercialization, we intend
to own or lease and operate a limited fleet and will invest in self-driving system hardware, base vehicles, and commercial facilities (such as freight terminals). We believe this
firsthand experience will help us to harden our operational processes, service level agreements, and enable a more effective transition to working with external partners on
operational activities. After this initial period of Aurora ownership and operation, we expect to transition to a Driver as a Service business model. Under this model, one or more
third-party partners would own and operate Aurora Driver-powered vehicles and would also manage activities such as financing, maintenance, cleaning, and fleet facilities.

Since it is more capital-intensive for us to own or lease and operate our own fleet of vehicles, any delay in the transition to the Driver as a Service model will require
additional investments of capital and could mean we may not be able to reach scale as quickly as we have previously anticipated. In addition, it is possible that we may be
required to fund and operate commercial facilities as part of our product offering, as opposed to partnering with third parties. Although we believe, based on partner discussions,
that such a transition will be possible in our intended timeframes, there is no guarantee that third parties will be able or willing to own and operate Aurora Driver-powered
vehicles as soon or ramp as quickly as expected at desirable commercial terms. Similarly, we expect to partner with other third parties who will own and operate terminal
facilities, but we may determine that we will need to own or operate more of these facilities ourselves. Such difficulties could have adverse impacts on our business, prospects,
financial condition, and growth potential. As such, this model may present unpredictable challenges associated with third-party dependency which could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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It is possible that Aurora’s self-driving unit economics do not materialize as expected, in particular as we transition to our Driver as a Service model. This could
significantly hinder our ability to generate a commercially viable product and adversely affect our business prospects.

Our business model is premised on our future expectations and assumptions regarding unit economics of the Aurora Driver and our transition, including the timing
thereof, to our Driver as a Service model. There are uncertainties in these assumptions and we may not be able to achieve the unit economics we expect for many reasons,
including but not limited to:

• costs of the self-driving system hardware;

• other fixed and variable costs associated with self-driving vehicle operation;

• useful life;

• vehicle utilization; and

• product pricing.

To manage self-driving hardware costs, we must engineer cost-effective designs for our sensors, computers, and vehicles, achieve adequate scale, and freeze hardware
specifications while enabling continued software improvements. In addition, we must continuously push initiatives to optimize supporting cost components such as vehicle and
self-driving system maintenance, cloud storage, telecom data feed, facilities, cleaning, operations personnel costs, and useful life. This will require significant coordination with
our third-party fleet partners and adequate cost management may not materialize as expected or at all, which would have material adverse effects on our business prospects.

Self-driving technology is a new product and the appropriate price points and pricing models are still being determined. Additionally, increased competition may result in
pricing pressure and reduced margins and may impede our ability to increase the revenue of our technology or cause us to lose market share, any of which could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Unfavorable changes in any of these or other unit economics-related factors, many of which are
beyond our control, could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We are highly dependent on the services of our senior management team and, specifically, our Chief Executive Officer, and if we are not successful in retaining our senior
management team and, in particular, our Chief Executive Officer, and in attracting or retaining other highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully
implement our business strategy.

Our success depends, in significant part, on the continued services of our senior management team, which has extensive experience in the self-driving industry. The loss
of any one or more members of our senior management team, for any reason, including resignation or retirement, could impair our ability to execute our business strategy and
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular, we are highly dependent on Chris Urmson, our Founder and Chief
Executive Officer, who remains deeply involved in all aspects of our business, including product development. If Mr. Urmson ceased to be involved with Aurora, this would
adversely affect our business because his departure could make it more difficult to, among other things, compete with other market participants, manage our R&D activities and
retain existing partners or cultivate new ones. Negative public perception of, or negative news related to, Mr. Urmson may adversely affect our brand, relationship with partners
or standing in the industry.

Our success similarly hinges on the ability to attract, motivate, develop and retain a sufficient number of other highly skilled personnel, including software, hardware,
systems engineering, automotive, safety, operations, design, finance, marketing, and support personnel. Competition for qualified highly skilled personnel can be strong, and we
can provide no assurance that we will be successful in attracting or retaining such personnel now or in the future. Employees may be more likely to leave us if the shares of our
capital stock they own or the shares of our capital stock underlying their equity incentive awards have significantly reduced in value or the vested shares of our capital stock
they own or vested shares of our capital stock underlying their equity incentive awards have significantly appreciated. The significant reduction in the value of our common
stock may require us to grant additional or larger individual equity incentive awards in order to prevent employee departures and to attract new personnel. The issuance of
additional shares upon settlement or exercise of those awards would result in dilution to the holders of our common stock and increase the number of shares eligible for resale
in the public market, and may have a negative impact on our stock price.
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Many of our employees may receive significant proceeds from sales of our equity in the public markets once their applicable vesting restrictions are satisfied, which may
reduce their motivation to continue to work for us. Further, any inability to recruit, develop and retain qualified employees may result in high employee turnover and may force
us to pay significantly higher wages, which may harm our profitability.

Additionally, we do not carry key person insurance for any of our management executives, and the loss of any key employee or our inability to recruit, develop and retain
these individuals as needed, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business Operations

Our business plans require a significant amount of capital. In addition, our future capital needs may require us to sell additional equity or debt securities that may dilute
our stockholders.

The fact that we have a limited operating history means we have limited historical data on the demand for our products and services. As a result, our future capital
requirements are uncertain and actual capital requirements may be different from those we currently anticipate. We expect to continue investing in research and development to
improve our self-driving technology. Beyond the net proceeds raised in the 2024 Public Offering (as defined below), we expect we will need to seek equity or debt financing to
fund a portion of our future expenditures. Such financing might not be available to us in a timely manner, on terms that are acceptable, or at all.

Our ability to obtain the necessary financing to carry out our business plan is subject to a number of factors, including general market conditions and investor acceptance
of our business model. Additional funding may be more difficult to obtain, or may be more expensive, as a result of increases in inflation and interest rates in the U.S. economy
generally. These factors may make the timing, amount, terms and conditions of such financing unattractive or unavailable to us. In addition, actual events involving limited
liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any
events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems.

If we are unable to raise sufficient funds or access our existing funds, we will have to significantly reduce our spending, delay or cancel our planned activities, or
substantially change our corporate structure, which could have an adverse impact on our business and financial prospects.

Our estimates of our cash needs may prove inaccurate in which case we may need to raise capital sooner or change our operating plans and timelines.

We are spending significant amounts to develop our business and have estimated how much cash we will need on a quarterly basis until we raise additional funds or
achieve cash flow positive. These estimates are based on our current operating plan and are subject to significant uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our
control. Our estimates regarding our cash expenditures may prove inaccurate, causing the actual amount to differ from our estimates. In particular, we will continue to incur
operating and net losses each quarter until at least the time we begin commercial operation of our self-driving technology, which may take longer than we currently expect or
may never occur. We may also find that our business operations are more expensive than we currently anticipate or that these efforts may not result in revenues, which would
further increase our cash needs and losses. If our cash expenditures are higher than expected, we may need to raise capital sooner than expected or change our operating plans
and timelines. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise additional capital on acceptable terms or at all.

We may experience difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations.

We expect to experience significant growth in the scope and nature of our operations. Our ability to manage our operations and future growth will require us to continue
to improve our operational, financial and management controls, compliance programs and systems automation. We are currently in the process of strengthening our compliance
programs, including in relation to export controls, privacy, data protection, cybersecurity and anti-corruption. We will also need to reduce our reliance on manual operations in
the areas of billing and reporting and make certain other improvements to support our complex arrangements and the rules governing revenue and expense recognition for our
future operations. We may not be able to implement improvements in an efficient or timely manner and may discover deficiencies in existing controls, programs, systems and
procedures, which could have an adverse effect on the accuracy of our reporting, business relationships, reputation and financial results.
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Our operating and financial results projections that were previously provided rely in large part upon assumptions and analyses developed by us. If these assumptions or
analyses prove to be incorrect, our actual results of operations may be materially different from our previous projections and our estimates of certain financial metrics may
prove inaccurate.

We use various estimates in formulating our business plans. We base our estimates upon a number of assumptions that are inherently subject to significant business and
economic uncertainties and contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. Our estimates therefore may prove inaccurate, causing the actual amount to differ from our
estimates. These factors include, without limitation:

• assumptions around vehicle miles traveled (“VMT”);

• the degree of utilization achieved by our self-driving technology;

• the price our customers are willing to pay;

• the timing and breadth of our technology’s operating domain and product models;

• operational costs of our self-driving technology and their useful life;

• growth in core development and operating expenses;

• which elements of service are delivered by Aurora versus our partners, and associated impact on expenses and capital requirements;

• the extent to which our technology is successfully and efficiently operationalized by our fleet partners, and our market penetration more broadly;

• the timing of when our partners and end-customers adopt our technology on a commercial basis which could be delayed for regulatory, safety or reliability issues
unrelated to our technology;

• the timing of future self-driving system hardware generations and vehicle platforms;

• competitive pricing pressures, including from established and future competitors;

• whether we can obtain sufficient capital to continue investing in core technology development and sustain and grow our business;

• the overall strength and stability of domestic and international markets, including, but not limited to trucking, passenger mobility, and local goods delivery; and

• other risk factors set forth in this Annual Report.

In particular, our total addressable market and opportunity estimates, growth forecasts, pricing, cost, and customer demand that have previously been provided are subject
to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may prove inaccurate. Previously announced projections, forecasts and estimates relating to the
expected size and growth of the markets for self-driving technology may prove similarly imprecise. We are pursuing prospects in multiple markets that are undergoing rapid
changes, including in technological and regulatory areas, and it is difficult to predict the timing and size of the opportunities.

Unfavorable changes in any of the above or other factors, including around the total addressable market and market opportunity, most of which are beyond our control,
could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
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As part of growing our business, we have in the past and may in the future make acquisitions. If we fail to successfully select, execute or integrate our acquisitions, it could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, and our stock price could decline.

From time to time, we may undertake acquisitions to add new products and technologies, acquire talent, form new strategic partnerships, or enter into new markets or
geographies. In addition to possible stockholder approval, we may need approvals and licenses from relevant government authorities for such future acquisitions and to comply
with any applicable laws and regulations, which could result in increased delay and costs, and may disrupt our business strategy if such approvals are ultimately denied.
Furthermore, acquisitions and the subsequent integration of new assets, businesses, key personnel, partners and end-customers, vendors and suppliers require significant
attention from our management and could result in a diversion of resources from our existing business, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our operations.
Additionally, acquired assets or businesses may not generate the financial results we expect. Key personnel or large numbers of employees who join Aurora through
acquisitions may decide to leave Aurora to work for other businesses or competitors of Aurora, thereby diminishing the value of our acquisitions. Acquisitions could result in
the use of substantial amounts of cash, potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, the occurrence of significant goodwill impairments, amortization expenses for other
intangible assets and exposure to potential unknown liabilities of the acquired business. Additionally, the acquisition and integration processes create a risk that management
and employees of Aurora become distracted. Finally, the costs of identifying and consummating acquisitions may be significant. Failure to successfully identify, complete,
manage and integrate acquisitions could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations, and could cause our stock price to
decline.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, floods and other natural catastrophic events, global pandemics, and interruptions by man-made problems, such as
terrorism. Material disruptions of our business or information systems resulting from these events could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, flood, hurricane or significant power outage or other similar events, such as infectious disease outbreaks or
pandemic events (such as the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic), could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have
several offices located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity. In addition, natural disasters, acts of terrorism or war, including the ongoing
geopolitical tensions related to Russia’s actions in Ukraine and the conflicts in the Middle East, could cause disruptions in our remaining operations, our or our partners’
businesses, our suppliers’ or the economy as a whole. We also rely on information technology systems to communicate among our workforce and with third parties. Any
disruption to our communications, whether caused by a natural disaster or by man-made problems, such as power disruptions, could adversely affect our business. We do not
have a formal disaster recovery plan or policy in place and do not currently require that our partners have such plans or policies in place. To the extent that any such disruptions
result in development or commercialization delays or impede our partners’ and suppliers’ ability to timely deliver product components, or the deployment of our products, this
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Interruption or failure of Amazon Web Services or other information technology and communications systems that we rely upon could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We currently rely on Amazon Web Services (“AWS”) to host our technology and support our technology development. The availability and effectiveness of our services
depend on the continued operation of AWS, information technology, communications systems and other related products and services from third parties. Our systems will be
vulnerable to damage, interruption or any other compromise as the result of, among others, software bugs and other technical errors, physical theft, fire, terrorist attacks, natural
disasters, power loss, war, telecommunications failures, viruses, ransomware, and other malicious code, denial or degradation of service attacks, social engineering schemes,
insider theft or misuse or other attempts to harm our systems. We utilize reputable third-party service providers or vendors for storage and hosting of a substantial portion of our
data and source code, and these providers could also be vulnerable to harms similar to those that could damage our systems, including software bugs and other technical errors,
as well as sabotage and intentional acts of vandalism causing potential disruptions. It may become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our performance, especially
during peak usage times, as we expand the usage of our platform. Some of our systems will not be fully redundant, and our disaster recovery planning cannot account for all
eventualities. Any problems with our third-party cloud hosting providers could result in lengthy interruptions in our business.
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We are subject to cybersecurity risks to operational systems, security systems, infrastructure, integrated software and partners’ and end-customers’ data processed by us or
third-party vendors or suppliers and any material failure, weakness, interruption, cyber event, incident or breach of security could prevent us from effectively operating our
business.

We are at risk for interruptions, outages and breaches of, and cyber events and other incidents impacting: operational systems, including business, financial, accounting,
product development, data processing or production processes, owned by us or our third-party vendors or suppliers; facility security systems, owned by us or our third-party
vendors or suppliers; in-product technology owned by us or our third-party vendors or suppliers; our integrated software; or confidential, proprietary, and other data, including
partners’ or end-customers’ or driver data, that we process or our third-party vendors or suppliers process on our behalf. Such cyber incidents could materially disrupt
operational systems; result in loss of trade secrets or other proprietary or competitively sensitive information, technology or materials; compromise certain information of
partners, end-customers, employees, suppliers, drivers or others, and lead to the loss or unavailability of, unauthorized access or damage to, or inappropriate access to, or use,
disclosure or otherwise processing of, confidential information and other data we maintain or otherwise process or that is maintained or otherwise processed on our behalf;
jeopardize the security of our facilities; or affect the performance of in-product technology. A cyber incident could be caused by software bugs and other technical errors,
disasters, insiders (through inadvertence or with malicious intent) or malicious third parties (including nation-states or nation-state supported actors) using sophisticated,
targeted methods to circumvent firewalls, encryption and other security defenses, including hacking, distributed denial of service attacks, fraud, trickery or other forms of
deception. The techniques used by cyber attackers change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time, and we may face difficulties and delays in
identifying, responding to, and otherwise addressing security breaches and incidents. Geopolitical events such as Russia’s actions in Ukraine and the conflicts in the Middle East
may increase our and our service providers’ risks of cyber-attacks. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, more of our service providers’ personnel are working remotely, which
increases the risks of cyber-attacks, security breaches and incidents. Although we maintain and continue to develop information technology measures designed to protect us
against intellectual property, technology, and materials theft, data breaches and other cyber incidents, including a formal incident response plan, such measures will require
updates and improvements, and we cannot guarantee that such measures will be adequate to detect, prevent or mitigate cyber incidents. The implementation, maintenance,
segregation and improvement of these systems requires significant management time, support and cost. Moreover, there are inherent risks associated with developing,
improving, expanding and updating current systems, including the disruption of our data management, procurement, production execution, finance, supply chain and sales and
service processes. These risks may affect our ability to manage our data and inventory, procure parts or supplies or produce, sell, deliver and service our solutions, adequately
protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary or competitively sensitive information, technology or materials, or achieve and maintain compliance with, or realize
available benefits under, applicable laws, regulations and contracts. Further, we utilize reputable third-party service providers or vendors for storage and hosting of a substantial
portion of our data and source code. We cannot be sure that the systems upon which we rely, including those of our third-party vendors or suppliers, will be effectively
implemented, maintained or expanded as planned, and our third-party vendors or suppliers may also experience cyber incidents caused by software bugs and other technical
errors, disasters, insiders, or malicious third parties. If we, or third parties on which we rely, do not successfully implement, maintain or expand systems as planned, our
operations may be disrupted, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could be impaired, and deficiencies may arise in our internal control over financial
reporting, which may impact our ability to certify our financial results. Moreover, our intellectual property rights and proprietary or competitively sensitive information,
technology or materials could be compromised or misappropriated, and our reputation may be adversely affected. If these systems do not operate as we expect them to, we may
be required to expend significant resources to make corrections or find alternative sources for performing these functions.

A significant cyber incident could impact production capability, harm our reputation, cause us to breach our contracts with other parties or subject us to regulatory
inquiries, investigations, and other proceedings, or claims, demands, or other litigation, and otherwise create material costs and liabilities, any of which could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our insurance coverage for cyber-attacks may not be sufficient to cover all the losses we
may experience as a result of a cyber incident, and any cyber incident may result in an increase in our costs for insurance or insurance not being available to us on economically
feasible terms, or at all. Insurers may also deny us coverage as to any future claim. Any of these results could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.
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Unauthorized control or manipulation of systems in autonomous vehicles may cause them to operate improperly or not at all, or compromise their safety and data security,
which could result in loss of confidence in us and our products and harm our business.

There have been reports of traditional, non-autonomous vehicles being “hacked” to grant access to and operation of those vehicles to unauthorized persons. Aurora
Driver-powered vehicles contain complex IT systems and are designed with built-in data connectivity. We are implementing security measures intended to prevent unauthorized
access to the information technology networks and systems installed in our vehicles. However, hackers or third parties may attempt to gain unauthorized access to modify, alter,
and use such networks and systems to gain control of, or to change, our vehicles’ functionality, user interface and performance characteristics, or to access data stored in or
generated by our products. Hackers or other third parties may also attempt to gain physical access to individual vehicles to modify software, gain control of or change the
vehicles’ functionality, or access data stored on the vehicles. As techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or sabotage systems change frequently and may not be known
until launched against us or our third-party service providers, there can be no assurance that we will be able to anticipate, or implement adequate measures to protect against,
these attacks. Any such security incidents could result in unexpected control of or changes to the vehicles’ functionality and safe operation and any such incidents, or the
reporting or perception that they have occurred, could result in legal claims or proceedings, regulatory inquiries, investigations, and other proceedings, and negative publicity
and harm to our reputation, which would negatively affect our brand and harm our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results. Additionally, any similar
incidents suffered by our competitors or other companies in the self-driving vehicle ecosystem, or the reporting or perception of them having occurred, may also result in
negative publicity and concerns about the security of self-driving technology, which could negatively affect our brand and harm our business, prospects, financial condition, and
operating results.

Failures, or perceived failures, to comply with privacy, data protection, and cybersecurity requirements in the variety of jurisdictions in which we operate, or may operate,
may adversely impact our business, and such legal requirements are evolving, uncertain and may require improvements in, or changes to, our policies and operations.

Our current and potential future operations and sales subject us to laws and regulations addressing privacy, data protection, cybersecurity, and the collection, use, storage,
disclosure, transfer and protection of a variety of types of data. For example, the European Commission has adopted the General Data Protection Regulation and California has
enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018, as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act of 2020, both of which provide for significant compliance obligations
and potentially material penalties for non-compliance. Numerous other jurisdictions have proposed or enacted legislation addressing these matters, including state laws similar
to the California Consumer Privacy Act that have taken effect, or will go into effect through 2026. These regimes may, among other things, impose cybersecurity requirements,
disclosure requirements, and restrictions on data collection, uses, and sharing that may impact our operations and the development of our business. These laws and regulations
are evolving rapidly, with new laws and regulations proposed and enacted frequently in various jurisdictions. While, generally, we do not have access to, collect, store, process,
or share data collected by our solutions unless our partners choose to proactively provide such data to us, our products may evolve both to address potential partner
requirements or to add new features and functionality that may change our obligations under existing or future laws, regulations, contractual obligations or other actual or
asserted obligations to which we are or may become subject, including industry standards. Therefore, the full impact of these obligations on our business is rapidly evolving
across jurisdictions and remains uncertain at this time.

We may also be affected by cyber-attacks and other security breaches or incidents, including other means of gaining unauthorized access to our technology, systems, and
data. For instance, cyber criminals, insiders or unauthorized third parties may target us or third parties with which we have business relationships to obtain data, or in a manner
that disrupts our operations or compromises our products or the systems into which our products are integrated. Geopolitical conflicts and tensions may also increase our risks
from cyber-attacks, security breaches or incidents.
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We are assessing the continually evolving privacy, data protection and cybersecurity regimes and measures we believe are appropriate in response. Since these regimes
are evolving, uncertain and complex, especially for a global business like ours, we may need to update or enhance our compliance measures as our products, markets and end-
customer demands further develop, and these updates or enhancements may require implementation costs, including costs to modify our practices with respect to data storage,
data use, and other aspects of data processing, and we may face allegations that laws, regulations, or other actual or asserted obligations are consistent with our practices or the
features of our solutions. In addition, we may not be able to monitor and react to all developments in a timely manner. The compliance measures we do adopt may prove
ineffective. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with current and future regulatory, partner or end-customer-driven privacy, data protection, and cyber security
obligations that apply, or are asserted to apply, to us, or to prevent or mitigate security breaches or incidents, cyber-attacks, or improper access to, use of, or disclosure of our
technology, systems or data, or any security issues or cyber-attacks affecting us, could result in significant liability, costs (including the costs of mitigation and recovery), and a
material loss of revenue resulting from the adverse impact on our reputation and brand, loss or unavailability of or an inability to use or process proprietary information and
data, disruption to our business and relationships, and diminished ability to retain or attract partners and end-customers. Such events may result in governmental enforcement
inquiries, investigations, and other proceedings and actions, private claims, demands, and litigation, fines and penalties or adverse publicity, and could cause partners and end-
customers to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business.

Issues relating to our use of artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies, combined with an uncertain legal and regulatory environment, could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We use artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies in our operations, services, and products. These technologies are subject to evolving laws, regulations,
guidance, and industry standards, which may expose us to legal liability or regulatory risk, including with respect to third-party intellectual property, privacy, publicity,
contractual, or other rights. The use of artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies also presents emerging ethical and social issues and may draw public scrutiny or
controversy, and may also create or assist in producing unexpected results, errors or inadequacies, any of which may not be easily detectable. Issues relating to our use of
artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies and the evolving legal and regulatory landscape applicable to such technologies may adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our future insurance coverage may not be adequate to protect us from all business risks or may be prohibitively expensive.

We may be subject, in the ordinary course of business, to losses resulting from automobile liability, product liability, accidents, acts of God, and other claims against us,
for which we may have no or limited insurance coverage. Further, because we operate in a new and thus inherently risky industry, insurance policies may not be available to us
on terms and rates that are acceptable to us or at all. In addition, as a general matter, the policies that we do have may include significant deductibles or self-insured retentions,
and we cannot be certain that our future insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover all future losses or claims against us. A loss that is uninsured or which exceeds policy
limits may require us to pay substantial amounts, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, actions or
inactions of others in our industry, through no fault of our own, may materially increase the cost of insurance and/or materially decrease the coverages available to us on
commercially reasonable terms.
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Any financial or economic crisis, or perceived threat of such a crisis, including a significant decrease in consumer confidence, could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

In recent years, the United States and global economies suffered dramatic downturns, a deterioration in the credit markets and related financial crisis as well as a variety
of other factors including, among other things, extreme volatility in security prices, severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, financial distress caused by recent or
potential bank failures and the associated banking crisis, ratings downgrades of certain investments and declining valuations of others. The United States and certain foreign
governments have taken unprecedented actions in an attempt to address and rectify these extreme market and economic conditions by providing liquidity and stability to the
financial markets. Over the past year, the United States, the EU, and the U.K. have experienced historically high levels of inflation. In response to high levels of inflation and
recession fears, the U.S. Federal Reserve, the European Central Bank, and the Bank of England have raised interest rates and implemented fiscal policy interventions in recent
periods. These interventions may lower inflation; however, they may also reduce economic growth rates, create a recession, and have broad macroeconomic implications. If the
actions taken by these governments are not successful, the return of adverse economic conditions may negatively impact the demand for our technology and may negatively
impact our ability to raise capital, if needed, on a timely basis and on acceptable terms or at all.

Our financial instruments, including warrants, are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in fair value could have a material effect on our financial results.

Included on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 contained elsewhere in this Annual Report are derivative liabilities related to embedded
features contained within our public and private placement warrants as well as shares issued to Reinvent Sponsor Y LLC, a Cayman Islands limited liability company (the
“Sponsor”) with price-based vesting criteria.

Accounting Standards Codification 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), provides for the remeasurement of the fair value of such derivatives at each balance
sheet date, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the fair value being recognized in earnings in the statement of operations. As a result of the recurring
fair value measurement, our financial statements and results of operations may fluctuate quarterly, based on factors which are outside of our control. Due to the recurring fair
value measurement, we expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses on these financial instruments each reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses
could be material. The impact of changes in fair value on earnings may have an adverse effect on the market price of our securities.

If we are unable to develop and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a
timely manner, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our management is likewise required, on a
quarterly basis, to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls and to disclose any changes and material weaknesses identified through such evaluation in those internal
controls.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and prevent fraud, and material weaknesses could result in us being unable to maintain
compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors losing confidence
in our financial reporting, our securities price declining or us facing litigation as a result of the foregoing.

If we identify any material weaknesses in the future, any such identified material weakness could limit our ability to prevent or detect a misstatement of our accounts or
disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements. In such case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities law
requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting
and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, or any measures we may take in the future, will be sufficient to avoid
potential future material weaknesses.
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Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates, adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income, changes in tax laws or regulations, changes in our ability to
utilize our net operating losses, or other tax-related changes could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We will be subject to income taxes in the United States and other jurisdictions, and our tax liabilities will be subject to the allocation of expenses in differing
jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including changes in the valuation of our deferred tax
assets and liabilities; expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances; tax effects of stock-based compensation; changes in tax laws, regulations or
interpretations thereof; or lower than anticipated future earnings in jurisdictions where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher than anticipated future earnings in
jurisdictions where we have higher statutory tax rates.

In addition, we may be subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by taxing authorities. Outcomes from these audits could materially and adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax
assets and liabilities and changes in tax laws or their interpretation. In addition, we may be subject to income tax audits by various tax jurisdictions. Although we believe our
income tax liabilities are reasonably estimated and accounted for in accordance with applicable laws and principles, an adverse resolution by one or more taxing authorities
could have a material impact on the results of our operations.

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited.

As of December 31, 2024, we had estimated U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $2,029 million and $2,715 million, respectively. Our U.S. federal
and state net operating loss carryforwards subject to expiration will begin to expire in 2036 and 2029, respectively. In general, we may potentially use these net operating losses
to offset taxable income for U.S. federal and state income tax purposes. Furthermore, U.S. federal net operating losses arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017
may only be used to offset 80% of our taxable income. This may require us to pay U.S. federal income taxes in future years despite generating a loss for U.S. federal income tax
purposes in prior years. Limitations under state law may differ. We have established a valuation allowance against the carrying value of these deferred tax assets.

In addition to the potential net operating loss carryforward limitations previously noted above, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, a corporation that
undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income. The limitations
apply if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” which is generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in its equity ownership by one or
more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of a company’s stock over a three-year period. If we have experienced an ownership change at any time since
our incorporation, we may already be subject to limitations on our ability to utilize our existing net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes to offset taxable income
or tax liability. In addition, future changes in our stock ownership, which may be outside of our control, may trigger an ownership change. Similar provisions of state tax law
may also apply to limit our use of accumulated state tax attributes. As a result, even if we earn net taxable income in the future, our ability to use these or our pre-change net
operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes to offset such taxable income or tax liability may be subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future
income tax liability to us.

Recent changes and currently proposed changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flow, results of operations or financial conditions.

As previously noted above, we are and will be generally subject to tax laws, regulations, and policies of several taxing jurisdictions. In addition, potential changes in tax
laws, as well as other factors, could cause us to experience fluctuations in our future tax obligations and effective tax rates and otherwise adversely affect our future tax
positions and/or our future tax liabilities. For example, in August of 2022 the United States enacted a 1% excise tax on stock buybacks and a 15% alternative minimum tax on
adjusted financial statement income as part of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022. Further, many countries, and organizations such as the Organization for Economic
Cooperation and Development have proposed implementing changes to existing tax laws, including a proposed 15% global minimum tax. Any of these developments or changes
in U.S. federal, state, or international tax laws or tax rulings could adversely affect our future effective tax rate and our operating results. There can be no assurance that our
future effective tax rates or tax payments will not be adversely affected by these or other developments or changes in law.
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Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

Our success is contingent on our ability to successfully maintain, manage, execute and expand on our existing partnerships and obtain new partnerships.

Our self-driving technology is integrated into the vehicles of our OEM partners, while logistics services partners, ride-sharing partners and fleet service partners can act
as both a customer and an operator of Aurora Driver-powered vehicles. While we are providing our self-driving technology to these partners, they are simultaneously providing
their vehicles, fleet operational activities, and, in some cases, access to end-customers.

In order for this business model to be successful, we will need to enter into definitive long-term contracts and commercial arrangements with partners, which expand
upon the current agreements and historic working relationships we have in place. In the event such contracts do not materialize, we may not be able to implement our business
strategy in the timeframe anticipated, or at all. If we are unable to enter into definitive agreements or are only able to do so on terms that are unfavorable to us, we may not be
able to timely identify adequate strategic relationship opportunities, or form strategic relationships, and consequently, we may not be able to fully carry out our business plans.
Accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance on our statements about our development plans and partnerships or their feasibility in the timeframe anticipated, or at all.

Partners and end-customers may be less likely to purchase our products if they are not convinced that our business will succeed or that our service, technology, and other
operations will continue in the long term. Similarly, suppliers and other third parties will be less likely to invest time and resources in developing business relationships with us
if they are not convinced that our business will succeed. Accordingly, in order to build and maintain our business, we must maintain confidence among partners, end-customers,
suppliers, analysts, ratings agencies and other parties in our products, long-term financial viability and business prospects. Maintaining such confidence may be particularly
complicated by certain factors including those that are largely outside of our control, such as our limited operating history, end-customer unfamiliarity with our technology, any
delays in scaling production, delivery and service operations to meet demand, competition and uncertainty regarding the future of self-driving vehicles or our other services
compared with market expectations.

We are dependent on our suppliers, some of which are single or limited source suppliers (including one partner for the production, provision, and full lifecycle support of
the future generation of our Aurora Driver hardware system), and the inability of our supplier(s) to produce and deliver necessary and industrialized components at prices
and volumes and on terms acceptable to us could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

On April 26, 2023, we entered into the Strategic Partnership Agreement with Continental, which was amended and restated on September 27, 2023. Pursuant to the
Strategic Partnership Agreement, Continental will, as our “Hardware-as-a-Service” partner, develop the necessary hardware, firmware, fallback system integration, and related
services to allow for the integration of the Aurora Driver into production vehicles at OEMs. The Strategic Partnership Agreement provides that we will pay Continental on a per-
mile basis for vehicles operated by the Aurora Driver using the future generation of our Aurora Driver hardware system. The term of the Strategic Partnership Agreement
continues until March 31, 2031. Pursuant to the Strategic Partnership Agreement, Aurora and Continental are each subject to defined and limited exclusivity periods, subject to
various exclusions and early termination triggers.

If the services contemplated by the agreement with Continental are not performed, including by reason of termination of the agreement, or if Continental becomes
insolvent, ceases or significantly reduces its operations or experiences financial distress, or if any environmental, economic or other outside factors impact their operations, our
ability to procure the necessary hardware, firmware, fallback system integration, and related services may be impaired, and we may not be able to obtain, or may face increased
costs related to, such hardware, firmware, and services. If we lose Continental as a partner, or if the terms of the Strategic Partnership Agreement are ineffective at incentivizing
performance for any reason, there could be an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. While we believe that the Strategic
Partnership Agreement contains provisions that adequately disincentivize non-performance by the parties, and while even in the event of non-performance we believe we may
be able to establish alternate supply relationships and can obtain or engineer replacement components, we may be unable to do so in the short term (or at all) at prices or quality
levels and/or on terms that are favorable to us and we may experience significant delays while re-engineering our system to accept any replacement parts.
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While we plan to obtain components from multiple sources whenever it is desirable and permissible under the Strategic Partnership Agreement, in addition to
Continental, as it relates to the Aurora Driver, some of the other components used in our hardware and technology will be purchased from single suppliers. We refer to these
component suppliers as our single source suppliers. These components are susceptible to supply shortages, long lead times for components, and supply changes, any of which
could disrupt our supply chain and could delay commercialization of our products to users. For example, the Aurora Driver relies on single source suppliers for several
components including GPU microchips which we use for artificial intelligence / machine learning inference, lidars, vehicle electronic control units, and automotive radar
sensors. Supply of these components world-wide may be adversely affected by the business disruptions as well as industry consolidation and geopolitical conditions such as
international trade wars like the U.S. trade war with China, Russia’s actions in Ukraine, the conflicts in the Middle East and other hostilities in the Middle East and increased
political tensions in Russia, Europe or Asia. Such shortages, increased component lead times, reduced allocations of components and decommitments of orders have resulted in
and may continue to result in increased component prices, fewer sourcing options, unpredictability of supply, prolonged manufacturing disruptions and increased product lead
times.

We are reliant on third-party suppliers to design, develop, industrialize and manufacture components for us. In order for these suppliers to undertake the investment
needed to produce these components, they may require us to commit to terms, pricing or purchase volumes that are not acceptable to us.

Manufacturing in collaboration with partners is subject to risks.

Our business model relies on outsourced manufacturing of vehicles, including outsourced manufacturing of our self-driving system hardware and vehicle integration. The
cost of tooling a manufacturing facility with a collaboration partner is high, and collaboration with third parties to manufacture vehicles and self-driving system hardware is
subject to risks that are outside of our control. We have in the past, and could in the future, experience delays in development and production when and if our partners do not
meet agreed upon timelines or experience capacity constraints. There is a risk of potential disputes between Aurora and Continental, as well as between Continental and other
third-party partners, which could stop or slow vehicle production, and we could be affected by adverse publicity related to our partners, whether or not such publicity is related
to such third parties’ collaboration with us. In addition, we cannot guarantee that our suppliers will not deviate from agreed-upon quality standards.

If Continental is unable to perform under the Strategic Partnership Agreement, we may be unable to enter into agreements with manufacturers on terms and conditions
acceptable to us and therefore we may need to contract with other third parties or significantly add to our own production capacity. We may not be able to engage other third
parties or establish or expand our own production capacity to meet our needs on acceptable terms, or at all. The expense and time required to adequately complete any transition
may be greater than anticipated. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Legal and Regulatory Environment

Burdensome regulations, inconsistent regulations, or a failure to receive regulatory approvals or exemptions for our technology could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operation.

Currently, there are no Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards that relate to the performance of self-driving technology. While our team includes nationally recognized
safety experts and we have built organizational, operational, and safety processes to ensure that the performance of our technology meets rigorous standards, there can be no
assurance that these measures will meet future regulatory requirements enacted by government bodies nor that future regulatory requirements will not inherently limit the
operation and commercialization of self-driving technology. In some jurisdictions, we could be required to present our own safety justification and evidence base, and in other
areas it is possible that we may be required to pass specific self-driving safety tests. We have not yet tested our technology to the full extent possible, in all conditions under
which we anticipate operations to occur. The failure to pass these safety tests or receive appropriate regulatory approvals for commercialization would adversely impact our
ability to generate revenue at the rate we anticipate.

It is also possible that future autonomous regulations are not standardized, and our technology becomes subject to differing regulations across jurisdictions (e.g., federal,
state, local, and international). For example, should a state choose to enact a set of regulations that significantly differ from that of another state, it may create a regulatory
patchwork that could hinder the commercial deployment of our technology and have adverse effects on our business prospects and financial condition.
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We are also subject to laws and regulations that commonly apply to e-commerce businesses, such as those related to privacy, data protection, cybersecurity, tax and
consumer protection. These laws and regulations vary from one jurisdiction to another and future legislative and regulatory action, court decisions or other governmental action,
which may be affected by, among other things, political pressures, attitudes and climates, as well as personal biases, may have a material impact on our operations and financial
results.

We are subject to governmental export and import control laws and regulations and trade and economic sanctions. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations
could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Our products and solutions are subject to export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, U.S. Customs
regulations and various economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls as well as similar controls
established in the countries in which we do business. Export control laws and regulations and economic sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products and services to
embargoed or sanctioned countries and their governments and restricted or sanctioned persons. In addition, complying with export control and sanctions regulations for a
particular geography may be time-consuming and result in the delay or loss of revenue opportunities. Exports of our products and technology must be made in compliance with
these laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we and certain of our employees could be subject to substantial civil or criminal penalties,
including the possible loss of export or import privileges, fines, which may be imposed on us and responsible employees or managers and, in extreme cases, the incarceration of
responsible employees or managers. Additionally, any allegations of non-compliance with sanctions laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints, adverse media
coverage, investigations, prosecution, enforcement actions, fines, damages, severe administrative, civil and criminal sanctions, loss of export privileges, collateral consequences,
remedial measures, suspension or debarment from government contracts and legal expenses, all of which could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations and also our reputation.

For example, the U.S. government has continued to increase controls restricting the ability to send, without an export license, certain products and technology related to
semiconductors, semiconductor manufacturing, and supercomputing to China as well as other identified countries and companies headquartered in China and these other
countries. These controls apply broadly to a continuously expanding list of items including certain integrated circuits, hardware containing these specified integrated circuits,
semiconductor manufacturing equipment, and could be expanded to other products applicable to Aurora’s business. In response, the Chinese government is expanding its
control on exports, and these controls or other measures could impact our business. Additionally, these restrictions could disrupt the ability of China to produce semiconductors
and other electronics or prohibit the export of these items to us and impact our ability to source components from China.

Federal and state governments may also seek to prohibit, restrict, or otherwise condition the procurement or use of products or components used in autonomous vehicles
that are manufactured outside or by companies domiciled outside the United States. For example, on January 31, 2024, and again on October 21, 2024, the U.S. Department of
Defense identified Hesai Technology Co., Ltd. (Hesai), a lidar manufacturer based in China, as a Chinese Military Company in accordance with Section 1260H of the National
Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2021, which will prohibit the Defense Department from contracting with Hesai in the future. Additionally, the U.S. Department of
Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security (BIS) recently issued a final rule imposing controls on transactions involving certain information and communications technology
and services that are designed, developed, manufactured, or supplied by persons owned by, controlled by, or subject to the jurisdiction or direction of certain enumerated
foreign adversaries (including China and Russia) and that are integral to passenger connected vehicles under 10,001 pounds. BIS noted in its announcement of the final rule that
it intends to pursue a similar rulemaking to address trucks and buses in the near future, but provided no additional information on this effort or its anticipated timeline.

Legislation has also been introduced in some U.S. states that proposed to prohibit and/or condition the use of Chinese-origin lidar in autonomous vehicles. Enactment of
any prohibitions, restrictions, or conditions on our ability to procure or use such products or components could materially and adversely affect our technology, operating plans,
and commercialization timelines.
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In addition, various countries regulate the import of certain encryption technology, including through import permit and license requirements, and have enacted laws that
could limit our ability to distribute our products or could limit our end customers’ ability to implement our products in those countries. Any change in export or import
regulations, economic sanctions or related legislation, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the countries, governments, persons or technologies
targeted by such regulations could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products and solutions to, existing or potential end
customers with international operations or create delays in the introduction of our products and solutions into international markets. Any decreased use of our products and
solutions or limitation on our ability to export or sell our products and solutions could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We may become involved in legal and regulatory proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes, which could have an adverse effect on our profitability and
consolidated financial position.

We may be, from time to time, involved in litigation, regulatory proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes that may be significant. These matters may include,
without limitation, disputes with our suppliers and partners, intellectual property rights infringement or misappropriation claims, stockholder litigation, government
investigations, class action lawsuits, personal injury claims, environmental issues, customs and value-added tax disputes and employment and tax issues. In addition, we have in
the past and could face in the future a variety of labor and employment claims against us, which could include but is not limited to general discrimination, wage and hour,
privacy and data protection, ERISA or disability claims. In such matters, government agencies or private parties may seek to recover from us very large, indeterminate amounts
in penalties or monetary damages (including, in some cases, treble or punitive damages) or seek to limit our operations in some way. These types of disputes could require
significant management time and attention or could involve substantial legal liability, adverse regulatory outcomes, and/or substantial expenses to defend. Often these
proceedings raise complex factual and legal issues and create risks and uncertainties. No assurances can be given that any proceedings and claims will not have a material and
adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations or that our established reserves or our available insurance will mitigate this impact.

Changes to global political, regulatory and economic conditions or foreign laws and policies, or interpretation of existing foreign laws and policies, could materially and
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in global political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and policies governing foreign trade, research, manufacturing, development, technology, and
investment in the territories or countries where we currently purchase our components, sell our products or conduct our business could adversely affect our business. The U.S.
has recently instituted or proposed changes in trade policies that include the negotiation or termination of trade agreements, the imposition of higher tariffs on imports into the
U.S., economic sanctions on individuals, corporations or countries, and other government regulations affecting trade between the U.S. and other countries where we conduct our
business. A number of other nations have proposed or instituted similar measures directed at trade with the United States in response. As a result of these developments, there
may be greater restrictions and economic disincentives on international trade that could adversely affect our business. Additionally, certain existing and future foreign political,
regulatory and economic conditions, such as ongoing geopolitical tensions related to Russia’s actions in Ukraine, resulting sanctions imposed by the U.S. and other countries,
and retaliatory actions taken by Russia in response to such sanctions, may make it impractical or impossible to launch in certain markets, may delay our launch in certain
markets, or may impose onerous conditions to launch in such markets (e.g., requiring a local partner and/or the disclosure of proprietary or competitively sensitive information,
technology or materials). It may be time-consuming and expensive for us to alter our business operations to adapt to or comply with any such changes, and any failure to do so
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We are subject to, and must remain in compliance with, numerous laws and governmental regulations concerning the manufacturing, use, distribution and sale of our
products. Some of our partners also require that we comply with their own unique requirements relating to these matters.

We develop and plan to sell technology that contains electronic components, and such components may be subject to or may contain materials that are subject to
government regulation in both the locations where manufacture and assembly of our products takes place, as well as the locations where we sell our products. This is a complex
process which requires continual monitoring of regulations to ensure that we and our suppliers are in compliance with existing regulations in each market where we operate and
where we intend to operate. If there is an unanticipated new regulation that significantly impacts our use and sourcing of various components or requires more expensive
components, that regulation could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. If we fail to adhere to new regulations or
fail to continually monitor the updates, we may be subject to litigation, loss of partners or negative publicity and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to environmental regulation and may incur substantial costs.

We are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws, regulations and ordinances relating to the protection of the environment, including those relating to emissions to
the air, discharges to surface and subsurface waters, safe drinking water, greenhouse gases and the management of hazardous substances, oils and waste materials. Federal, state
and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment may require the current or previous owner or operator of real estate to investigate and remediate
hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases at or from the property. Under federal law, generators of waste materials, and current and former owners or
operators of facilities, can be subject to liability for investigation and remediation costs at locations that have been identified as requiring response actions. Compliance with
environmental laws and regulations can require significant expenditures. In addition, we could incur costs to comply with such current or future laws and regulations, the
violation of which could lead to substantial fines and penalties.

We may have to pay governmental entities or third parties for property damage and for investigation and remediation costs that they incurred in connection with any
contamination at our current and former properties without regard to whether we knew of or caused the presence of the contaminants. Liability under these laws may be strict,
joint and several, meaning that we could be liable for the costs of cleaning up environmental contamination regardless of fault or the amount of waste directly attributable to us.
Even if more than one person may have been responsible for the contamination, each person covered by these environmental laws may be held responsible for all of the clean-
up costs incurred. Environmental liabilities could arise and have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and performance. We do not believe, however, that pending
environmental regulatory developments in this area will have a material effect on our capital expenditures or otherwise materially adversely affect its operations, operating
costs, or competitive position.
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We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering, and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to administrative, civil and
criminal fines and penalties, collateral consequences, remedial measures and legal expenses, all of which could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condition and results of operations and also our reputation.

We are subject to anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws and anti-money laundering and similar laws and regulations in various jurisdictions in which we conduct or in the
future may conduct activities, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, and other anti-corruption laws and regulations. The
FCPA and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 prohibit us and our officers, directors, employees and business partners acting on our behalf, including agents, from corruptly offering,
promising, authorizing or providing anything of value to a “foreign official” for the purposes of influencing official decisions or obtaining or retaining business or otherwise
obtaining favorable treatment. The FCPA also requires publicly listed companies to make and keep books, records and accounts that accurately reflect transactions and
dispositions of assets and to maintain a system of adequate internal accounting controls. The U.K. Bribery Act 2010 and other anti-corruption laws also prohibit non-
governmental “commercial” bribery and soliciting or accepting bribes. We sometimes leverage third parties to conduct our business abroad. We, our employees, agents,
representatives, business partners and third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or
affiliated entities and we may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these employees, agents, representatives, business partners or third-party intermediaries
even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. Our policies and procedures that are designed to ensure compliance with these laws and regulations may not be sufficient
and our directors, officers, employees, representatives, consultants, agents, and business partners could engage in improper conduct for which we may be held responsible. As
we increase our international conduct of business, our risks under these laws may increase.

Any allegations or non-compliance with anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws or anti-money laundering laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints, adverse
media coverage, investigations, prosecution, enforcement actions, fines, damages, severe administrative, civil and criminal sanctions, loss of export privileges, collateral
consequences, remedial measures, and legal expenses, all of which could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations
and also our reputation. Responding to any investigation or action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and significant
defense costs and other professional fees.

Our business may be adversely affected if our lidar technology fails to comply with the regulatory requirements under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act or
otherwise by the FDA.

Our lidar technology is subject to the Electronic Product Radiation Control Provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as electronic product radiation
includes laser technology. Regulations governing these products are intended to protect the public from hazardous or unnecessary exposure and are enforced by the FDA.
Manufacturers are required to certify in product labeling and report to the FDA that their products comply with applicable performance standards as well as maintain
manufacturing, testing, and distribution records for their products. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in enforcement action by the FDA, which could require
us to cease distribution of our products, recall or remediate products already distributed to partners or end-customers, or subject us to FDA enforcement.

We may be subject to product liability that could result in significant direct or indirect costs, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our self-driving technology presents the risk of significant injury, including fatalities. We may be subject to claims if our technology is involved in an accident and
persons are injured or purport to be injured. The occurrence of any errors or defects in our products could make us liable for damages and legal claims. In addition, we could
incur significant costs to correct such issues, potentially including product recalls. Any negative publicity related to the perceived quality of our technology could affect our
brand image, partner and end-customer demand, and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Also, liability claims may
result in litigation, including class actions, the occurrence of which could be costly, lengthy and distracting and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Any product recall of ours or our partners in the future may result in adverse publicity, damage our brand and could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. In the future, we may voluntarily or involuntarily initiate a recall if any vehicles powered by our self-driving technology prove to
be defective or non-compliant with applicable Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards. Such recalls will prevent any sale of Aurora products (or any sale of vehicles equipped
with Aurora products) until the issues are remedied and involve significant expense and diversion of management’s attention and other resources, which could materially and
adversely affect our brand image in our target markets, as well as our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Once we commercialize our technology, we may be required to obtain specialized insurance, which may not be available at the capacity level or on the terms that we
require to achieve the economics we expect. Further, any insurance that we carry may not be sufficient or it may not apply to all situations. Similarly, our partners could be
subjected to claims as a result of such accidents and bring legal claims against us to attempt to hold us liable. Any of these events could materially and adversely affect our
brand, relationships with partners, business, financial condition or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property Rights

Despite the actions we are taking to defend and protect our intellectual property rights and other proprietary interests, we may not be able to adequately protect or enforce
our intellectual property rights or prevent unauthorized parties from copying or reverse engineering our solutions. Our efforts to protect and enforce our intellectual
property rights and prevent third parties from violating our rights may be costly.

The success of our products and our business depends in part on our ability to obtain patents and other intellectual property rights and maintain adequate legal protection
for our products in the United States and other international jurisdictions. We rely on a combination of copyright, patent, service mark, trademark and trade secret laws, as well
as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which provide only limited protection.

We cannot assure you that any patents will be issued with respect to our currently pending patent applications or that any trademarks will be registered with respect to
our currently pending applications in a manner that gives us adequate defensive protection or competitive advantages, if at all, or that any patents issued to us or any trademarks
registered by us will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. We have filed for patents and trademarks in the United States and in certain international jurisdictions, but
such protections may not be available in all countries in which we operate or in which we seek to enforce our intellectual property rights, or may be difficult to enforce in
practice. Our currently-issued and applied-for patent and trademark registrations and applications, and any future patents and trademarks that may be issued, registered or
applied for, as applicable, may not provide sufficiently broad protection or may not prove to be enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. We also cannot be certain that
the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others may independently develop
technologies that are competitive to us or infringe our intellectual property rights.

The protection against unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights, products and other proprietary rights is expensive and difficult, particularly internationally.
We believe that our patent portfolio is foundational in the area of self-driving technology. Unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or reverse engineer our technology or
certain aspects of our solutions that we consider proprietary. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to prevent
unauthorized parties from copying or reverse engineering our solutions, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or to block the importation of
infringing products into the United States.

Any such litigation, whether initiated by us or a third party, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management’s attention, either of which could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Even if we obtain favorable outcomes in litigation, we may not be able to obtain
adequate remedies, especially in the context of unauthorized parties copying or reverse engineering our solutions.

Further, many of our current and potential competitors have the ability to dedicate substantially greater resources to defending intellectual property rights infringement
claims and to enforcing their intellectual property rights than we have. Attempts to enforce our rights against third parties could also provoke these third parties to assert their
own intellectual property rights or other proprietary rights or claims against us or result in a holding that invalidates or narrows the scope of our rights, in whole or in part.
Effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our products are available, and competitors
based in other countries may sell infringing products in one or more markets where our intellectual property rights are difficult to enforce or afforded less protection. Failure to
adequately protect our intellectual property rights could result in our competitors offering similar products, potentially resulting in the loss of some of our competitive advantage
and a decrease in our revenue, which could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

35



Table of Contents

Third-party claims that we are infringing intellectual property rights, whether successful or not, could subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive
licenses, and our business could be adversely affected.

Although we hold key patents related to our technology, a number of companies, organizations, or individuals, both within and outside of the self-driving vehicle
industry, hold other patents covering aspects of self-driving technology. In addition to these patents, participants in this industry typically also protect their technology,
especially embedded software, through copyrights and trade secrets. In recent years, there has been significant litigation globally involving patents and other intellectual
property rights. We have received, and in the future may receive, inquiries from other intellectual property rights holders and may become subject to claims that we infringe
their intellectual property rights, particularly as we expand our presence in the market, expand to new use cases and face increasing competition. We are also party to certain
agreements that may limit our trademark rights in certain jurisdictions; while we believe these agreements are unlikely to have a significant impact on our business as currently
conducted, our ability to use our existing trademarks in new business lines in the future may be limited. In addition, parties may claim that the names and branding of our
products infringe their trademark rights in certain countries or territories. Although we intend to vigorously defend our intellectual property rights, if such a claim were to
prevail, we may have to change the names and branding of our products in the affected territories and we could incur other costs.

We currently have a number of agreements in effect pursuant to which we have agreed to defend, indemnify and hold harmless our partners, suppliers, and channel
partners and other partners from damages and costs which may arise from the infringement by our products of third-party patents or other intellectual property rights. The scope
of these indemnity obligations varies, but may, in some instances, include indemnification for damages and expenses, including attorneys’ fees. We do not carry insurance to
cover intellectual property rights infringement claims. A claim that our products infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, even if untrue, could adversely affect our
relationships with our partners, may deter future partners from purchasing our products and could expose us to costly litigation and settlement expenses. Even if we are not a
party to any litigation between a partner and a third party relating to infringement by our products, an adverse outcome in any such litigation could make it more difficult for us
to defend our products against intellectual property rights infringement claims in any subsequent litigation in which we are a named party. Any of these results could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our defense of intellectual property rights claims brought against us or our partners, suppliers and channel partners, with or without merit, could be time-consuming,
expensive to litigate or settle, divert resources and management’s attention and force us to acquire intellectual property rights and licenses, which may involve substantial
royalty or other payments and may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Further, a party making such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that requires us to
pay substantial damages or obtain an injunction. An adverse determination also could invalidate our intellectual property rights and adversely affect our ability to offer our
products to our partners and may require that we procure or develop substitute products that do not infringe, which could require significant effort and expense. Any of these
events could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may need to defend ourselves against intellectual property rights infringement claims, which may be time-consuming and could cause us to incur substantial costs.

Companies, organizations or individuals, including our current and future competitors, may hold or obtain patents, trademarks or other proprietary rights that would
prevent, limit or interfere with our ability to make, use, develop or sell our products, which could make it more difficult for us to operate our business. From time to time, we
may receive inquiries from holders of patents or trademarks inquiring whether we are infringing their proprietary rights and/or seek court declarations that they do not infringe
upon our intellectual property rights. Companies holding patents or other intellectual property rights relating to self-driving technology (including sensors, hardware and
software for self-driving vehicles) or other related technology may bring suits alleging infringement of such rights or otherwise asserting their rights and seeking licenses. In
addition, if we are determined to have infringed upon a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may be required to do one or more of the following:

• cease selling, incorporating or using products that incorporate or use the challenged intellectual property rights;

• pay substantial damages;

• obtain a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms or at all; or

• redesign our technology.
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A successful claim of infringement against us and our failure or inability to obtain a license to the infringed technology could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, any litigation or claims, whether or not valid, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and
management’s attention.

We also hold licenses to intellectual property rights from third parties, including inbound licenses provided in connection with commercial and other arrangements, and
we may face claims that our exercises of these intellectual property rights infringe the rights of others. In such cases, we may seek indemnification from our licensors under our
license contracts with them. However, our rights to indemnification may be unavailable or insufficient to cover our costs and losses, depending on our use of the technology,
whether we choose to retain control over conduct of the litigation, and other factors.

We rely on licenses from third parties for intellectual property rights that are critical to our business, and we would lose the rights to such intellectual property rights if
those agreements were terminated or not renewed.

We expect that the long-term contracts and commercial arrangements that we have and intend to enter into with partners may include licenses. We rely on these licenses
from our partners for certain intellectual property rights that are or may become critical to our business. Termination of our current or future partner agreements could cause us
to have to negotiate new or amended agreements with less favorable terms or cause us to lose our rights under the original agreements.

In the case of a loss of intellectual property rights relating to technology used in our systems, we may not be able to continue to manufacture certain components for our
product or for our operations or may experience disruption to our manufacturing processes as we test and re-qualify any potential replacement technology. Even if we retain the
licenses, the licenses may not be exclusive with respect to such component design or technologies, which could aid our competitors and have a negative impact on our business.

Our intellectual property rights applications for registration may not issue or be registered, which may have a material adverse effect on our ability to prevent others from
commercially exploiting products similar to ours.

We cannot be certain that we are the first inventor of the subject matter to which we have filed a particular patent application, or if we are the first party to file such a
patent application. If another party has filed a patent application to the same subject matter as we have, we may not be entitled to the protection sought by the patent application.
We also cannot be certain whether the claims included in a patent application will ultimately be allowed in the applicable issued patent. Further, the scope of protection of
issued patent claims is often difficult to determine. As a result, we cannot be certain that the patent applications that we file will issue, or that our issued patents will afford
protection against competitors with similar technology. In addition, our competitors may design around our issued patents, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

As our patents may expire and may not be extended, our patent applications may not be granted and our patent rights may be contested, circumvented, invalidated or
limited in scope. In particular, we may not be able to prevent others from developing or exploiting competing technologies, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We cannot assure you that we will be granted patents pursuant to our pending applications. Even if our patent applications succeed and we are issued patents in
accordance with them, these patents may still be contested, circumvented or invalidated in the future. In addition, the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us
with meaningful protection or competitive advantages. The claims under any patents that issue from our patent applications may not be broad enough to prevent others from
developing technologies that are similar or that achieve results similar to ours. The intellectual property rights of others could also bar us and third-party licensees from
exploiting any patents that issue from our pending applications. Numerous patents and pending patent applications owned by others exist in the fields in which we have
developed and are developing our technology. These patents and patent applications might have priority over our patent applications and could subject our patent applications to
invalidation. Finally, in addition to those who may claim priority, any of our existing or pending patents may also be challenged by others on the basis that they are otherwise
invalid or unenforceable.
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In addition to patented technology, we rely on our unpatented proprietary technology, trade secrets, processes and know-how.

We rely on technical measures and contractual measures to protect proprietary or competitively sensitive information, technology or materials (such as trade secrets,
know-how and confidential information) that may not be patentable or subject to copyright, trademark, trade dress or service mark protection, or that we believe is best
protected by means that do not require public disclosure. We generally seek to protect this proprietary information by limiting its disclosure and, when disclosed, by entering
into confidentiality agreements, or consulting services or employment agreements that contain non-disclosure and non-use provisions with our employees, consultants,
contractors and third parties. However, we may fail to enter into the necessary agreements, and even if entered into, these agreements may be breached or may otherwise fail to
prevent disclosure, third-party infringement or misappropriation of our proprietary information, may be limited as to their term and may not provide an adequate remedy in the
event of unauthorized disclosure or use of proprietary information. Trade secrets or confidential information may also be willfully or unintentionally disclosed, including by
employees, who may leave our company and join our competitors. We have limited control over the protection of trade secrets used by our current or future manufacturing
partners and suppliers and could lose future trade secret protection if any unauthorized disclosure of such information occurs. In addition, our proprietary information may
otherwise become known or be independently developed by our competitors or other third parties. To the extent that our employees, consultants, contractors, advisors and other
third parties use intellectual property rights or other technology or materials owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting
know-how and inventions. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or
maintain protection for our proprietary information could adversely affect our competitive business position, and any recovery from a litigation may be insufficient to address
any harm we have suffered. Furthermore, laws regarding trade secret rights in certain markets where we operate may afford little or no protection to our trade secrets.

We also rely on physical and electronic security measures to protect our proprietary information, but we cannot provide assurance that these security measures will not be
breached or provide adequate protection for our property or any proprietary information that we hold. There is a risk that third parties may obtain and improperly utilize our
proprietary information to our competitive disadvantage. We may not be able to detect or prevent the unauthorized use of such information or take appropriate and timely steps
to enforce our intellectual property rights.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our employees’ former employers.

We may be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of an employee’s
former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose
valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize our products, which could
severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and demands on resources and management’s
attention.
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Our software contains third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source software licenses could restrict our
ability to sell our products or our use of those components give rise to disclosure obligations of proprietary software.

Our software contains components that are licensed under so-called “open source,” “free” or other similar licenses. Open source software is made available to the general
public on an “as-is” basis under the terms of a non-negotiable license. Certain open source licenses may give rise to obligations to disclose or license our source code or other
intellectual property rights if such open source software is integrated with our proprietary software or used or distributed in certain ways. We currently combine and use our
proprietary software with open source software, but not in a manner that we believe requires the release of the source code of our proprietary software to the public. If we
combine, use or distribute our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner in the future, we could be required to release the source code to our
proprietary software as open source software, or could be required to cease using the relevant open source software which might be costly to replace. Open source licensors also
generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. In addition, if the license terms for the open source
software that we use change, we may be forced to re-engineer our software, incur additional costs or discontinue the use of certain offerings if re-engineering could not be
accomplished in a timely manner. Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our offerings to unintended conditions, there is a risk that these
licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our offerings. We cannot guarantee that we have
incorporated open source software in our software in a manner that will not subject us to liability or in a manner that is consistent with our current policies and procedures.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities

We have incurred and will continue to incur significant expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We have incurred and will continue to incur increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses as a public company than we did as a private
company. The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including the requirements of Section 404, as well as rules and
regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules and regulations promulgated and to
be promulgated thereunder, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and the securities exchanges, impose additional reporting and other obligations on public
companies.

Compliance with evolving public company requirements may continue to increase costs and make certain activities more time-consuming. For example, on December
31, 2023, we ceased to be an "emerging growth company" as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, and we became subject to additional reporting
requirements and standards including costs associated with compliance with the auditor attestation requirement of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the adoption of
certain ASUs upon losing such status, additional disclosure requirements and accelerated filing deadlines for our periodic reports. As a result of losing emerging growth
company status, we also became subject to enhanced disclosures obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and requirements to
hold a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation. In addition, expenses associated with SEC reporting requirements already have been and will continue to be
incurred. Furthermore, if any issues in complying with those requirements are identified (for example, if we identify a material weakness or significant deficiency in the internal
control over financial reporting), we could incur additional costs rectifying those issues, and the existence of those issues could adversely affect our reputation or investor
perceptions of it. Risks associated with our status as a public company may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our Board or as executive
officers. The reporting and other obligations imposed by these rules and regulations have resulted in and may continue to result in significant accounting, administrative,
financial compliance and legal costs. These costs have required and may continue to require us to divert a significant amount of money that could otherwise be used to expand
the business and achieve strategic objectives. Advocacy efforts by stockholders and third parties may also prompt additional changes in governance and reporting requirements,
which could further increase costs.

39



Table of Contents

Our management team has limited experience in operating a public company.

Our executive officers have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not successfully or effectively manage our
continuing transition to a public company that will be subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws. Their limited experience
in dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely that an increasing amount of their time may
be devoted to these activities which will result in less time being devoted to the management and growth of the Company. We may not have adequate personnel with the
appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and training in the accounting policies, practices or internal controls over financial reporting required of public companies in the
United States. The development and implementation of the standards and controls necessary for the Company to achieve the level of accounting standards required of a public
company in the United States may require costs greater than expected. It is possible that we will be required to expand our employee base and hire additional employees to
support our operations as a public company which will increase our operating costs in future periods.

The terms of our public warrants may be amended in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding public warrants approve of such
amendment.

We issued warrants to acquire shares of our common stock in connection with our initial public offering in March 2021. The warrants were issued in registered form
under the Warrant Agreement, between us and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, which was subsequently amended in connection with the
appointment of Equiniti Trust Company, LLC (formerly known as American Stock Transfer & Trust Company) as warrant agent. The Warrant Agreement provides that the
terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision, but requires the approval by the holders of at
least 50% of the then outstanding public warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the registered holders of public warrants. Accordingly, we may
amend the terms of the public warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least 50% of the then outstanding public warrants approve of such amendment. Although
our ability to amend the terms of the public warrants with the consent of at least 50% of the then outstanding public warrants is unlimited, examples of such amendments could
be amendments to, among other things, increase the exercise price of the warrants, shorten the exercise period or decrease the number of shares of our Class A common stock
purchasable upon exercise of a warrant.

Any failure to effectively maintain controls and procedures required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our business.

As a public company, we are required to provide management’s attestation on internal controls. Additionally, our independent registered public accounting firm is
required to undertake an assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. Although we have developed and refined our financial reporting and other disclosure
controls and procedures, and will continue to do so, management may not be able to effectively maintain the controls and procedures that satisfy the regulatory compliance and
reporting requirements that apply to us. If we are not able to adequately comply with the requirements of Section 404, we may not be able to assess whether our internal controls
over financial reporting are effective, which may subject us to adverse regulatory consequences and could harm investor confidence and the market price of our securities.

To manage the expected growth of our operations and increasing complexity, we will need to improve our operational and financial systems, procedures, and controls
and continue to increase systems automation to reduce reliance on manual operations. Any inability to do so will affect our reporting. Our current and planned systems,
procedures and controls may not be adequate to support our complex arrangements and the rules governing revenue and expense recognition for our future operations and
expected growth. Delays or problems associated with any improvement or expansion of our operational and financial systems and controls could adversely affect our
relationships with our partners, cause harm to our reputation and brand and could also result in errors in our financial and other reporting.
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Our bylaws (the “Bylaws”) designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States as the exclusive forum
for disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or
employees.

Our Bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for
(i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, stockholders, officers
or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our certificate of incorporation (the
“Certificate of Incorporation”) or our Bylaws, or (iv) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware, in all cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. Our Bylaws further provide that the federal district courts
of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any claims asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.

Any person or entity purchasing, holding or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this provision.
This exclusive forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with us or our directors, stockholders, officers or
other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, stockholders, officers and other employees. However, while the Delaware Supreme Court has
ruled that federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities Act be brought in federal court are “facially valid” under Delaware law, there is
uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our federal forum provision. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities
laws and the rules and regulations thereunder as a result of our exclusive forum provisions. If a court were to find either exclusive forum provision in our Bylaws to be
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could harm our results of operations.

Charter documents and Delaware law could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and could also reduce the market price of our stock.

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of the Company. These provisions could also make it more
difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. These provisions include:

• authorizing our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could discourage a takeover attempt or delay changes in
control;

• certain of our shareholders, including our founders, hold sufficient voting power to control voting for election of directors and amend our Certificate of Incorporation;

• prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;

• providing that vacancies on our Board of Directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less than a quorum;

• limiting the liability of, and providing for the indemnification of, our directors and officers;

• prohibiting the adoption, amendment or repeal of our Bylaws or the repeal of the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation regarding the election and removal of
directors without the required approval of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors;

• enabling our Board of Directors to amend the Bylaws, which may allow our Board of Directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit
the ability of an acquirer to amend the Bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

• prohibiting stockholder action by written consent;

• limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders; and

• requiring advance notification of stockholder nominations and proposals, which could preclude Stockholders who do not comply with such requirements from
bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our Board of Directors and also may discourage or deter a potential acquirer
from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.
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These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to
replace members of our Board of Directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL
govern Aurora. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with
Aurora for a certain period of time without the consent of its Board of Directors unless certain provisions are met.

These and other provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and under Delaware law could discourage potential takeover attempts, reduce the price
investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock and result in the market price of our common stock being lower than it would be without these
provisions.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and officers may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party claims against us and may reduce the amount of
money available to us.

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, our Bylaws and our indemnification agreements that we entered into with our directors and officers provide that:

• We will indemnify our directors and officers for serving the Company in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the fullest extent
permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such
person’s conduct was unlawful;

• We may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law;

• We will be required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such directors or officers
shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification;

• We will not be obligated pursuant to our Bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated by that person against the Company or our other
indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our Board of Directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification;

• The rights conferred in our Bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with our directors, officers, employees and agents
and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons; and

• We may not retroactively amend our Bylaws provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors, officers, employees and agents.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We expect to retain future
earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business. Any future determination to pay dividends on our capital stock will be at the discretion of our Board.
Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of our common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management’s attention.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile and, in the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to
securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against the Company could result in substantial costs and divert
management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm its business.
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Future resales of common stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock in the public market could occur at any time. As of December 31, 2024, we had 1,383 million
shares of our Class A common stock and 350 million shares of our Class B common stock outstanding. If our stockholders sell, or the market perceives that our stockholders
intend to sell, substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline significantly.

In connection with the Merger, certain holders of our Class A common stock (the “Lock-Up Parties”) entered into lockup agreements (the “Lockup Agreements”),
pursuant to which they are contractually restricted from selling or transferring any of their shares of our Class A or Class B common stock (the “Lock-up Shares”) for certain
periods of time, subject to certain exceptions. Under the Lockup Agreements, such lock-up restrictions began at the closing of the Merger (the “Closing”) and end in tranches of
25% of the Lock-Up Parties’ Lock-up Shares at each of (i) November 3, 2022, (ii) November 3, 2023, (iii) November 3, 2024 and (iv) November 3, 2025. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, (i) each of Mr. Urmson, Mr. Anderson and Mr. Bagnell (collectively, the “Aurora Founders”) may sell Registrable Securities (as defined in the Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement entered into in connection with the Merger) up to an amount of $25 million each and (ii) if, after Closing, Aurora completes a
transaction that results in a change of control, the Lock-Up Parties’ Lock-up Shares are released from restriction immediately prior to such change of control (collectively, the
“Lock-Up Exceptions”). Under the Sponsor Agreement dated July 14, 2021, the Sponsor’s Lock-up Shares are subject to the same releases as the Lock-Up Parties’ Lock-
up Shares, except the Sponsor’s Lock-up Shares are not subject to Lock-up Exceptions.

Once such securities are released from lock-up restrictions, the applicable stockholders will not be restricted from selling shares of our common stock held by them,
other than by applicable securities laws. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the
perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock.

As restrictions on resale end, the sale or possibility of sale of these shares could have the effect of increasing the volatility in our share price or the market price of our
common stock could decline if the holders of currently restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them.

Moreover, in connection with the private placement of approximately 222 million shares of our Class A common stock in 2023 (the “Private Placement”), we filed a
registration statement with the SEC for the registration for resale of the securities sold in the Private Placement. If any of these additional shares are sold, or if it is perceived that
they will be sold, in the public market, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline.

The market price and trading volume of our common stock may be volatile and could decline significantly.

The stock markets, including Nasdaq on which we list our shares of Class A common stock, have from time to time experienced significant price and volume
fluctuations. The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile and could decline significantly. In addition, the trading volume in our Class A common stock may
fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. If the market price of our Class A common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares at an
attractive price (or at all). The market price of our Class A common stock could fluctuate widely or decline significantly in the future in response to a number of factors. In such
circumstances, the trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline.

Factors affecting the trading price of our securities may include:

• the realization of any of the risk factors presented in this Annual Report;

• our ability to bring our products to market on a timely basis, or at all;

• any major change in our management or Board;

• our ability to adhere to the anticipated timelines on our product roadmap to commercial launch of Aurora Driver for Freight and/or progress in the Autonomy
Readiness Measure that does not meet the expectations of the market;

• poor performance or fluctuations of the Autonomy Performance Indicator;

• changes in the industries in which we and our customers operate;

• developments involving, or successes of, our competitors;

• changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;
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• actual or anticipated differences in our estimates, the estimates of analysts, or changes in the market’s expectations for our revenues, results of operations, level of
indebtedness, liquidity or financial condition;

• additions and departures of key personnel;

• failure to comply with the requirements of Nasdaq;

• failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or other laws or regulations;

• future issuances, sales, resales or repurchases or anticipated issuances, sales, resales or repurchases, of our securities;

• the volume of shares of our Class A common stock available for public sale;

• publication of research reports, financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;

• the public’s reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC;

• actions by stockholders, including the sale by our directors, executive officers or significant investors of any of their shares of our common stock or the perception that
such sales could occur;

• the performance, financial results and market valuations of other companies that are, or are perceived to be, similar to us;

• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving us;

• broad disruptions in the financial markets, including sudden disruptions in the credit markets;

• speculation in the press or investment community;

• actual, potential or perceived control, accounting or reporting problems;

• changes in accounting principles, policies and guidelines;

• cyber events involving us;

• general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices, bank failures and international currency fluctuations; and

• other events or factors, including those resulting from infectious diseases, health epidemics and pandemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), natural disasters, war
(including Russia’s actions in Ukraine and the conflicts in the Middle East), acts of terrorism or responses to these events.

Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities irrespective of our operating performance. The stock market in general
experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the particular companies affected. The trading
prices and valuations of these stocks, and of our securities, may not be predictable. A loss of investor confidence in the market for stocks of other companies which investors
perceive to be similar to ours could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. A decline in the market price of our
securities also could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability to obtain additional financing in the future.

In the past, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their shares. This type of
litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on us.
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The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with the Aurora Founders. This will limit or preclude your ability to influence
corporate matters, including the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control.

Our Class B common stock has 10 votes per share, and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. Shares held by the Aurora Founders represent approximately
47% of the voting control of the Company as of December 31, 2024. Therefore, the Aurora Founders, individually or together, will be able to significantly influence matters
submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or
substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions. The Aurora Founders, individually or together, may have interests that differ from yours and may vote in a
way with which you disagree and which may be adverse to your interests. This concentrated control may have the effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change in control
of our company, could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their capital stock as part of a sale of our company and might ultimately affect the
market price of our Class A common stock.

Future transfers by the holders of our Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting into shares of our Class A common stock, subject to limited
exceptions, such as certain transfers effected for estate planning or charitable purposes. In addition, each share of our Class B common stock will convert automatically into one
share of our Class A common stock upon (i) the date specified by affirmative written election of the holders of two-thirds of the then-outstanding shares of our Class B common
stock, (ii) the date set by our board of directors that is no less than 61 days and no more than 180 days following the date on which the shares of our Class B common stock
held by the Aurora Founders and their permitted entities and permitted transferees represent less than 20% of our Class B common stock held by the Aurora Founders and their
permitted entities as of immediately following the closing of the Merger or (iii) nine months after the death or total disability of the last to die or become disabled of the Aurora
Founders, or such later date not to exceed a total period of 18 months after such death or disability as may be approved by a majority of our independent directors.

We cannot predict the impact our dual class structure may have on our stock price.

We cannot predict whether our dual-class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our Class A common stock, in adverse publicity, or other
adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have announced restrictions on including companies with dual-class share structures in certain of their indices.
Under such announced policies, the dual-class structure of our common stock would make us ineligible for inclusion in certain indices and, as a result, mutual funds, exchange-
traded funds, and other investment vehicles that attempt to track those indices would not invest in our Class A common stock. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into
passive strategies that seek to track certain indices, exclusion from certain stock indices would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our Class A
common stock less attractive to other investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.

The exercise of warrants for our Class A common stock would increase the number of shares eligible for future resale in the public market and result in dilution to our
stockholders.

As of December 31, 2024, we had warrants to purchase an aggregate of 21 million shares of our Class A common stock outstanding, comprising 12 million public
warrants and 9 million private placement warrants. These warrants became exercisable 30 days after the completion of the Merger. The likelihood that those warrants will be
exercised increases if the trading price of shares of our Class A common stock exceeds the exercise price of the warrants. The exercise price of these warrants is $11.50 per
share.

There is no guarantee that the warrants will become in the money prior to their expiration on November 3, 2026, and as such, the warrants may expire worthless.

To the extent the warrants are exercised, additional shares of our Class A common stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to the holders of our common stock
and increase the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of shares issued upon the exercise of warrants in the public market or the
potential that such warrants may be exercised could also adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.
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We may redeem unexpired public warrants prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to their holders, thereby making public warrants worthless.

We have the ability to redeem the outstanding public warrants at any time prior to their expiration at a price of $0.01 per warrant, if and only if, the last reported sales
price of our Class A common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a
warrant) for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders (the
“Reference Value”). If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying
securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws. Redemption of the outstanding warrants as described above could force you to: (1) exercise your warrants and pay
the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for you to do so; (2) sell your warrants at the then-current market price when you might otherwise wish to
hold your warrants; or (3) accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding warrants are called for redemption, we expect would be substantially less than
the market value of your warrants. None of the private placement warrants will be redeemable by us in such a case so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted
transferees, but the Sponsor has agreed to exercise all of its private placement warrants for cash or on a “cashless basis” on or prior to the redemption date, in the event that the
Reference Value exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant) and we elect to redeem
the public warrants pursuant to the Warrant Agreement and notify the Sponsor of such election and the redemption date on or prior to the date we mail a notice of redemption to
the holders of the public warrants.

In addition, we will have the ability to redeem the outstanding warrants (including the private placement warrants if the Reference Value is less than $18.00 per share) for
shares of our common stock at any time prior to their expiration, at a price of $0.10 per warrant if, among other things, the Reference Value equals or exceeds $10.00 per share
(as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant). In such a case, the holders will be able to exercise their warrants
prior to redemption for a number of shares of our common stock determined based on the redemption date and the fair market value of our common stock. The value received
upon exercise of the warrants (1) may be less than the value the holders would have received if they had exercised their warrants at a later time where the underlying share price
is higher and (2) may not compensate the holders for the value of the warrants, including because the number of shares received is capped at 0.361 shares of our Class A
common stock per warrant (subject to adjustment) irrespective of the remaining life of the warrants.

In the event we elect to redeem the warrants that are subject to redemption, we will mail the notice of redemption by first class mail, postage prepaid, not less than thirty
days prior to the redemption date to the registered holders of the warrants to be redeemed at their last addresses as they appear on the registration books. Any notice mailed in
such manner will be conclusively presumed to have been duly given whether or not the registered holder received such notice and we are not required to provide any notice to
the beneficial owners of such warrants. Additionally, while we are required to provide such notice of redemption, we are not separately required to, and do not currently intend
to, notify any holders of when the warrants become eligible for redemption. If you do not exercise your warrants in connection with a redemption, including because you are
unaware that such warrants are being redeemed, you would only receive the nominal redemption price for your warrants.

If securities or industry analysts do not continue to publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or the market in which we operate, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our securities adversely, the price and trading volume of our securities could decline.

The trading market for our securities will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, market or
competitors. If any of the analysts who cover us change their recommendation regarding our shares of common stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative
recommendations about our competitors, the price of our Class A common stock would likely decline. If any analyst who covers us were to cease the coverage of us or fail to
regularly publish reports on it, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
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Future issuances of debt securities and equity securities may adversely affect us, including the market price of our Class A common stock and may be dilutive to existing
stockholders.

In the future, we may incur debt or issue equity ranking senior to our Class A common stock. Those securities will generally have priority upon liquidation. Such
securities also may be governed by an indenture or other instrument containing covenants restricting its operating flexibility. Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable
securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our Class A common stock. Because our decision to issue debt or
equity in the future will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, nature or success of our future
capital raising efforts. As a result, future capital raising efforts may reduce the market price of our Class A common stock and be dilutive to existing stockholders.

Our failure to meet the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq could result in a delisting of our securities.

If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq such as the corporate governance requirements or the minimum closing bid price requirement, Nasdaq
may take steps to delist our securities. Such a delisting would likely have a negative effect on the price of the securities and would impair your ability to sell or purchase the
securities when you wish to do so. In the event of a delisting, we can provide no assurance that any action taken by us to restore compliance with listing requirements would
allow our securities to become listed again, stabilize the market price or improve the liquidity of our securities, prevent our securities from dropping below the Nasdaq
minimum bid price requirement or prevent future non-compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements. Additionally, if our securities are not listed on, or become delisted from,
Nasdaq for any reason, and are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, an inter-dealer automated quotation system for equity securities that is not a national securities exchange, the
liquidity and price of our securities may be more limited than if we were quoted or listed on Nasdaq or another national securities exchange. You may be unable to sell your
securities unless a market can be established or sustained.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Risk Management and Strategy

Aurora’s Information Security team has implemented a robust cybersecurity risk management program in order to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of
the Company’s products, infrastructure, and data. The program, which is integrated with our overall risk management system, aims to identify, assess, and mitigate
cybersecurity risks for both the product and the organization. It includes a cybersecurity incident response procedure (“CIRP”) that defines roles and responsibilities during
cybersecurity incidents, outlines incident handling procedures, including detection, investigation, and mitigation of incidents, and provides a framework for assessing incidents.
Aurora’s CIRP contributes to satisfaction of certain elements of Aurora’s Safety Case. Additionally, the CIRP is referenced in and integrated into the Company’s Cross-
Functional Incident Response Plan, which serves as an outline of the actions to be taken across the Company immediately following a vehicle incident.

Aurora’s Information Security team reports to and is led by our Vice President, Head of Security Engineering, who is responsible for structuring and driving all
cybersecurity initiatives at Aurora. This individual regularly reports cybersecurity progress to our Board of Directors, as well as senior leadership across the Company.
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The Information Security team proactively reports, on a company-wide basis, the status of cybersecurity initiatives and risks, along with various assessments of our
information security programs and the emerging threat landscape. We also perform periodic assessments and audits internally and also leverage third party experts, and the
results of such assessments and audits are reported directly to senior leadership. Following these risk assessments, we re-design, implement, and maintain reasonable safeguards
to minimize identified risks, reasonably address any identified gaps in existing safeguards and regularly monitor the effectiveness of our safeguards. We also actively engage
with key partners, vendors, customers, industry participants, government entities, intelligence and law enforcement communities as part of our continuing efforts to evaluate and
enhance the effectiveness of our information security policies and procedures, especially around self-driving / autonomous vehicles. We work to identify, assess, and oversee
risks from cybersecurity threats associated with third-party service providers, including, where appropriate, by contractually requiring third-party service providers to promptly
inform us of incidents impacting their systems that could result in access to, loss, or unavailability of Aurora’s data. In addition, prior to engagement, we conduct thorough
security assessments of all third-party service providers that handle confidential Aurora information or connect to Aurora computing environments. Such assessments include
analysis of the service providers’ data handling practices and the security of their integrations with Aurora’s systems. This approach is designed to mitigate risks related to
cybersecurity threats originating from third-parties.

Risks from Threats and Incidents

We are subject to risks from cybersecurity threats and incidents to our vehicles and cloud infrastructure, including operational systems, security systems, integrated
software and partners’ data processed by us or third-party vendors or suppliers. However, as of December 31, 2024, we do not believe such risks have materially affected or are
reasonably likely to materially affect the Company, including the Company’s business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. For additional information
regarding risks from cybersecurity threats, please refer to Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the risk factors entitled “Risks Related to
Our Business Operations.”

Governance

Our information security management team is responsible for assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. Our Vice President, Head of Security
Engineering has more than thirty-five plus years of experience as a security expert and more than twenty-five plus years of experience leading information security teams at
renowned technology companies.

Members of our security operations team are responsible for notifying the information security management team about cybersecurity incidents. The information security
management team is responsible for assessing cybersecurity incidents; managing the analysis, mitigation, and remediation of incidents; and conferring with other members of
management about incidents, including the Chief Information Security Officer and other members of our senior executive management team.

Our Audit Committee, composed of members of our Board of Directors, oversees risks from cybersecurity threats and our cybersecurity risk management program as an
integrated part of our overall risk management processes. We conduct quarterly assessments to identify and evaluate cybersecurity threats and present our findings to the Audit
Committee. In consultation with the Disclosure Committee, we also notify the Audit Committee about cybersecurity incidents and risks related to cybersecurity incidents. The
Audit Committee is responsible for advising the Company on appropriate incident response steps.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, where we lease approximately 556,000 square feet of office and industrial space pursuant to leases that
expire between 2025 and 2035. Our Pittsburgh facilities contain research and development and general and administrative functions. We lease two test track facilities in
Pittsburgh of approximately 56 acres pursuant with the leases set to expire in 2025 and 2026. We lease approximately 111,000 square feet of office and industrial space in
Mountain View, California and approximately 78,000 square feet of office and industrial space in Bozeman, Montana. We lease other office and industrial facilities in San
Francisco, California; Dallas/Fort Worth, Texas; El Paso, Texas; Houston, Texas; Seattle, Washington; Livonia, Michigan and Louisville, Colorado.

We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable for our current needs and that, should it be needed, suitable additional or alternative space will be available to
accommodate our operations.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are from time to time subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. However, we do
not consider any such claims, lawsuits or proceedings that are currently pending, individually or in the aggregate, to be material to our business or likely to result in a material
adverse effect on our future operating results, financial condition or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

Our Class A common stock is listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “AUR” and our warrants to purchase shares of Class A common stock are listed on Nasdaq under the
symbol “AUROW”. Our Class B common stock is neither listed nor traded.

Dividend Policy

We have not paid any cash dividends on our Class A common stock to date. We may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment
and have no current plans to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our board of
directors and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors that the board of
directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be limited by covenants of any future outstanding indebtedness that we or our subsidiaries incur. We
do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of the Class A common stock in the foreseeable future.

Holders

As of February 7, 2025 there were 67 holders of record of our Class A common stock and 24 holders of record of our Class B common stock. The number of Class A
common stock beneficial owners is substantially greater than the number of holders of record due to holders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in “street
name” by banks, brokers and other nominees. There is currently no established public trading market for our Class B common stock.

As of February 7, 2025, there were 2 holders of record of warrants exercisable for shares of Class A common stock at a price of $11.50 per share.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Offerings

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.
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Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated
by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act.

The following graph compares (i) the cumulative total stockholder return on our Class A common stock from May 10, 2021, the day on which our Class A common
stock commenced trading on Nasdaq (which, prior to our domestication to a Delaware corporation in connection with the Merger, were referred to Class A ordinary shares),
through December 31, 2024 with (ii) the cumulative total return of the S&P 500 Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index over the same period, assuming the investment of $100
in our common stock and in both of the other indices on May 10, 2021 and the reinvestment of dividends. The graph uses the closing market price on May 10, 2021 of $10 per
share as the initial value of our Class A common stock. As discussed above, we have never declared or paid a cash dividend on our Class A common stock and do not anticipate
declaring or paying a cash dividend in the foreseeable future.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of several factors, including those set forth in “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” and
under the heading “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to “Aurora,” “we,” “us,” “our” and other similar terms in this section refer to Aurora
Innovation, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. Percentage amounts have not in all cases been calculated on the basis of rounded figures, but on the basis of such amounts
prior to rounding. For this reason, percentage amounts may vary from those obtained by performing the same calculations using the figures in our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Certain other amounts that appear in this Annual Report may not sum due to rounding.

Corporate History and Background

On November 3, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), Aurora Innovation, Inc. (f/k/a Reinvent Technology Partners Y and referred to herein as the “Company”), consummated a
business combination with Aurora Innovation Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (f/k/a Aurora Innovation, Inc. and referred to herein as “Legacy Aurora”), and RTPY
Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”), pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated July 14,
2021 (the “Merger Agreement” and the transactions contemplated thereby, the “Merger”), by and among the Company, Legacy Aurora and Merger Sub. Pursuant to the terms of
the Merger Agreement, a business combination between the Company and Legacy Aurora was effected through the merger of Merger Sub with and into Legacy Aurora, with
Legacy Aurora continuing as the surviving company and as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On the Closing Date, the Company changed its name from Reinvent
Technology Partners Y to Aurora Innovation, Inc.

Aurora’s Business

Aurora is developing the Aurora Driver based on what we believe to be the most advanced and scalable suite of self-driving hardware, software, and data services in the
world to fundamentally transform the global transportation market. The Aurora Driver is designed as a platform to adapt and interoperate amongst vehicle types and
applications. To date, it has been successfully integrated into numerous different vehicle platforms: from passenger vehicles to light commercial vehicles to Class 8 trucks. By
creating one driver system for multiple vehicle types and use cases, Aurora’s capabilities in one market reinforce and strengthen its competitive advantages in others. For
example, highway driving capabilities developed for trucking will carry over to highway segments driven by passenger vehicles in ride-hailing applications. We believe this
approach will enable us to target and transform the transportation landscape, including trucking, passenger mobility, and local goods delivery market.

We expect that the Aurora Driver will ultimately be commercialized in a Driver as a Service (“DaaS”) business model, in which customers or third parties will purchase,
manage, and maintain fleets directly, while subscribing to the Aurora Driver and a suite of related services. We do not intend to own nor operate a large number of vehicles
ourselves. Throughout commercialization, we expect to earn revenue on a fee per mile basis. We intend to partner with OEMs, Tier 1 automotive suppliers, fleet operators, and
other third parties to commercialize and support Aurora Driver-powered vehicles. We expect that these strategic partners will support activities such as vehicle and hardware
manufacturing, financing and leasing, service and maintenance, parts replacement, facility ownership and operation, and other commercial and operational services as needed.
We expect this DaaS model to enable an asset-light and high margin revenue stream for Aurora, while allowing us to scale more rapidly through partnerships. During the start of
commercialization, though, we expect to briefly operate our own logistics and mobility services, where we own or lease and operate a small fleet of vehicles equipped with our
Aurora Driver. This level of control is useful during early commercialization as we define operational processes and playbooks for our partners.

We plan to first launch Aurora Driver for Freight, our driverless trucking subscription service, as we believe that is where we can make the largest impact the fastest,
given the massive industry demand, attractive unit economics, and the ability to deploy on high volume highway-focused routes. Future success will be dependent on our ability
to execute against our product roadmap to launch Aurora Driver for Freight. From there, we plan to leverage the extensibility of the Aurora Driver to deploy and scale into the
passenger mobility market with Aurora Driver for Rides (formerly Aurora Connect), our driverless ride hailing subscription service, and in the longer-term the local goods
delivery market.
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Significant Events and Transactions

Public Offering

On August 2, 2024, the Company completed a public offering (the “2024 Public Offering”) of approximately 134 million shares of Class A common stock at a price of
$3.60 per share, for proceeds of $466 million, net of transaction costs, including the full exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option.

Global Economic Conditions

Unfavorable conditions in the economy in the United States and abroad may negatively affect the growth of our business and our results of operations. For example,
macroeconomic events, including rising inflation, tensions in U.S.-China relations, the COVID-19 pandemic, high interest rates, recent and potential future disruptions in access
to bank deposits and lending commitments due to bank failures, the Russia-Ukraine war, and the conflicts in the Middle East have led to economic uncertainty and volatility
globally. The effect of macroeconomic conditions may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods. Moreover, negative macroeconomic conditions
could adversely impact our ability to obtain financing in the future on terms acceptable to us, or at all. In addition, the geopolitical instability and related sanctions could
continue to have significant ramifications on global financial markets, including volatility in the United States. Our operating results could be materially impacted by these
changes and other changes in the overall macroeconomic environment and other economic factors.

Comparison of the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2024 to the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

$ Change % Change(in millions, except for percentages) 2024 2023
Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 676 $ 716 $ (40) (6) %
Selling, general and administrative 110 119 (9) (8) %

Total operating expenses 786 835 (49) (6) %
Loss from operations (786) (835) 49 (6) %

Other income (expense):
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities (24) (20) (4) 20 %
Other income, net 62 59 3 5%

Loss before income taxes (748) (796) 48 (6) %
Income tax expense — — — n/m

Net loss $ (748) $ (796) $ 48 (6) %

Not meaningful.

Operating expenses

Research and development expenses decreased by $40 million, or 6%, to $676 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 from $716 million in the twelve
months ended December 31, 2023, primarily driven by decreases in non-cash stock-based compensation, hardware costs for development fleets, and personnel costs. Research
and development expenses included non-cash stock-based compensation of $122 million and $139 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by $9 million, or 8%, to $110 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 from $119 million in the
twelve months ended December 31, 2023 primarily driven by decreases in insurance costs and other general and administrative costs. Selling, general and administrative
expenses included non-cash stock-based compensation of $22 million and $21 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Other income (expense)

The change in fair value of derivative liabilities resulted in expense of $24 million and $20 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, primarily due to the change in the market price for the underlying instrument.

(1)

(1) 
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Other income, net increased by $3 million, or 5%, to $62 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, from $59 million in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2023, primarily due to an increase in interest income earned on cash equivalents and investments.

Comparison of the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2023 to the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2022

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

$ Change % Change(in millions, except for percentages) 2023 2022
Collaboration revenue $ — $ 68 $ (68) n/m
Operating expenses:

Research and development 716 677 39 6 %
Selling, general and administrative 119 129 (10) (8) %
Goodwill impairment — 1,114 (1,114) n/m

Total operating expenses 835 1,920 (1,085) (57) %
Loss from operations (835) (1,852) 1,017 (55) %

Other income (expense):
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities (20) 114 (134) (118) %
Other income, net 59 15 44 293%

Loss before income taxes (796) (1,723) 927 (54) %
Income tax expense — — — n/m

Net loss $ (796) $ (1,723) $ 927 (54) %

Not meaningful.

Collaboration revenue

Collaboration revenue was $68 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 under the collaboration project plan with Toyota Motor Corporation.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had recognized all revenue associated with cash payments received under the collaboration project plan and, as a result, no
revenue was recognized during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023.

Operating expenses

Research and development expenses increased by $39 million, or 6%, to $716 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 from $677 million in the twelve
months ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by an increase in personnel and software development costs, partially offset by a decrease in hardware development costs.
Research and development expenses included non-cash stock-based compensation of $139 million and $137 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by $10 million, or 8%, to $119 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 from $129 million in the
twelve months ended December 31, 2022, primarily driven by a decrease in insurance costs. Selling, general and administrative expenses included non-cash stock-based
compensation of $21 million and $19 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Company recognized goodwill impairment of $1,114 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2022 as a result of goodwill impairment assessments
performed due to significant declines in the market price of the Company’s Class A common stock and its market capitalization. No goodwill impairment was recorded during
the twelve months ended December 31, 2023.

Other income (expense)

The change in fair value of derivative liabilities resulted in expense of $20 million and income of $114 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, primarily due to the change in the market price for the underlying instrument.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Other income, net was $59 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, compared to $15 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2022, primarily
due to an increase in interest income earned on cash equivalents and investments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, our principal sources of liquidity were $211 million of cash and cash equivalents and $1,012 million of short-term investments, exclusive of
restricted cash of $16 million. Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of money market funds and U.S. Treasury securities as well as commercial paper. Investments consist
of primarily U.S. Treasury securities as well as corporate bonds.

We have incurred negative cash flows from operating activities and significant losses from operations in the past. We expect to continue to incur operating losses and that
we will need to opportunistically raise additional capital to support the continued development and commercialization of the Aurora Driver. We believe our cash on hand and
short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least twelve months from the date of this Annual
Report.

Cash Flows

Cash flows for the periods were as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Net cash used in operating activities $ (611) $ (598) $ (508)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (172) 8 (852)
Net cash provided by financing activities 492 831 11 

Net (decrease) increase (291) 241 (1,349)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of the period 518 277 1,626 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of the period $ 227 $ 518 $ 277 

Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities increased by $13 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 from $598 million for the twelve months ended December
31, 2023 primarily due to advanced payments for hardware materials for fleet builds partially offset by decreases in other operating expenditures.

Net cash used in operating activities increased by $90 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 from $508 million for the twelve months ended December
31, 2022 primarily due to receipts in the comparative period of the final payments under the collaboration project plan with Toyota.

Cash Flows (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased by $180 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 from $8 million of net cash provided in the twelve months
ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the net purchases of short-term investments compared to net maturities in the comparative period.

Net cash provided by investing activities increased by $860 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 from $852 million of net cash used in the twelve
months ended December 31, 2022 primarily due to the net purchases of short-term investments in the comparative period.

Cash used for purchases of property and equipment were $34 million, $15 million and $15 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased by $339 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 from $831 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2023 due to lower net proceeds received from equity fundraising.
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Net cash provided by financing activities increased by $820 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2023 from $11 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2022 due to net proceeds received from the Private Placement and Public Offering.

Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies

Aurora may be party to various claims within the normal course of business. Legal fees and other costs associated with such actions are expensed as incurred. We assess
the need to record a liability for litigation and other loss contingencies, with reserve estimates recorded if we determine that a loss related to the matter is both probable and
reasonably estimable. No material losses were recorded in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The Company has entered into a contract for cloud hosting services under which non-cancelable future minimum payments as of December 31, 2024 are: $64 million for
2025, $38 million for 2026, $0 million for 2027, and $0 million for 2028. Commitments under operating lease contracts are detailed within Note 9 – Leases to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or U.S. GAAP. Preparation of the financial
statements requires our management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amount of revenue and operating and other expenses, assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We consider an accounting judgment, estimate or assumption to be critical when (1) the estimate or assumption
is complex in nature or requires a high degree of judgment and (2) the use of different judgments, estimates and assumptions could have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Acquisition Related Intangible Assets

Acquired intangible assets primarily consist of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) from the Company’s historical acquisitions. IPR&D assets are reviewed
for impairment considerations annually on December 31, or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If indicators of
impairment exist, the Company calculates the value of the assets with significant estimates and assumptions utilized in the valuation of certain intangible assets include, but are
not limited to, estimated replacement cost, profit margin, opportunity cost, useful lives, and discount rates. Estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be
reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates.

Valuation of Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess purchase consideration of acquired businesses over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortized but is
evaluated for impairment annually on December 31, or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying amount of
goodwill exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of goodwill over its implied fair value.

During the second and fourth quarters of 2022, the market price of the Company’s Class A common stock and its market capitalization declined significantly. As a result,
the Company determined that triggering events had occurred and goodwill impairment assessments were performed.

The Company utilized a market approach valuation method utilizing the observable market price of the Company’s Class A common stock as it represented the best
evidence of the fair value of its reporting unit. Based on the results of the goodwill impairment assessment, the Company recognized a $1,114 million goodwill impairment
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. The carrying value of goodwill was $- as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.
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Valuation of Derivative Liabilities

The Company accounts for shares held by Reinvent Sponsor Y LLC (the “Sponsor”) not forfeited under the terms of the Merger Agreement and subject to price based
vesting terms (the “Earnout Shares”) as derivative liabilities. The liability is measured at fair value on a recurring basis utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation analysis with any
changes in fair value reflected in the statement of operations until the vesting conditions are met or the shares expire.

The Monte Carlo simulation analysis is dependent upon management estimates and assumptions, primarily related to expected volatility and risk-free interest rates. The
expected volatility is determined based on a blended rate of our historical volatility as well as the historical equity volatility of comparable companies over a period that
matches the expected term of the instrument. The risk-free interest rate is based on relevant U.S. treasury rates for a period that matches the expected term of the instrument.

Recently Adopted and Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for recently adopted
accounting pronouncements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to a variety of market and other risks, including the effects of changes in interest rates, and inflation, as well as risks to the availability of funding
sources, hazard events, and specific asset risks.

Interest Rate Risk

Our results of operations are directly exposed to changes in interest rates, among other macroeconomic conditions. Interest rate risk is highly sensitive to many factors,
including governmental monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations, and other factors beyond our control.

We do not believe that an increase or decrease in interest rates of 100-basis points would have a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations, other than its impact on the general economy.
Nonetheless, if our costs were to become subject to inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to
do so could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Aurora Innovation, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aurora Innovation, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive loss, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and
2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established
in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which
it relates.

Research and Development Costs

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, research and development costs are expensed as incurred, and consist primarily of personnel costs, hardware
and electrical engineering prototyping, cloud computing, data labeling, and third-party development services. The Company’s research and development expense for the year
ended December 31, 2024 was $676 million.

The principal consideration for our determination that performing procedures relating to research and development costs is a critical audit matter is a high degree of auditor
effort in performing procedures related to the Company’s research and development costs.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to research and development costs. These procedures also included, among others, (i) testing the
accuracy and completeness of research and development costs on a sample basis, which included tracing relevant information to the underlying contract, purchase orders,
invoices received, and information received from certain third-party service providers, where applicable, and (ii) developing an independent expectation of payroll expense
based on headcount and salary information and comparing to payroll expenses recorded by management, and evaluating the classification of payroll expense to research and
development costs.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

February 14, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Aurora Innovation, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Aurora Innovation, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2022, the related consolidated
statement of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended , in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2018 to 2023.

Santa Clara, California
February 21, 2023 except for Note 14, as to which the date is February 14, 2025
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Aurora Innovation, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in millions)

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 211 $ 501 
Short-term investments 1,012 699 
Other current assets 31 17 

Total current assets 1,254 1,217 
Property and equipment, net 104 94 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 120 122 
Acquisition related intangible assets 617 617 
Long-term investments — 148 
Other assets 43 37 

Total assets $ 2,138 $ 2,235 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Operating lease liabilities, current $ 16 $ 15 
Other current liabilities 89 96 

Total current liabilities 105 111 
Operating lease liabilities, long-term 105 107 
Derivative liabilities 48 24 
Other liabilities 5 8 

Total liabilities 263 250 
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock - $0.00001 par value, 51,000 shares authorized,
            1,733 and 1,529 shares issued and outstanding, respectively — — 

Additional paid-in capital 6,232 5,594 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1 1 
Accumulated deficit (4,358) (3,610)

Total stockholders’ equity 1,875 1,985 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2,138 $ 2,235 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Aurora Innovation, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in millions, except per share data)

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Collaboration revenue $ — $ — $ 68 
Operating expenses:

Research and development 676 716 677 
Selling, general and administrative 110 119 129 
Goodwill impairment — — 1,114 

Total operating expenses 786 835 1,920 
Loss from operations (786) (835) (1,852)

Other income (expense):
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities (24) (20) 114 
Other income, net 62 59 15 

Loss before income taxes (748) (796) (1,723)
Income tax expense — — — 

Net loss $ (748) $ (796) $ (1,723)

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.46) $ (0.60) $ (1.51)

Basic and diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 1,618 1,327 1,143 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Aurora Innovation, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in millions)

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Net loss $ (748) $ (796) $ (1,723)
Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments — 3 (2)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — 3 (2)
Comprehensive loss $ (748) $ (793) $ (1,725)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Aurora Innovation, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(in millions, except per share data)

Common stock Additional
paid-in capital

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
(loss) income

Accumulated
deficit

Total
stockholders’

equityShares Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2021 1,123 $ — $ 4,433 $ — $ (1,091) $ 3,342 

Equity issued under incentive compensation plans 43 — 11 — — 11 
Stock-based compensation — — 156 — — 156 
Comprehensive loss — — — (2) (1,723) (1,725)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 1,166 — 4,600 (2) (2,814) 1,784 
Equity issued under incentive compensation plans 57 — 6 — — 6 
Issuance of common stock in private placement, net of issuance costs 222 — 584 — — 584 
Issuance of common stock in public offering, net of issuance costs 84 — 244 — — 244 
Stock-based compensation — — 160 — — 160 
Comprehensive income (loss) — — — 3 (796) (793)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 1,529 — 5,594 1 (3,610) 1,985 
Equity issued under incentive compensation plans 70 — 28 — — 28 
Issuance of common stock in public offering, net of issuance costs 134 — 466 — — 466 
Stock-based compensation — — 144 — — 144 
Comprehensive loss — — — — (748) (748)

Balance as of December 31, 2024 1,733 $ — $ 6,232 $ 1 $ (4,358) $ 1,875 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Aurora Innovation, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss $ (748) $ (796) $ (1,723)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 21 21 22 
Reduction in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets 28 27 28 
Stock-based compensation 144 160 156 
Goodwill impairment — — 1,114 
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities 24 20 (114)
Accretion of discount on investments (28) (28) — 
Other operating activities (1) — (3)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Other current and non-current assets (22) 1 47 
Operating lease liabilities (26) (25) (25)
Other current and non-current liabilities (3) 22 (10)

Net cash used in operating activities (611) (598) (508)
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment (34) (15) (15)
Purchases of investments (1,030) (1,297) (1,610)
Maturities of investments 892 1,320 773 

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (172) 8 (852)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 497 840 13 
Other financing activities (5) (9) (2)

Net cash provided by financing activities 492 831 11 
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (291) 241 (1,349)

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of the period 518 277 1,626 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of the period $ 227 $ 518 $ 277 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Aurora Innovation, Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Overview of the Organization

Aurora Innovation, Inc. (the “Company” or “Aurora”) is headquartered in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania and its mission is to deliver the benefits of self-driving technology safely,
quickly, and broadly. The Company is developing the Aurora Driver, an advanced and scalable suite of self-driving hardware, software and data services designed as a platform
to adapt and interoperate amongst vehicle types and applications.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions between the Company and
its controlled subsidiaries have been eliminated.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Collaboration Revenue

In January 2021, the Company entered into a collaboration framework agreement with Toyota Motor Corporation (“Toyota”) with the intention of deploying the Aurora Driver
into a fleet of Toyota vehicles, subject to further agreement of a collaboration project plan that was signed in August 2021.

Collaboration revenue is recognized using the input measure of hours expended as a percentage of total estimated hours to complete the collaboration project plan. Differences
between collaboration revenue recognized and payments collected under the agreement are recognized as a contract asset or contract liability at the end of each reporting period.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents are deposits and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of change
including due to interest rate, quoted price, or penalty of withdrawal. U.S. Treasury securities with a maturity, when purchased, of 90 days or less are considered to be cash
equivalents.

Restricted cash consists of funds that are contractually restricted as to usage or withdrawal, typically due to the Company’s operating lease agreements. Due to these restrictions,
the Company has presented restricted cash separately from cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet within other current assets and other assets on the consolidated
balance sheet.

Short-term and Long-term Investments

The Company’s short-term and long-term investments in U.S. Treasury securities, commercial paper, and corporate bonds have been classified and accounted for as available-
for-sale. The Company measures short-term and long-term investments at fair value on a recurring basis based on quoted market prices, and unrealized gains and losses, net of
taxes, are included in other comprehensive loss. Upon sale, realized gains and losses are recognized in other income (expense), net on the statements of operations. No
impairment losses have been recognized on short-term and long-term investments in the periods presented.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. In determining fair value, management uses a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are
set forth below:

Level 1:     Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2:     Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in markets that are not active or inputs
other than the quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly for the full term of the assets or liabilities.
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Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Our primary financial instruments include cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, investments, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and derivative liabilities. For the financial
instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis, their estimated fair value approximates their carrying value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, which is twenty years for buildings; the shorter of the
lease term and the estimated useful life (up to seven years) for leasehold improvements; and over three to five years for all other asset categories.

Leases

The Company determines whether a contract contains a lease at inception. The Company leases real estate and equipment which have been recognized as operating leases,
except for those leases with a lease term of 12 months or less which are recognized as short-term leases and expensed on a straight-line basis.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the initial measurement of operating lease liabilities. Certain lease contracts include non-lease
components, such as operations and maintenance. The Company combines and accounts for lease and these non-lease components as a single lease component. Certain real
estate leases include one or more options to renew; the exercise of lease renewal options is at the Company’s discretion and is included in the lease term when it is determined
that the options are reasonably certain to be exercised. The discount rates utilized to measure operating lease liabilities are generally based on estimates of the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate, as the discount rates implicit in lease agreements cannot be readily determined.

Impairment of Goodwill, Acquired Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment annually on December 31, or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying
amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized for any excess of the carrying amount of goodwill over its implied fair value.

Acquired intangible assets primarily consist of one asset class of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) from the Company’s historical acquisitions. As of
December 31, 2024, these assets had an indefinite useful life. IPR&D assets that have not been completed are subject to impairment considerations annually on December 31,
or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. No impairment losses were recognized on acquired intangible assets during the
periods presented.

Long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and operating lease right-of-use assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The Company performs impairment testing at the level that represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are
largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying amounts to the expected future undiscounted cash
flows attributable to the assets. If it is determined that an asset may not be recoverable, an impairment is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds its fair value.
No material impairment losses were recognized on long-lived assets during the periods presented.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, and consist primarily of personnel costs, hardware and electrical engineering prototyping, cloud computing, data
labeling, and third-party development services. To date, the Company has not capitalized software development costs related to the development of the Aurora Driver due to the
remaining planning, designing, coding and testing activities necessary for technology validation and safe autonomous operation.
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Stock-based Compensation

The Company measures stock-based compensation using the fair value based method on the grant date. Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are measured based on fair value of the
Company’s publicly traded common stock, while stock options are measured using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with assumptions including expected term, risk-free
interest rate, and expected volatility. Due to the Company’s limited historical stock option exercise experience as a public company, the expected term of stock options is
determined utilizing the simplified method based on vesting and contractual terms. The expected volatility is determined based on the historical volatility of comparable public
companies over the expected term of the stock option. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Stock-based compensation for awards with only service conditions is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period,
while awards with service and performance conditions is recognized on a graded-vesting basis over the requisite service period. The Company recognizes the effect of
forfeitures in the period they occur.

Derivative Liabilities

The Company accounts for the public and private placement stock purchase warrants (collectively “the warrants”) as derivative liabilities. The liabilities are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis with any changes in fair value reflected in the statement of operations until the warrants are exercised, redeemed, or expire.

On November 3, 2021, the Company consummated a business combination with Legacy Aurora and RTPY Merger Sub Inc. pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated
July 14, 2021 (the “Merger Agreement” and the transactions contemplated thereby, the “Merger”). The Company accounts for shares held by Reinvent Sponsor Y LLC (the
“Sponsor”) not forfeited under the terms of the Merger Agreement and subject to price based vesting terms (the “Earnout Shares”) as derivative liabilities. The liability is
measured at fair value on a recurring basis with any changes in fair value reflected in the statement of operations until the vesting conditions are met or the shares expire.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset-and-liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based upon the temporary differences between
the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted rates in effect for the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce the deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process in which: (1) the Company determines whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions
will be sustained on the basis of technical merits of the position, and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more likely than not recognition threshold, the Company
recognizes the tax benefit as the largest amount that is cumulatively more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax authority.

Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines, and penalties and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.

Certain Risks and Uncertainties

The Company’s operations are principally funded by available liquidity from cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Management expects to continue to incur
operating losses and that the Company will need to opportunistically raise additional capital to support the continued development and commercialization of the Aurora Driver.
Management believes that cash on hand and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet its working capital and capital expenditure requirements for a period of at least
twelve months from the date of these financial statements.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. The Company
primarily maintains its cash and cash equivalents at U.S. commercial banks, while its short-term investments primarily consist of U.S. Treasury securities. Cash and cash
equivalents deposited with domestic commercial banks generally exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurable limit, though the Company has not experienced
any credit losses on its deposits.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting, which expands disclosure
requirements for reportable segments including enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The updated standard is effective for the Company’s fiscal 2024
annual period and interim periods beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2025. See Note 14. Segment for the Company’s disclosures for this standard.

In December 2023, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires
disaggregated information about a reporting entity's effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid to enhance the transparency and decision
usefulness of income tax disclosures. The updated standard is effective for the Company’s fiscal 2025 annual period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this
guidance.

In November 2024, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses, which requires annual and interim disclosure of
disaggregated disclosures of certain costs and expenses on the income statement. The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. Amendments are applied on a prospective basis with retrospective application
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance.

Note 3. Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows (in millions):

As of As of
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Goodwill $ 1,114 $ 1,114 
Accumulated impairment loss (1,114) (1,114)

Carrying amount of goodwill $ — $ — 

During the second quarter and fourth quarter of 2022, the market price of the Company’s Class A common stock and its market capitalization declined significantly. As a result,
the Company determined that a triggering event had occurred and goodwill impairment assessments were performed.

For each goodwill impairment assessment, the Company utilized a market approach valuation method utilizing the observable market price of the Company’s Class A common
stock as it represented the best evidence of the fair value of its reporting unit. Based on the results, the Company recognized a $1,114 million goodwill impairment during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2022.

Note 4. Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash and Investments

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash were as follows (in millions):

As of
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Cash and cash equivalents $ 211 $ 501 
Restricted cash, current 1 1 
Restricted cash, long-term 15 16 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 227 $ 518 

Included in other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets

Included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets

(a)

(b)

(a) 

(b) 
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The components of cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows (in millions):

As of

Fair value level
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Cash and cash equivalents:

Bank deposits Level 1 $ 1 $ — 
Money market funds Level 1 165 220 
U.S. Treasury securities Level 2 40 251 
Commercial paper Level 2 5 30 

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 211 $ 501 
Short-term and long-term investments:

U.S. Treasury securities Level 2 $ 728 $ 769 
Commercial paper Level 2 132 54 
Corporate bonds and notes Level 2 152 24 

Total short-term and long-term investments $ 1,012 $ 847 

The amortized cost, unrealized gains, and fair value of available-for-sale debt securities were as follows (in millions):

As of December 31, 2024
Amortized cost Unrealized gains Fair value

U.S. Treasury securities $ 727 $ 1 $ 728 
Commercial paper 132 — 132 
Corporate bonds and notes 152 — 152 
  Total short-term and long-term investments $ 1,011 $ 1 $ 1,012 

As of December 31, 2023
Amortized cost Unrealized gains Fair value

U.S. Treasury securities $ 768 $ 1 $ 769 
Commercial paper 54 — 54 
Corporate bonds and notes 24 — 24 
  Total short-term and long-term investments $ 846 $ 1 $ 847 

Note 5. Collaboration Revenue

In the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company received payments of $0 million, $0 million and $100 million, respectively, under the
collaboration project plan with Toyota.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had recognized all revenue associated with cash payments received under the collaboration project plan with Toyota. As a result, no
revenue was recognized during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Note 6. Stockholders' Equity

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 1,000 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.00001 per share. There were no shares of preferred stock issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 51,000 million shares of common stock with a par value of $0.00001 per share; of which 50,000 million shares are designated Class A
common stock and 1,000 million shares are designated Class B common stock. Class A common stockholders are entitled to one vote for each share and Class B common
stockholders are entitled to ten votes for each share. Class A and Class B have identical liquidation and dividend rights. Class B shares are convertible into Class A upon
election by the holder or upon transfer (except for certain permitted transfers).

The Company had 1,383 million and 1,162 million shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. The
Company had 350 million and 367 million shares of Class B common stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

Public Offerings

On August 2, 2024, the Company completed a public offering (the “2024 Public Offering”) of approximately 134 million shares of Class A common stock at a price of $3.60
per share, for proceeds of $466 million, net of transaction costs, including the full exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option.

On July 21, 2023, the Company completed a public offering (the “2023 Public Offering”) of approximately 73 million shares of Class A common stock at a price of $3.00 per
share, for proceeds of $212 million, net of transaction costs. Following the 2023 Public Offering, on August 2, 2023, the Company issued an additional 11 million shares of
Class A common stock in connection with the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option for proceeds of $32 million, net of transaction costs.

Private Placement

On July 21, 2023, the Company completed a private placement (the “Private Placement”), in which the Company sold approximately 222 million shares of Class A common
stock at a price of $2.70 per share, for proceeds to the Company of $584 million, net of transaction costs.

Note 7. Equity Incentive Plans

The Company has outstanding awards granted under four equity compensation plans: the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), the Legacy Aurora 2017 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “2017 Plan”), the Blackmore Sensors & Analytics, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Blackmore Plan”), and the OURS Technology Inc 2017 Stock Incentive Plan
(the “OURS Plan”). The Company assumed awards under the 2017 Plan, the Blackmore Plan and the OURS Plan to the extent such employees continued as employees of the
Company.

The Plan includes an annual increase in class A common shares available for issuance on the first day of each fiscal year beginning in fiscal 2022 and ending in fiscal 2031 equal
to the lesser of (i) 121 million, (ii) 5% of total shares outstanding on the last day of the preceding fiscal year, and (iii) a lesser number of shares determined by the Plans’
administrator. Any stock options, RSUs or other awards from the 2017 Plan, the Blackmore Plan, or the OURS Plan that, on or after the Closing Date, expire or otherwise
terminate without having been exercised or issued in full are added to the Plan up to a maximum of 121 million shares. As of December 31, 2024, there were 212 million shares
available for grant under the Plan.

Under the Plan, equity-based compensation in compensation arrangements including the annual bonus program may be granted in the form of RSUs, restricted stock awards,
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, and performance units to employees, officers, directors, consultants, and others.

Restricted Stock Units

RSUs granted under the 2017 Plan generally are subject to two vesting requirements: (1) a time-based vesting requirement, and (2) a liquidity event. Generally, the time-based
vesting requirement is quarterly over four years starting on the vesting commencement date, with a one-year cliff. The liquidity event vesting requirement was satisfied with the
Merger.
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RSUs granted under the Plan generally are subject to a time-based vesting requirement. Generally, the time-based vesting requirement is quarterly over one to four years
starting on the vesting commencement date, with a one-year cliff vesting for new hire awards.

RSUs granted under the Plan and the 2017 Plan were as follows:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

RSUs granted (in millions) 41 63 113 
Weighted average grant date fair value $ 2.56 $ 1.74 $ 3.62 

RSU activity under the Plan and the 2017 Plan was as follows (in millions, except per share amounts):

Number of
shares

Weighted-
average grant
date fair value

Unvested at December 31, 2023 100 $ 2.76 
Granted 41 2.56 
Vested (50) 2.67 
Forfeited (15) 3.00 

Unvested at December 31, 2024 76 $ 2.67 

The unrecognized stock-based compensation related to unvested RSUs was $181 million at December 31, 2024 and will be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.3
years. The fair value of RSUs as of their respective vesting dates was $187 million, $118 million and $90 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Stock Options

The exercise price of stock options granted under the Plan and the 2017 Plan may not be less than 100% of the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the
grant. Stock options generally vest over one to four years starting on the vesting commencement date and expire, if not exercised, 10 years from the date of grant or, if earlier,
three months after the option holder ceases to be a service provider of the Company. Stock options outstanding under the Blackmore Plan and the OURS Plan are not material.

Stock options granted under the Plan and the 2017 Plan were as follows:

Twelve Months Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Stock options granted (in millions) 41 62 9 
Weighted average grant date fair value $ 1.41 $ 0.97 $ 1.35 
Weighted average grant date fair value assumptions:

Expected term 6.0 years 5.8 years 5.6 years
Risk-free interest rates 4.1 % 4.3 % 3.6 %
Expected volatility 53.1 % 55.0 % 55.0 %

Stock option activity under the Plan and the 2017 Plan was as follows (in millions, except per share amounts):

Number of
shares

Weighted
average

exercise price

Weighted average
remaining contractual term

(in years)
Aggregate intrinsic

value
Outstanding at December 31, 2023 104 $ 1.78 

Granted 41 2.56 
Exercised (20) 1.55 
Forfeited (7) 2.02 
Expired (1) 3.14 

Outstanding at December 31, 2024 117 $ 2.07 7.4 $ 514 

Exercisable at December 31, 2024 64 $ 1.81 6.3 $ 298 
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The unrecognized stock-based compensation related to unvested stock options was $66 million as of December 31, 2024 and will be recognized over a weighted average period
of 2.7 years. The intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $62 million, $20 million and $62 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation is allocated on a departmental basis, based on the classification of the option holder or grant recipient. No income tax benefits have been recognized
in the statement of operations for stock-based compensation arrangements and no stock-based compensation has been capitalized as of December 31, 2024.

Total stock-based compensation expense by function was as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Research and development $ 122 $ 139 $ 137 
Selling, general, and administrative 22 21 19 

Total $ 144 $ 160 $ 156 

Note 8. Derivative Liabilities

Common Stock Warrants

On the consummation of the Merger, 12 million public warrants for Class A common stock at an exercise price per share of $11.50 and 9 million private placement warrants
held by the Sponsor with an exercise price per share of $11.50 converted into warrants of Aurora common stock. The public and private placement warrants that remain
unexercised will expire on November 3, 2026.

Public Warrants

Public warrants may be redeemed, in whole and not in part, when the last reported sales price of Class A common stock exceeds $10.00 or $18.00 per share for any 20 trading
days within a 30 trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the public warrant holders (the
“Reference Value”).

If the Reference Value exceeds $18.00 per share, public warrants are redeemable at $0.01 per warrant upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption to each
warrant holder.

If the Reference Value exceeds $10.00 per share, public warrants are redeemable at $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice provided that the
holders will be able to exercise their public warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares determined by reference to an agreed table based
on the redemption date and the fair market value of Class A ordinary shares, which is defined as the volume-weighted average price of Class A ordinary shares for the 10 trading
days following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of public warrants. In no event will the public warrants be exercisable in connection with this
redemption feature for more than 0.361 Class A ordinary shares per warrant.

Private Placement Warrants

Private placement warrants are not redeemable by the Company as long as they are held by a Sponsor or its permitted transferees. If the public warrants are redeemed by the
Company when the Reference Value exceeds $18.00 per share, the Sponsor has agreed to exercise the private placement warrants for cash or on a cashless basis. If the public
warrants are redeemed by the Company when the Reference Value equals or exceeds $10.00 per share, the private placement warrants are also concurrently called for
redemption on the same terms as of the public warrants.

Earnout Share Liabilities

In connection with the Merger, the Sponsor was issued earnout shares which were recorded as derivative liabilities due to lock-up and price-based vesting conditions as follows:
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• 2 million shares vest when it has been at least 2 years since the Merger and the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of the Company’s class A common stock equals or
exceeds $15.00 for 20 trading days of any consecutive 30 trading day period

• 2 million shares vest when it has been at least 3 years since the Merger and the VWAP equals or exceeds $17.50 for 20 trading days of any consecutive 30 trading day period;
and,

• 2 million shares vest when it has been at least 4 years since the Merger and the VWAP equals or exceeds $20.00 for 20 trading days of any consecutive 30 trading day period.

No earnout shares subject to lock-up and price-based vesting have vested as of December 31, 2024. Earnout shares that remain unvested at November 3, 2031 are subject to
forfeiture.

The components of derivative liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows (in millions):
As of

Fair value level
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Public warrants Level 1 $ 13 $ 6 
Private placement warrants Level 2 9 4 

Common stock warrants 22 10 
Earnout share liabilities Level 3 26 14 

Total derivative liabilities $ 48 $ 24 

The public and private placement warrants are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The public warrants were valued based on the closing price of the publicly traded
instrument. The private placement warrants were valued using observable inputs for similar publicly traded instruments. Public warrants outstanding were 12 million as of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. Private placement warrants outstanding were 9 million as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

The earnout share liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis utilizing a Monte Carlo simulation analysis. The expected volatility is determined based on a blended
rate of our historical equity volatility as well as the historical equity volatility of comparable companies over a period that matches the expected term of the instrument. The
risk-free interest rate is based on relevant U.S. treasury rates for a period that matches the expected term of the instrument. Earnout shares outstanding were 5 million as of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

The valuation inputs utilized in determining the earnout share liability were as follows:

As of
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023

Risk-free interest rates 4.5 % 3.9 %
Expected term (in years) 6.8 7.8 
Expected volatility 64.0 % 53.0 %

The components of change in fair value of derivative liabilities were as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Common stock warrants $ (12) $ (7) $ 63 
Earnout share liabilities (12) (13) 51 

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities $ (24) $ (20) $ 114 

Note 9. Leases

The Company leases its office facilities and warehouses under non-cancelable operating lease agreements that expire through 2042, including renewal options that are
reasonably certain to be exercised.
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Rent expense under operating leases was $28 million, $27 million, and $28 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Operating
lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities were $16 million, $6 million, and $10 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s operating leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 8.0 years and a weighted average discount rate of
7.4%.

As of December 31, 2024, future maturities of lease liabilities were as follows (in millions):

Operating
leases

Year ending December 31,
2025 $ 27 
2026 25 
2027 22 
2028 21 
2029 21 
Thereafter 57 

Total lease payments 173 
Less: imputed interest (52)

Total operating lease liabilities $ 121 

Note 10. Balance Sheet Details

Property and Equipment, Net

The components of property and equipment, net were as follows (in millions):

As of
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Land $ 14 $ 14 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 97 82 
Equipment 26 25 
Vehicles 28 16 
Other 16 15 

181 152 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (77) (58)

Total property and equipment, net $ 104 $ 94 

Other Current Liabilities

The components of other current liabilities were as follows (in millions):

As of
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023
Accrued compensation $ 61 $ 65 
Other accrued expenses 28 31 

Total other current liabilities $ 89 $ 96 
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Note 11. Earnings Per Share

The Company computes earnings per share of common stock using the two-class method required for participating securities. The participating securities did not impact the
computation of earnings per share in the periods presented as no dividends were declared and the participating securities are not contractually obligated to share in losses.

The Company has two classes of common stock with identical liquidation and dividend rights, Class A and Class B. The net loss is allocated in a proportionate basis to each
class of common stock and results in the same net loss per share.

The following table presents the potential common stock outstanding excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share because including them would have had an
antidilutive effect (in millions):

As of
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023 December 31, 2022

RSUs 76 100 103

Stock options 117 105 65
Public warrants 12 12 12
Private placement warrants 9 9 9
Earnout shares liability 5 5 5

Total 219 231 194

Note 12. Income Taxes

There is no current or deferred income tax expense or benefit for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.

The reconciliations of the effective tax rate from the federal statutory rate were as follows:

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Federal statutory tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
Stock-based compensation 2.0 (1.8) (0.2)
Research and development credits 5.0 3.7 1.5 
Liability classified financial instruments (0.7) (0.5) 1.4 
Adjustments of prior years' taxes 4.6 (2.7) — 
Goodwill impairment — — (13.6)
Other (0.5) (0.3) (0.1)
Change in valuation allowance (31.4) (19.4) (10.0)

Effective tax rate — % — % — %
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The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows (in millions):

As of
December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating losses $ 592 $ 404 
Tax credits 178 122 
Stock-based compensation 5 8 
Capitalized R&D 312 222 
Lease liability 26 26 
Other 21 16 

Deferred tax assets, gross 1,134 798 
Valuation allowance (1,037) (726)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 97 72 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (67) (47)
Right of use asset (25) (26)
Other (9) (3)

Deferred tax liabilities (101) (76)
Deferred tax liabilities, net $ (4) $ (4)

As of December 31, 2024, federal and state net operating losses were $2,029 million and $2,715 million, respectively. If not utilized, the federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards will begin to expire starting in 2036 and 2029, respectively. Federal and similar state provisions limit the use of net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards
in certain situations where changes occur in the stock ownership of a company. Certain acquired net operating losses and tax credits are subject to limitations.

As of December 31, 2024, federal research and development credits were $174 million, which will begin to expire in 2037 and state research and development credits were $49
million, which will begin to expire in 2032.

Assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets is dependent upon several factors, including the likelihood and amount, if any, of future taxable income in relevant jurisdictions
during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. The Company has evaluated the criteria for realization of deferred tax assets and, as a result, has
determined that certain deferred tax assets are not realizable.

The components of changes in the valuation allowance were as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Valuation allowance at beginning of period $ 726 $ 542 $ 331 

Change in deferred tax asset positions 311 184 211 
Valuation allowance at end of period $ 1,037 $ 726 $ 542 

The components of changes in unrecognized tax benefits were as follows (in millions):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of period $ 31 $ 21 $ 18 

Increases related to tax positions taken during a prior year 2 1 1 
Increases related to tax positions taken during the current year 12 9 8 
Decreases related to tax positions taken during a prior year — — (6)

Unrecognized tax benefits at end of period $ 45 $ 31 $ 21 
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The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the provision for income taxes. Amounts accrued for interest and
penalties were not significant during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

The Company does not anticipate that the amount of existing unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months. None of the
unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would have a material effect on the effective tax rate.

The Company files U.S. federal and state income tax returns. The Company is not currently under examination by income tax authorities in any jurisdiction. All tax returns will
remain open for examination by the federal and state authorities for three and four years, respectively, from the date of utilization of any net operating losses or credits.

Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Commitments

The Company has entered into a contract for cloud hosting services under which non-cancelable future minimum payments as of December 31, 2024 were as follows (in
millions):

Purchase
obligation

Year ending December 31,
2025 $ 64 
2026 38 
2027 — 
2028 — 
2028 — 
Thereafter — 

Total $ 102 

Contingencies

From time to time the Company may be party to various claims in the normal course of business. Legal fees and other costs associated with such actions are expensed as
incurred. The Company assesses the need to record a liability for litigation and loss contingencies. Reserve estimates are recorded when and if it is determined that a loss related
to certain matters is both probable and reasonably estimable. No material loss contingencies were recorded in the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022.

Note 14. Segment

The Company has one reportable segment managed on a consolidated basis by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) who is the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”). In
identifying one reportable segment, the Company considered the basis of organization for the development of the Aurora Driver, an advanced and scalable suite of self-driving
hardware, software and data services designed as a platform to adapt and interoperate amongst vehicle types and applications.

The accounting policies of the segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The chief operating decision maker assesses
performance and decides how to allocate resources based on net loss that is also reported on the income statement as consolidated net loss. The measure of segment assets is
reported on the balance sheet as consolidated total assets.

The CODM allocates resources and evaluates performance based on net loss, which is the Company’s measure of segment profit or loss. The CODM considers budget to actual
and year-over-year variances for net loss when making decisions about how to utilize the company’s resources.

The components of segment profit or loss were as follows (in millions):
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Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Collaboration revenue $ — $ — $ 68 
Less:

Personnel expenses 423 428 385 
Other operating expenses 198 226 243 
Other segment items 127 142 1,163 

Net loss $ (748) $ (796) $ (1,723)

(a) Other segment items include stock-based compensation expense, goodwill impairment, depreciation and amortization, change in fair value of derivative liabilities, and other income (expense), net.

(a)

80



Table of Contents

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures.

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or
submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management evaluated, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer (our “Certifying Officers”), the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024, pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our Certifying Officers concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the

Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has determined that our internal controls over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2024.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2024 covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Information.

ATM Offering

On February 14, 2025, we entered into a Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., TD Securities (USA) LLC and Allen & Company
LLC, as sales agents (the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which we may, from time to time, sell up to an aggregate amount of $500.0 million of our Class A common stock through
the Sales Agents in an “at-the-market” offering (the “ATM Offering”). We are not required to sell any shares under the Sales Agreement. We will pay the Sales Agents a
commission of up to 3% of the aggregate gross proceeds we receive from all sales of our Class A common stock under the Sales Agreement. The Sales Agreement continues
until the earlier of selling all shares available under the Sales Agreement or terminated by written notice from either of the parties. No sales have been made under the Sales
Agreement.

The ATM Offering is being made under a prospectus supplement to be dated February 14, 2025 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February
14, 2025, and the related prospectus contained in our automatically effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3ASR (Registration No. 333- 284133) filed on January 3,
2025.
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A copy of the Sales Agreement is filed as Exhibit 10.33 to this Annual Report. The foregoing description of the Sales Agreement does not purport to be complete and
is qualified in its entirety by reference to Exhibit 10.33. A copy of the opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. relating to the validity of the securities issued in the
ATM Offering is filed as Exhibit 5.1 to this Annual Report.

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

On November 22, 2024, David Maday, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement providing for the sale from time to time of
an aggregate of up to 147,234 shares of our Class A common stock. The trading arrangement is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense in Rule 10b5-1(c). The duration of the
trading arrangement is until November 5, 2026, or earlier if all transactions under the trading arrangement are completed.

During our last fiscal quarter, no other director or officer, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-Rule
10b5-1 trading arrangement,” each as defined in Regulation S-K Item 408.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this item will be provided in the definitive proxy statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) no later
than 120 days after December 31, 2024. The information set forth in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this item will be provided in the Proxy Statement no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024. The information set forth in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this item will be provided in the Proxy Statement no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024. The information set forth in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this item will be provided in the Proxy Statement no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024. The information set forth in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this item will be provided in the Proxy Statement no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024. The information set forth in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibit and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)     Documents filed as part of this report are as follows:

(1) All Financial Statements: Refer to the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” included under Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules: All financial statement schedules have been omitted, since the required information is not applicable or is not present in amounts
sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
included under Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits: The documents listed below are incorporated by reference or are filed with this report, in each case as indicated therein.

Incorporated by reference
Filed or Furnished

HerewithExhibit No. Description Form File No. Exhibit No. Filing Date
2.1† Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 14, 2021, by

and among Reinvent Technology Partners Y, RTPY Merger
Sub Inc., and Aurora Innovation, Inc.

8-K 001-40216 2.1 July 15, 2021

2.2† Plan of Domestication, dated as of September 28, 2021 S-4/A 333-257912 2.2 September 29, 2021
2.3† Stock Purchase and Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of

January 19, 2021, by and between Aurora Innovation, Inc.,
Avian U Merger Holdco Corp., Avian U Merger Sub Corp.,
Avian U Merger Sub LLC, Blocker U Merger Sub LLC, SVF
Yellow (USA) Corporation, Apparate USA LLC and Uber
Technologies, Inc.

S-4/A 333-257912 2.3 September 29, 2021

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as amended 10-Q 001-40216 3.1 July 31, 2024

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company 8-K 001-40216 3.1 November 3, 2023
4.1 Specimen Class A Common Stock Certificate 8-K 001-40216 4.1 November 4, 2021
4.2 Specimen Warrant Certificate (included in Exhibit 4.3) 8-K 001-40216 4.1 March 18, 2021
4.3 Warrant Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2021, by and

between Reinvent Technology Partners Y and Continental
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent

8-K 001-40216 4.1 March 18, 2021

4.4 Amendment of Warrant Agreement, dated as of February 28,
2022, by and among Aurora Innovation, Inc., Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company and American Stock Transfer &
Trust Company

10-K 001-40216 4.4 March 11, 2022

4.5 Description of Capital Stock X
5.1 Opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich and Rosati, P.C. X
10.1 Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of July 14, 2021, by and

among the Sponsor Holdco, the Sponsor Parties, the Sponsor
Independent Directors, Reinvent Technology Partners Y, and
Aurora Innovation, Inc.

8‑K 001-40216 10.2 July 15, 2021

85

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000119312521215991/d326572dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001828108/000119312521286843/d184562dex22.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001828108/000119312521286843/d184562dex23.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000182810824000127/exhibit31-coiq22410xq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000182810824000127/exhibit31-coiq22410xq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000182810823000224/exhibit31aurorainnovatio.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001828108/000119312521319524/d249044dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000119312521085839/d128504dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000119312521085839/d128504dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000162828022005886/fy21ex44auroraxastxcontine.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001828108/000119312521215991/d326572dex102.htm


Table of Contents

Incorporated by reference
Filed or Furnished

HerewithExhibit No. Description Form File No. Exhibit No. Filing Date
10.2 Sponsor Agreement, dated as of July 14, 2021, between

Sponsor, Reinvent Technology Partners Y, and Aurora
Innovation, Inc.

8‑K 001-40216 10.3 July 15, 2021

10.3 Form of Company Holders Support Agreement (Voting and
Support Agreement)

8‑K 001-40216 10.4 July 15, 2021

10.4 Form of PIPE Subscription Agreement (Subscription
Agreement)

8‑K 001-40216 10.1 July 15, 2021

10.5 Form of Lock-Up Agreement S-4 333-257912 Annex I July 15, 2021
10.6 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as

of November 3, 2021, by and among Aurora Innovation, Inc.
and the other parties thereto

8‑K 001-40216 10.4 November 4, 2021

10.7 Letter Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2021, by and among
Reinvent Technology Partners Y, Reinvent Sponsor Y LLC and
the other parties thereto

8-K 001-40216 10.1 March 18, 2021

10.8# Employee Incentive Compensation Plan S‑4/A 333-257912 10.22 September 29, 2021
10.9# OURS Technology, Inc. 2017 Stock Incentive Plan S‑4/A 333-257912 10.23 September 29, 2021
10.10# Aurora Innovation, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, as

amended and restated on May 26, 2023
S-8 333-272272 99.1 May 30, 2023

10.11# Aurora Innovation, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan S-4/A 333-257912 10.21 September 29, 2021
10.12# Blackmore Sensors & Analytics, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive

Plan
S-4/A 333-257912 10.24 September 29, 2021

10.13# Aurora Innovation, Inc. form of Indemnification Agreement S-4/A 333-257912 10.19 September 29, 2021
10.14# Outside Director Compensation Policy 10-K 001-40216 10.15 March 11, 2022
10.15# Amendment to Stock Option Agreement entered into between

the Registrant and Richard Tame
8-K 001-40216 10.1 June 17, 2022

10.16# Confirmatory Employment Letter between the Registrant and
Chris Urmson, dated March 15, 2022

8-K 001-40216 10.1 March 17, 2022

10.17# Confirmatory Employment Letter between the Registrant and
Nolan Shenai, dated December 13, 2022

10-K 001-40216 10.18 February 21, 2023

10.18# Employment Letter between the Registrant and Ossa F. Fisher,
dated December 29, 2022

8-K 001-40216 10.1 January 30, 2023

10.19# Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Aurora Innovation,
Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

8-K 001-40216 10.12 November 4, 2021

10.20# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Aurora
Innovation, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

8-K 001-40216 10.12 November 4, 2021

10.21† Strategic Partnership Agreement dated April 26, 2023 between
Aurora Innovation, Inc. and Aurora Operations, Inc. and
Continental Automotive Technologies GmbH and Continental
Autonomous Mobility GmbH

10-Q  001-40216 10.1 August 3, 2023

10.22# Employment Letter between the Registrant and David Maday,
dated June 5, 2023

10-Q 001-40216 10.2 August 3, 2023
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1828108/000182810823000020/a22q4ex1018-nolanemploymen.htm
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Incorporated by reference Filed or
Furnished
HerewithExhibit No. Description Form File No. Exhibit No. Filing Date

10.23# Amendment No. 1 to Strategic Partnership Agreement, dated August
30, 2023, by and among the Registrant and Aurora Operations, Inc.,
and Continental Automotive Technologies GmbH and Continental
Autonomous Mobility Germany GmbH

10-Q 001-40216 10.1 November 2, 2023

10.24# Amended and Restated Strategic Partnership Agreement, dated
September 27, 2023, by and among the Registrant and Aurora
Operations, Inc., and Continental Automotive Technologies GmbH
and Continental Autonomous Mobility Germany GmbH

10-Q 001-40216 10.2 November 2, 2023

10.25 Form of Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 18, 2023,
by and among the Registrant and the Purchasers

8-K 001-40216 10.1 July 19, 2023

10.26 Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 18, 2023, by and
among the Registrant and the Purchasers

8-K 001-40216 10.2 July 19, 2023

10.27# Aurora Innovation, Inc. Change in Control and Severance Policy 8-K 001-40216 10.1 August 18, 2023
10.28# Amendment to Stock Option Agreement entered into between

Aurora Innovation, Inc. and David Maday
8-K 001-40216 10.1 June 15, 2023

10.29# Form of Addendum to Stock Option Agreement for Executive
Officers under the Aurora Innovation, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan

10-K 001-40216 10.31 February 15, 2024

10.30# Employment Letter between the Registrant and Shelley Webb, dated
January 30, 2025

X

10.31 Sales Agreement, dated as of February 14, 2025, by and among
Aurora Innovation, Inc., Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., TD Securities
(USA) LLC and Allen & Company LLC

X

16.1 Letter to the Securities and Exchange Commission from KPMG
LLP, dated March 9, 2023

8-K 001-40216 16.1 March 9, 2023

19.1 Aurora Innovation, Inc. Insider Trading Policy X
21.1 List of Subsidiaries X
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

(PricewaterhouseCoopers)
X

23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(KPMG)

X

23.3 Consent of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. (included in
Exhibit 5.1)

X

24.1 Power of Attorney (included in the signature page to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K)

X

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive
Officer

X

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial
Officer

X

32.1* Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer X
32.2* Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer X
97.1 Compensation Recovery Policy 10-K 001-40216 97.1 February 15, 2024
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Incorporated by reference
Filed or Furnished

HerewithExhibit No. Description Form File No. Exhibit No. Filing Date
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

Document
X

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document

X

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Document
X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)

X

†    Schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S‑K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished
to the SEC upon request.

#    Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

*    The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K are deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Aurora Innovation, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language
contained in such filing.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 14, 2025 Aurora Innovation, Inc.

By: /s/ Chris Urmson
Name: Chris Urmson
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Chris Urmson and David Maday, and each
of them, as his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for such individual in any and all capacities, to sign any and all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary
to be done in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact
and agents, or any of them, or the individual’s substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated:

Name Title Date

/s/ Chris Urmson Chairman and Chief Executive Officer February 14, 2025
Chris Urmson (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ David Maday Chief Financial Officer February 14, 2025
David Maday (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Sterling Anderson Director February 14, 2025
Sterling Anderson

/s/ Brittany Bagley Director February 14, 2025
Brittany Bagley

/s/ Gloria Boyland Director February 14, 2025
Gloria Boyland

/s/ Reid Hoffman Director February 14, 2025
Reid Hoffman

/s/ Claire D'Oyly-Hughes Johnson Director February 14, 2025
Claire D'Oyly-Hughes Johnson

/s/ Shailen Bhatt Director February 14, 2025
Shailen Bhatt

/s/ Michelangelo Volpi Director February 14, 2025
Michelangelo Volpi
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Exhibit 4.5

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following description summarizes certain important terms of the capital stock of Aurora Innovation, Inc. (“us,” “our,” “we, “Aurora” or the “Company”) as specified
in our certificate of incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”) and amended and restated bylaws (the “Bylaws”). Because the following description is only a summary, it
does not contain all the information that may be important to you. For a complete description of the matters set forth in this summary, you should refer to the Certificate of
Incorporation, the Bylaws, the Warrant Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2021, by and between our legal predecessor Reinvent Technology Partners Y (“RTPY”) and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, as amended by the Amendment of Warrant Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2022, by and among Aurora
Innovation, Inc., Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (as amended, the “Warrant Agreement”), and the Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of November 3, 2021, by and among Aurora Innovation, Inc. and the other parties thereto (the “Registration Rights
Agreement”), which are included as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.5 is a part, and to the applicable provisions of Delaware law.

General

The authorized capital stock of Aurora consists of 52,000,000,000 shares of capital stock, $0.00001 par value per share, of which:

• 50,000,000,000 shares are designated as Class A common stock (the “Class A Common Stock”);

• 1,000,000,000 shares are designated as Class B common stock (the “Class B Common Stock”); and

• 1,000,000,000 shares are designated as preferred stock.

As of December 31, 2024, there were 1,383,190,406 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding (excluding 5,162,315 earnout shares), 350,170,526 shares of Class B
Common Stock outstanding and no shares of preferred stock outstanding. Pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, our board of directors (the “Board”) has the authority,
without stockholder approval except as required by the listing standards of the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”), to issue additional shares of the authorized Class A
Common Stock. Until the final conversion of all outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock pursuant to the terms of the Certificate of Incorporation (the “Final Conversion
Date”), any issuance of additional shares of Class B Common Stock requires the prior approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Class B
Common Stock voting as a separate class.

Common Stock

We have two series of authorized common stock, Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock. The rights of the holders of Class A Common Stock and Class B
Common Stock are generally identical, except with respect to voting and conversion.

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of funds
legally available if our board of directors (the “Board”), in its discretion, determines to issue dividends and then only at the times and in the amounts that the Board may
determine.



Voting Rights

Holders of Class A Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held as of the applicable record date on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders and
holders of Class B Common Stock are entitled to 10 votes for each share held as of the applicable record date on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. The holders of
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock will generally vote together as a single class, unless otherwise required by law. Under the Certificate of Incorporation,
approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock voting as a separate class is required to increase or decrease the number of authorized
shares of Class B Common Stock. In addition, Delaware law could require either holders of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock to vote separately as a single
class if we were to seek to amend our Certificate of Incorporation in a manner that alters or changes the powers, preferences or special rights of the Class A Common Stock or
the Class B Common Stock in a manner that affected its holders adversely but does not so affect the shares of the other series of common stock.

Until the Final Conversion Date, approval of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock voting as a separate class is required to:

• directly or indirectly amend, repeal or adopt any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with, or otherwise alter, any provision of the Certificate of
Incorporation to modify the voting, conversion or other rights, powers, preferences, privileges or restrictions of the Class B Common Stock;

• reclassify any outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock into shares having rights as to dividends or liquidation that are senior to the Class B Common Stock or
the right to have more than one vote for each share thereof;

• issue any shares of Class B Common Stock, including by dividend, distribution or otherwise; or

• authorize, or issue any shares of, any class or series of our capital stock having the right to more than one vote for each share thereof.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides for a classified board of directors consisting of three classes of approximately equal size, each serving staggered three-year
terms. Only the directors in one class will be subject to election by a plurality of the votes cast at each annual meeting of stockholders, with the directors in the other classes
continuing for the remainder of their respective three-year terms. Stockholders do not have the ability to cumulate votes for the election of directors.

No Preemptive or Similar Rights

Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive rights, and is not subject to conversion (other than the conversion of the Class B Common Stock into Class A Common
Stock as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation), redemption or sinking fund provisions.

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

If we become subject to a liquidation, dissolution or winding-up in connection with which the Board has determined to effect a distribution of assets to any holders of
common stock, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among the holders of common stock and any participating Aurora
preferred stock outstanding at that time, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of and the payment of liquidation
preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.



Conversion of Class B Common Stock

Each share of Class B Common Stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of Class A Common Stock. Shares of Class B Common Stock
will automatically convert into shares of Class A Common Stock upon sale or transfer except for certain transfers described in the Certificate of Incorporation, including estate
planning or charitable transfers where sole dispositive power and exclusive voting control with respect to the shares of Class B Common Stock are retained by the transferring
holder or such transferring holder’s spouse. In addition, each outstanding share of Class B Common Stock held by a stockholder who is a natural person, or held by the
permitted entities and permitted transferees of such natural person (as described in the Certificate of Incorporation), will convert automatically into one share of Class A
Common Stock upon the death of such natural person. In the event of the death or permanent and total disability of Chris Urmson, Sterling Anderson or James Andrew Bagnell
(collectively, the “Aurora Founders”), shares of Class B Common Stock held by such Aurora Founder or his permitted entities or permitted transferees will convert to Class A
Common Stock, provided that the conversion will be deferred for nine months, or up to 18 months if approved by a majority of our independent directors, following his death or
permanent and total disability and provided further, that to the extent any other Aurora Founder has or shares voting control over such shares, the shares of Class B Common
Stock will be treated as held of record by the Aurora Founder that has or shares voting control. Transfers among the Aurora Founders are permitted transfers and will not result
in conversion of the shares of Class B Common Stock that are transferred, and such shares of Class B Common Stock will be treated as held of record by the transferee Aurora
Founder. With respect to any shares of Class B Common Stock over which the spouse of an Aurora Founder has voting control, such shares of Class B Common Stock will
convert to shares of Class A Common Stock upon divorce if the spouse retains voting control.

Each share of Class B Common Stock will convert automatically into one share of Class A Common Stock upon (i) the date, time or occurrence of an event specified by
affirmative written election of the holders of two-thirds of the then-outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock voting as a separate class, (ii) the date fixed by the Board that
is no less than 61 days and no more than 180 days following the date on which the shares of Class B Common Stock held by the Aurora Founders and their permitted entities
and permitted transferees represent less than 20% of the Class B Common Stock held by the Aurora Founders and their permitted entities as of immediately following the
consummation of our business combination with RTPY (the “Business Combination”) or (iii) nine months after the death or total disability of the last to die or become disabled
of the Aurora Founders, or such later date not to exceed a total period of 18 months after such death or disability as may be approved by a majority of our independent directors.

Preferred stock

The Board has the authority, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law and the terms of the Certificate of Incorporation, to issue preferred stock in one or more
series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series and to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each series and
any of its qualifications, limitations or restrictions, in each case without further vote or action by our stockholders. The Board can also increase or decrease the number of shares
of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. The Board may
authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of common stock. The
issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company and might adversely affect the market price of common stock and the voting and other rights of the
holders of common stock. We have no current plan to issue any shares of preferred stock.

Registration Rights

Under the Registration Rights Agreement, certain holders of Aurora common stock or their permitted transferees have the right to require us to register the offer and sale
of their shares, or to include their shares in any registration statement that we file, in each case as described below.



Shelf Registration Rights

The holders of at least $50.0 million of shares having registration rights then outstanding can request that we effect an underwritten public offering pursuant to such
resale shelf registration statement. We are not obligated to effect more than eight (8) such registrations within any 12-month period. These shelf registration rights are subject to
specified conditions and limitations, including the right of the managing underwriter or underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any such registration under certain
circumstances.

Piggyback Registration Rights

If we propose to register the offer and sale of our common stock under the Securities Act, all holders of these shares then outstanding can request that we include their
shares in such registration, subject to certain marketing and other limitations, including the right of the underwriters to limit the number of shares included in any such
registration statement under certain circumstances. As a result, whenever we propose to file a registration statement under the Securities Act, other than with respect to a
registration (i) relating to any employee stock option or other benefit plan, (ii) on Form S-4 (or similar form that relates to a transaction subject to Rule 145 under the Securities
Act or any successor rule thereto), (iii) relating to an offering of debt that is convertible into equity securities of Aurora, (iv) for a dividend reinvestment plan, (v) a “block
trade,” or an underwritten registered offering not involving a roadshow or (vi) an “at the market” or similar registered offering through a broker, sales agent or distribution
agent, whether as agent or principal, the holders of these shares are entitled to notice of the registration and have the right, subject to certain limitations, to include their shares in
the registration.

Warrants

Public Warrants

Each warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as discussed below, at
any time. The warrants will expire five years after the completion of the Business Combination, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

We are not obligated to deliver any shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of a warrant and will have no obligation to settle such warrant exercise
unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a
current prospectus relating thereto is current, subject to our satisfying our obligations described below with respect to registration, or a valid exemption from registration is
available, including as a result of a notice of redemption described below under “Redemption of Warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds
$10.00”. No warrant will be exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, and we will not be obligated to issue any shares to holders seeking to exercise their warrants, unless the
issuance of the shares upon such exercise is registered or qualified under the securities laws of the state of the exercising holder, or an exemption is available. In the event that
the conditions in the two immediately preceding sentences are not satisfied with respect to a warrant, the holder of such warrant will not be entitled to exercise such warrant and
such warrant may have no value and expire worthless.



A registration statement covering the issuance, under the Securities Act, of the shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrant has been declared
effective on November 12, 2021, and we have agreed to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement, and a current prospectus relating thereto, until the expiration
of the warrant in accordance with the provisions of the Warrant Agreement. Notwithstanding the above, if our shares of Class A Common Stock are, at the time of any exercise
of a warrant, not listed on a national securities exchange such that they satisfy the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, we may, at our
option, require holders of warrants (the “Public Warrants”) issued in connection with RTPY’s initial public offering on March 18, 2021 (the “RTPY IPO”) who exercise their
Public Warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event we so elect, we will not be required to file or maintain in
effect a registration statement, but will use our commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not
available. In such event, each holder would pay the exercise price by surrendering the warrants for that number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the lesser of
(A) the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants, multiplied by the excess of the “fair market
value” (defined below) less the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value and (B) 0.361. The “fair market value” shall mean the volume weighted average price
of the shares of Class A Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the trading day prior to the date on which the notice of exercise is received by the warrant agent.

Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00

We may redeem the outstanding warrants (except as described herein with respect to the warrants issued to Reinvent Sponsor Y LLC (the “Sponsor”) in a private
placement (the “Private Placement Warrants”):

• in whole and not in part;

• at a price of $0.01 per warrant;

• upon not less than 30 days’ written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and

• if and only if, the last reported sale price of the shares of Class A Common Stock for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day
prior to the date on which we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders (which we refer to as the “Reference Value”) equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as
adjusted for share splits, share dividends, rights issuances, subdivisions, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like).

We will not redeem the warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the shares of Class A Common
Stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating to those shares of Class A Common Stock is available throughout the 30-
day redemption period. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying
securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

We have established the last of the redemption criterion discussed above to prevent a redemption call unless there is at the time of the call a significant premium to the
warrant exercise price. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and we issue a notice of redemption of the warrants, each warrant holder will be entitled to exercise his, her or its
warrant prior to the scheduled redemption date. However, the price of the shares of Class A Common Stock may fall below the $18.00 redemption trigger price (as adjusted for
share splits, share dividends, rights issuances, subdivisions, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) as well as the $11.50 (for whole shares) warrant exercise price after
the redemption notice is issued.

Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00

We may redeem the outstanding warrants:

• in whole and not in part;



• at $0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis
prior to redemption and receive that number of shares determined by reference to the table below, based on the redemption date and the “fair market value” (as defined
below) of our shares of Class A Common Stock except as otherwise described below;

• if, and only if, the Reference Value (as defined above under “Redemption of warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00”)
equals or exceeds $10.00 per share (as adjusted for share splits, share dividends, rights issuances, subdivisions, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like); and

• if the Reference Value is less than $18.00 per share (as adjusted for share splits, share dividends, rights issuances, subdivisions, reorganizations, recapitalizations and
the like), the Private Placement Warrants must also be concurrently called for redemption on the same terms as the outstanding Public Warrants, as described above.

The numbers in the table below represent the number of shares of Class A Common Stock that a warrant holder will receive upon exercise in connection with a
redemption by us pursuant to this redemption feature, based on the “fair market value” of our shares of Class A Common Stock on the corresponding redemption date
(assuming holders elect to exercise their warrants and such warrants are not redeemed for $0.10 per warrant), determined based on volume weighted average price of our shares
of Class A Common Stock during the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants, and the number of
months that the corresponding redemption date precedes the expiration date of the warrants, each as set forth in the table below. We will provide our warrant holders with the
final fair market value no later than one business day after the 10-trading day period described above ends.

The share prices set forth in the column headings of the table below will be adjusted as of any date on which the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a warrant is
adjusted as set forth in the first three paragraphs under the heading “—Anti-dilution Adjustments” below. The adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the share
prices immediately prior to such adjustment, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares deliverable upon exercise of a warrant immediately prior
to such adjustment and the denominator of which is the number of shares deliverable upon exercise of a warrant as so adjusted. The number of shares in the table below shall be
adjusted in the same manner and at the same time as the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a warrant.
 



Redemption Date Fair Market Value of Class A Common Stock

(period to expiration of warrants) ³10.00 11.00  12.00  13.00  14.00  15.00  16.00  17.00  ³18.00  
60 months 0.261  0.281  0.297  0.311  0.324  0.337  0.348  0.358  0.361  
57 months 0.257  0.277  0.294  0.310  0.324  0.337  0.348  0.358  0.361  
54 months 0.252  0.272  0.291  0.307  0.322  0.335  0.347  0.357  0.361  
51 months 0.246  0.268  0.287  0.304  0.320  0.333  0.346  0.357  0.361  
48 months 0.241  0.263  0.283  0.301  0.317  0.332  0.344  0.356  0.361  
45 months 0.235  0.258  0.279  0.298  0.315  0.330  0.343  0.356  0.361  
42 months 0.228  0.252  0.274  0.294  0.312  0.328  0.342  0.355  0.361  
39 months 0.221  0.246  0.269  0.290  0.309  0.325  0.340  0.354  0.361  
36 months 0.213  0.239  0.263  0.285  0.305  0.323  0.339  0.353  0.361  
33 months 0.205  0.232  0.257  0.280  0.301  0.320  0.337  0.352  0.361  
30 months 0.196  0.224  0.250  0.274  0.297  0.316  0.335  0.351  0.361  
27 months 0.185  0.214  0.242  0.268  0.291  0.313  0.332  0.350  0.361  
24 months 0.173  0.204  0.233  0.260  0.285  0.308  0.329  0.348  0.361  
21 months 0.161  0.193  0.223  0.252  0.279  0.304  0.326  0.347  0.361  
18 months 0.146  0.179  0.211  0.242  0.271  0.298  0.322  0.345  0.361  
15 months 0.130  0.164  0.197  0.230  0.262  0.291  0.317  0.342  0.361  
12 months 0.111  0.146  0.181  0.216  0.250  0.282  0.312  0.339  0.361  
9 months 0.090  0.125  0.162  0.199  0.237  0.272  0.305  0.336  0.361  
6 months 0.065  0.099  0.137  0.178  0.219  0.259  0.296  0.331  0.361  
3 months 0.034  0.065  0.104  0.150  0.197  0.243  0.286  0.326  0.361  
0 months —   —   0.042  0.115  0.179  0.233  0.281  0.323  0.361  

The exact fair market value and redemption date may not be set forth in the table above, in which case, if the fair market value is between two values in the table or the
redemption date is between two redemption dates in the table, the number of shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued for each warrant exercised will be determined by a
straight-line interpolation between the number of shares set forth for the higher and lower fair market values and the earlier and later redemption dates, as applicable, based on a
365 or 366-day year, as applicable. For example, if the volume weighted average price of our shares of Class A Common Stock during the 10 trading days immediately
following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants is $11.00 per share, and at such time there are 57 months until the expiration of the
warrants, holders may choose to, in connection with this redemption feature, exercise their warrants for 0.277 shares of Class A Common Stock for each whole warrant. For an
example where the exact fair market value and redemption date are not as set forth in the table above, if the volume weighted average price of our shares of Class A Common
Stock during the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants is $13.50 per share, and at such time
there are 38 months until the expiration of the warrants, holders may choose to, in connection with this redemption feature, exercise their warrants for 0.298 shares of Class A
Common Stock for each whole warrant. In no event will the warrants be exercisable in connection with this redemption feature for more than 0.361 shares of Class A Common
Stock per warrant (subject to adjustment). Finally, as reflected in the table above, if the warrants are out of the money and about to expire, they cannot be exercised on a
cashless basis in connection with a redemption by us pursuant to this redemption feature, since they will not be exercisable for any shares of Class A Common Stock.



This redemption feature differs from the typical warrant redemption features used in many other blank check offerings, which typically only provide for a redemption of
warrants for cash (other than the Private Placement Warrants) when the trading price for the shares of Class A Common Stock exceeds $18.00 per share for a specified period of
time. This redemption feature is structured to allow for all of the outstanding warrants to be redeemed when the shares of Class A Common Stock are trading at or above $10.00
per share, which may be at a time when the trading price of our shares of Class A Common Stock is below the exercise price of the warrants. We have established this
redemption feature to provide us with the flexibility to redeem the warrants without the warrants having to reach the $18.00 per share threshold set forth above under
“—Warrants—Public Warrants—Redemption of Warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00.” Holders choosing to exercise their
warrants in connection with a redemption pursuant to this feature will, in effect, receive a number of shares for their warrants based on an option pricing model with a fixed
volatility input as of the date of the RTPY IPO. This redemption right provides us with an additional mechanism by which to redeem all of the outstanding warrants, and
therefore have certainty as to our capital structure as the warrants would no longer be outstanding and would have been exercised or redeemed. We will be required to pay the
applicable redemption price to warrant holders if we choose to exercise this redemption right and it will allow us to quickly proceed with a redemption of the warrants if we
determine it is in our best interest to do so. As such, we would redeem the warrants in this manner when we believe it is in our best interest to update our capital structure to
remove the warrants and pay the redemption price to the warrant holders.

As stated above, we can redeem the warrants when the shares of Class A Common Stock are trading at a price starting at $10.00, which is below the exercise price of
$11.50, because it will provide certainty with respect to our capital structure and cash position while providing warrant holders with the opportunity to exercise their warrants on
a cashless basis for the applicable number of shares. If we choose to redeem the warrants when the shares of Class A Common Stock are trading at a price below the exercise
price of the warrants, this could result in the warrant holders receiving fewer shares of Class A Common Stock than they would have received if they had chosen to wait to
exercise their warrants for shares of Class A Common Stock if and when such shares of Class A Common Stock were trading at a price higher than the exercise price of $11.50.

No fractional shares of Class A Common Stock will be issued upon exercise. If, upon exercise, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share, we
will round down to the nearest whole number of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock to be issued to the holder. If, at the time of redemption, the warrants are
exercisable for a security other than the shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the Warrant Agreement, the warrants may be exercised for such security. At such time as
the warrants become exercisable for a security other than the shares of Class A Common Stock, the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to register under the
Securities Act the security issuable upon the exercise of the warrants.

Redemption procedures

A holder of a warrant may notify us in writing in the event it elects to be subject to a requirement that such holder will not have the right to exercise such warrant, to the
extent that after giving effect to such exercise, such person (together with such person’s affiliates), to the warrant agent’s actual knowledge, would beneficially own in excess of
9.8% (or such other amount as a holder may specify) of the shares of Class A Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise.



Anti-dilution Adjustments

If the number of issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock is increased by a capitalization or share dividend payable in shares of Class A Common Stock,
or by a split-up of shares of Class A Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such capitalization or share dividend, split-up or similar event, the
number of shares of Class A Common Stock issuable on exercise of each warrant will be increased in proportion to such increase in the issued and outstanding shares of
Class A Common Stock. A rights offering to holders of shares of Class A Common Stock entitling holders to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at a price less than the
“historical fair market value” (as defined below) will be deemed a share dividend of a number of shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the product of (1) the number of
shares of Class A Common Stock actually sold in such rights offering (or issuable under any other equity securities sold in such rights offering that are convertible into or
exercisable for shares of Class A Common Stock) and (2) one minus the quotient of (x) the price per share of Class A Common Stock paid in such rights offering and (y) the
historical fair market value. For these purposes, (1) if the rights offering is for securities convertible into or exercisable for shares of Class A Common Stock, in determining the
price payable for shares of Class A Common Stock, there will be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional amount payable upon
exercise or conversion and (2) “historical fair market value” means the volume weighted average price of shares of Class A Common Stock during the 10 trading day period
ending on the trading day prior to the first date on which the shares of Class A Common Stock trade on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way,
without the right to receive such rights.

In addition, if we, at any time while the warrants are outstanding and unexpired, pay a dividend or make a distribution in cash, securities or other assets to the holders of
shares of Class A Common Stock on account of such shares of Class A Common Stock (or other securities into which the warrants are convertible), other than (a) as described
above, (b) any cash dividends or cash distributions which, when combined on a per share basis with all other cash dividends and cash distributions paid on the shares of Class A
Common Stock during the 365-day period ending on the date of declaration of such dividend or distribution does not exceed $0.50 (as adjusted for share splits, share dividends,
rights issuances, subdivisions, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) but only with respect to the amount of the aggregate cash dividends or cash distributions equal to or
less than $0.50 per share, then the warrant exercise price will be decreased, effective immediately after the effective date of such event, by the amount of cash and/or the fair
market value of any securities or other assets paid on each share of Class A Common Stock in respect of such event.

If the number of issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse share split or reclassification of shares of
Class A Common Stock or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse share split, reclassification or similar event, the number of
shares of Class A Common Stock issuable on exercise of each warrant will be decreased in proportion to such decrease in issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock.

Whenever the number of shares of Class A Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants is adjusted, as described above, the warrant exercise price will
be adjusted by multiplying the warrant exercise price immediately prior to such adjustment by a fraction (x) the numerator of which will be the number of shares of Class A
Common Stock purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants immediately prior to such adjustment and (y) the denominator of which will be the number of shares of Class A
Common Stock so purchasable immediately thereafter.



In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock (other than those described above or that solely affects
the par value of such shares of Class A Common Stock), or in the case of any merger or consolidation of us with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or
merger in which we are the continuing corporation and that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of our issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common
Stock), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the assets or other property of us as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection
with which we are dissolved, the holders of the warrants will thereafter have the right to purchase and receive, upon the basis and upon the terms and conditions specified in the
warrants and in lieu of our shares of Class A Common Stock immediately theretofore purchasable and receivable upon the exercise of the rights represented thereby, the kind
and amount of shares of stock or other securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a
dissolution following any such sale or transfer, that the holder of the warrants would have received if such holder had exercised their warrants immediately prior to such event.
However, if such holders were entitled to exercise a right of election as to the kind or amount of securities, cash or other assets receivable upon such consolidation or merger,
then the kind and amount of securities, cash or other assets for which each warrant will become exercisable will be deemed to be the weighted average of the kind and amount
received per share by such holders in such consolidation or merger that affirmatively make such election, and if a tender, exchange or redemption offer has been made to and
accepted by such holders (other than a tender, exchange or redemption offer made by the Company in connection with redemption rights held by stockholders of the Company
as provided for in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws) under circumstances in which, upon completion of such tender or exchange offer, the maker thereof, together
with members of any group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act) of which such maker is a part, and together with any affiliate or associate of such
maker (within the meaning of Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) and any members of any such group of which any such affiliate or associate is a part, own beneficially
(within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) more than 50% of the issued and outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock, the holder of a warrant will be
entitled to receive the highest amount of cash, securities or other property to which such holder would actually have been entitled as a shareholder if such warrant holder had
exercised the warrant prior to the expiration of such tender or exchange offer, accepted such offer and all of the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such holder had been
purchased pursuant to such tender or exchange offer, subject to adjustment (from and after the consummation of such tender or exchange offer) as nearly equivalent as possible
to the adjustments provided for in the Warrant Agreement. Additionally, if less than 70% of the consideration receivable by the holders of shares of Class A Common Stock in
such a transaction is payable in the form of Class A Common Stock in the successor entity that is listed for trading on a national securities exchange or is quoted in an
established over-the-counter market, or is to be so listed for trading or quoted immediately following such event, and if the registered holder of the warrant properly exercises
the warrant within 30 days following public disclosure of such transaction, the warrant exercise price will be reduced as specified in the Warrant Agreement based on the per
share consideration minus Black-Scholes Warrant Value (as defined in the Warrant Agreement) of the warrant.

The warrants have been issued in registered form under the Warrant Agreement. The Warrant Agreement provides that the terms of the warrants may be amended
without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision, but requires the approval by the holders of at least 50% of the then issued and
outstanding Public Warrants to make any change that adversely affects the interests of the registered holders of Public Warrants.

The warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of ordinary shares and any voting rights until they exercise their warrants and receive shares of
Class A Common Stock. After the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled to one vote for each share held of
record on all matters to be voted on by shareholders.



Private Placement Warrants

The Private Placement Warrants will not be redeemable by us (except as described under “—Warrants—Public Warrants—Redemption of Warrants when the price per
share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00”) so long as they are held by the Sponsor or its permitted transferees. The Sponsor, or its permitted transferees, has
the option to exercise the Private Placement Warrants on a cashless basis and have certain registration rights described herein. Otherwise, the Private Placement Warrants have
terms and provisions that are identical to those of the Public Warrants. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by holders other than the Sponsor or its permitted transferees,
the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by us in all redemption scenarios and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.

Except as described under “—Warrants—Public Warrants—Redemption of Warrants when the price per share of Class A Common Stock equals or exceeds $10.00,” if
holders of the Private Placement Warrants elect to exercise them on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its warrants for that number of
shares of Class A Common Stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of shares of Class A Common Stock underlying the warrants,
multiplied by the excess of the “historical fair market value” (as defined below) less the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the historical fair market value. For these purposes,
the “historical fair market value” shall mean the average last reported sale price of the shares of Class A Common Stock for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day
prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant agent.

Form S-8 Registration Statement

We have filed, and in the future may file, one or more registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register the shares of Class A Common Stock
issued or issuable under our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”). Any such Form S-8 registration statement will become effective automatically upon filing. The
shares registered on such Form S-8 registration statements can be sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to Rule 144 limitations applicable to affiliates and vesting
restrictions.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Certain provisions of Delaware law, and of the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws, which are summarized below, may have the effect of delaying, deferring or
discouraging another person from acquiring control of us. They are also designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with the Board.
We believe that the benefits of increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a
proposal to acquire us because negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Delaware Law

We are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a public Delaware corporation from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested
stockholder, unless:

• the business combination or transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder was approved by the Board prior to the time that the
stockholder became an interested stockholder;



• upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the
voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding shares owned by directors who are also officers of the corporation and
shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be
tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

• at or subsequent to the time the stockholder became an interested stockholder, the business combination was approved by the Board and authorized at an annual or
special meeting of the stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the
interested stockholder.

In general, Section 203 defines a “business combination” to include mergers, asset sales and other transactions by or through the corporation or a direct or indirect
majority owned subsidiary of the corporation resulting in financial benefit to a stockholder and an “interested stockholder” as a person who, together with affiliates and
associates, owns, or is an affiliate or associate of the corporation and within three years did own, 15% or more of the voting power of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock.
These provisions may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing changes in control of our company.

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Provisions

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws include a number of provisions that could deter hostile takeovers or delay or prevent changes in control of the Board or
management team, including the following:

Dual Class Stock

As described above in “—General,” the Certificate of Incorporation provides for two series of common stock structure, which provides the Aurora Founders and certain
other stockholders who hold Class B Common Stock, individually or together, with significant influence over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of
directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets.

Classified Board

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Board is classified into three classes of directors, each of which will hold office for a three-year term after the initial
classification. In addition, directors may only be removed from the Board for cause. The existence of a classified board could delay a potential acquirer from obtaining majority
control of our board of directors, and the prospect of that delay might deter a potential acquirer.

Board of Directors Vacancies

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws authorize only the board of directors to fill vacant directorships, including newly created seats, subject to the rights of
holders of any series of our preferred stock to elect a director or fill vacancies. In addition, the number of directors constituting the Board is permitted to be set only by a
resolution adopted by a majority vote of our entire board of directors. These provisions prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of the Board and then gaining control of
our board of directors by filling the resulting vacancies with its own nominees. This makes it more difficult to change the composition of the Board and promotes continuity of
management.



Stockholder Action; Special Meeting of Stockholders

The Certificate of Incorporation provides that our stockholders may not take action by written consent but may only take action at annual or special meetings of our
stockholders. As a result, a holder controlling a majority of our capital stock would not be able to amend our Bylaws or remove directors without holding a meeting of our
stockholders called in accordance with the Bylaws. The Bylaws further provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by a majority of the entire Board,
the chairperson of the Board, our Chief Executive Officer or our President, thus prohibiting a stockholder from calling a special meeting. These provisions might delay the
ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or for stockholders controlling a majority of our capital stock to take any action, including the removal of
directors.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations

Our Bylaws provide advance notice procedures for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for
election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders or a special meeting of stockholders at which the election of directors is included as business to be brought before the
special meeting. Our Bylaws also specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These provisions might preclude our stockholders from
bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders or a special meeting of stockholders
if the proper procedures are not followed. We expect that these provisions may also discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the
acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company.

No Cumulative Voting

The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that stockholders are not entitled to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless a corporation’s certificate of
incorporation provides otherwise. The Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.

Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws Provisions

Amendments to certain provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation will require the approval of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting power of our outstanding
shares of stock entitled to vote on the election of directors, voting together as a single class. The Bylaws provide that approval of stockholders holding at least two-thirds of our
outstanding voting power voting as a single class is required for stockholders to amend or adopt any provision of our Bylaws.

Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock

The Board generally has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 1,000,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock with rights and
preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by the Board. The existence of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock would enable the Board to
render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or other means.



Exclusive Forum

Our Bylaws provide that, unless we expressly consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive
forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers,
stockholders or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law or our Certificate of
Incorporation or Bylaws or (iv) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, in all
cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. Unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal
district courts of the United States of America will be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any claim asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act
against any person in connection with any offering of Aurora securities. Any person or entity purchasing, holding or otherwise acquiring any interest in our securities shall be
deemed to have notice of and consented to these provisions. Although we believe these provisions benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of applicable
law for the specified types of actions and proceedings, the provisions may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us or our directors and officers.

Limitations of Liability and Indemnification

Our Certificate of Incorporation contains provisions that limit the liability of our directors for monetary damages to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General
Corporation Law. Consequently, our directors are not personally liable to us or our stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duties as directors, except
liability for the following:

• any breach of their duty of loyalty to our company or our stockholders;

• any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;

• unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; or

• any transaction from which they derived an improper personal benefit.

Any amendment to, or repeal or elimination of, these provisions will not eliminate, reduce or otherwise adversely affect the effect of these provisions in respect of any
act, omission or claim that occurred or arose prior to that amendment, repeal or elimination. If the Delaware General Corporation Law is amended to provide for further
limitations on the personal liability of directors of corporations, then the personal liability of our directors will be further limited to the greatest extent permitted by the
Delaware General Corporation Law.

In addition, our Bylaws provide that we will indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, any person who is or was a party or is
threatened to be made a party to any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that such person is or was one of our directors or officers or is or was a director or officer of
ours serving at our request as a director or officer of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. Our Bylaws provide that we may indemnify to the
fullest extent permitted by law any person who is or was a party or is threatened to be made a party to any action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that such person is or
was one of our employees or agents or is or was serving at our request as an employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or any
other person, to the extent not prohibited by applicable law. Our Bylaws also provide that we must advance expenses incurred by or on behalf of a director or officer in advance
of the final disposition of any action or proceeding, subject to limited exceptions.



Further, we have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers, which contain provisions broader than the specific
indemnification provisions contained in the Delaware General Corporation Law. These indemnification agreements require us, among other things, to indemnify our directors
and executive officers against liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service. These indemnification agreements also generally require us to advance all expenses
incurred by the directors and executive officers in investigating or defending any such action, suit or proceeding. We believe that these agreements are necessary to attract and
retain qualified individuals to serve as directors and executive officers.

The limitation of liability and indemnification provisions included in our Certificate of Incorporation, in our Bylaws and in indemnification agreements that we have
entered into with our directors and executive officers may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors and executive officers for breach of their
fiduciary duties. They may also reduce the likelihood of derivative litigation against our directors and executive officers, even though an action, if successful, might benefit us
and other stockholders. Further, a stockholder’s investment may be adversely affected to the extent that we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors and
executive officers as required by these indemnification provisions. At present, we are not aware of any pending litigation or proceeding involving any person who is, was, or is
expected be, one of our directors, officers, employees or other agents or is or was serving at our request as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, for which indemnification is sought, and we are not aware of any threatened litigation that may result in claims for
indemnification.

We have obtained insurance policies under which, subject to the limitations of the policies, coverage is provided to our directors and executive officers against loss
arising from claims made by reason of breach of fiduciary duty or other wrongful acts as a director or executive officer, including claims relating to public securities matters,
and to us with respect to payments that may be made by us to these directors and executive officers pursuant to our indemnification obligations or otherwise as a matter of law.

Certain of our non-employee directors may, through their relationships with their employers, be insured or indemnified against certain liabilities incurred in their
capacity as members of our board of directors.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling our company pursuant to the
foregoing provisions, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore
unenforceable.

Transfer Agent and Registrar and Warrant Agent

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A Common Stock and our Class B Common Stock and the warrant agent for our warrants is Equiniti Trust Company, LLC.
The transfer agent’s address is 55 Challenger Road, Floor 2, Ridgefield Park, New Jersey 07660, and its telephone number is (800) 937-5449.

Listing

Our Class A Common Stock and warrants are listed under the Nasdaq symbols “AUR” and “AUROW,” respectively.
 



Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
Professional Corporation

1301 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10019

o: (212) 999-5800
f: (212) 999-5801

Exhibit 5.1
February 14, 2025

Aurora Innovation, Inc.
1654 Smallman St.
Pittsburgh, PA 15222

Re:         Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as counsel to Aurora Innovation, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), in connection with the registration of
the proposed offer and sale of up to $500,000,000 of shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s Class A common stock, $0.00001 par value per
share, pursuant to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3ASR (File No. 333-284133) (the “Registration Statement”) including the
prospectus dated January 3, 2025 included therein (the “Base Prospectus”), filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission”) in connection with the registration pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), of the
Shares.

The offering and sale of the Shares are being made pursuant to the Sales Agreement, dated as of February 14, 2025 (the “Sales
Agreement”), by and among the Company and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., TD Securities (USA) LLC, and Allen & Company LLC.

We have examined copies of the Sales Agreement, the Registration Statement, the Base Prospectus, and the prospectus supplement
thereto related to the offering of the Shares, which prospectus supplement is dated as of February 14, 2025 and will be filed by the Company in
accordance with Rule 424(b) promulgated under the Act (the “Prospectus Supplement” and together with the Base Prospectus, the
“Prospectus”). We have also examined instruments, documents and records which we deemed relevant and necessary for the basis of our
opinion hereinafter expressed.

In such examination, we have assumed (a) the authenticity of original documents and the genuineness of all signatures; (b) the
conformity to the originals of all documents submitted to us as copies; (c) the truth, accuracy and completeness of the information,
representations and warranties contained in the instruments, documents, certificates and records we have reviewed; (d) that the Registration
Statement, and any amendments thereto (including post-effective amendments), will have become effective under the Act; (e) that the
Prospectus Supplement will

AUSTIN BEIJING BOSTON BRUSSELS HONG KONG LONDON LOS ANGELES NEW YORK PALO ALTO
SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO SEATTLE SHANGHAI WASHINGTON, DC WILMINGTON, DE



Aurora Innovation, Inc.
February 14, 2025
Page 2

have been filed with the Commission describing the Shares offered thereby; (f) that the Shares will be sold in compliance with applicable U.S.
federal and state securities laws and in the manner stated in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus; and (g) the legal capacity of all
natural persons. As to any facts material to the opinions expressed herein that were not independently established or verified, we have relied
upon oral or written statements and representations of officers and other representatives of the Company.

Based on and subject to the foregoing, we are of the opinion that the Shares have been duly authorized by the Company and, when
issued and delivered by the Company against payment therefor in accordance with the terms of the Sales Agreement, will be validly issued,
fully paid and nonassessable.

We express no opinion as to the laws of any other jurisdiction other than the federal laws of the United States of America and the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

* * *
We hereby consent to the use of this opinion as an exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on or about February

14, 2025, for incorporation by reference into the Registration Statement and the Prospectus. In giving such consent, we do not thereby admit
that we are in the category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Act or the rules and regulations of the Commission
thereunder.

    Sincerely,

/s/ Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C.

WILSON SONSINI GOODRICH & ROSATI
Professional Corporation



January 7, 2024

Shelley Webb

Shelley:

It is my pleasure to extend you an offer to join me and the team at Aurora as we work together to deliver the benefits of self-driving
technology safely, quickly, and broadly. We would like you to join us as a full-time SVP and Chief Legal Officer in our Mountain View office
beginning on February 4, 2025. The remainder of this letter, and its attachments, discuss the details of this offer.

Aurora will pay you at a starting rate of $450,000 per year. You will also be eligible for a target annual bonus of 40% of your
annualized salary. You will be eligible to participate in a number of fringe benefits sponsored by Aurora, and you will be entitled to paid
vacation consistent with Aurora’s vacation policy. You will also be eligible to participate in the Company’s Change in Control and
Severance Policy, contingent upon your execution of a participation agreement following the commencement of your full-time employment
with Aurora.

If you decide to join the Aurora team, it will also be recommended to Aurora’s Board of Directors (or its Compensation Committee)
following your start date that Aurora grant you an award of restricted stock units covering Aurora’s Class A Common Stock (“RSUs”)
having a value of $6,000,000. Please refer to Section 4 Equity of Exhibit A attached hereto for how the total number of units awarded is
calculated and approved.

The above offer is subject to Aurora’s standard terms and conditions, which are attached to this letter for your review as Exhibit A.
Like all Aurora employees, as a condition of your employment you will need to sign Aurora’s standard Proprietary Information and
Inventions Agreement (“PIIA”), a copy of which is attached to this letter as Exhibit B. If not accepted, this offer expires at the close of
business on January 31, 2025. Your employment is also contingent upon you starting work with Aurora on or before February 4, 2025.

* * * * *

We are excited about the possibility of you joining us on our mission and hope you accept this offer! If you do, please sign and date
this letter and the attached PIIA and return them to me via DocuSign.

aurora.tech
280 N Bernardo Ave • Mountain View • California • 94043

                                



Very truly yours,

AURORA OPERATIONS, INC.
/s/ Chris Urmson

By: Chris Urmson
Title: Chief Executive Officer

I have read and accept this employment offer, including the terms and conditions attached as Exhibit A.

Signature of Employee
/s/ Shelley Webb
Dated: 1/30/2025

aurora.tech
280 N Bernardo Ave • Mountain View • California • 94043

                                



EXHIBIT A

Your offer of employment with Aurora is subject to and includes the following terms and conditions.

1. Outside Business Activities . While you work for Aurora, you will not engage in any other employment, occupation, consulting or
other business activity (whether full time or part time) directly related to the business in which Aurora is now involved or becomes involved,
nor will you engage in any activities that conflict with your obligations to Aurora. By signing the attached offer letter that incorporates the
terms of this Exhibit A, you confirm to Aurora that you have no contractual commitments or other legal obligations that would prohibit you
from performing your duties for Aurora.

2. Cash Compensation.

A. Base Pay. You will be paid in accordance with Aurora’s standard payroll schedule and subject to applicable deductions and
withholdings. Your rate of pay will be subject to periodic review and adjustments at Aurora’s sole discretion.

B. Annual Bonus. You will be eligible for a target annual bonus of 40% of your annualized salary which will be adjusted on a
prorata basis for hire date and changes to annualized salary and/or target bonus percentage in the preceding calendar year.  Employees
must start employment before September 30 to be eligible for the annual bonus for the current plan year. Employees who start
employment after September 30 will be eligible for the annual bonus for the next plan year. This bonus is payable at Aurora’s sole
discretion, and determined based on a combination of individual and Company success factors.  It will be subject to all applicable
deductions and withholdings, and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, you must be employed by Aurora at the time the bonus is paid
in order to be eligible to receive it.

3. Employee Benefits. As a regular employee of Aurora, you will be eligible to participate in a number of Aurora-sponsored benefits,
as such benefits may be offered from time to time. In addition, you will be entitled to paid vacation in accordance with Aurora’s vacation
policy, as in effect from time to time. You will also be eligible to participate in the Company’s Change in Control and Severance Policy,
contingent upon your execution of a participation agreement following the commencement of your full-time employment with Aurora.

4. Equity. As described in the offer letter to which this Exhibit A is attached (the “Offer Letter”), if you decide to join Aurora, it will be
recommended to Aurora’s Board of Directors (or its Compensation Committee) following your start date that Aurora grant you restricted
stock units (“RSUs”). The number of RSUs presented for approval will be determined by dividing the RSU value identified in the Offer
Letter by the greater of a) $3.50 per share, or b) the average closing stock price of Aurora’s Class A Common Stock during the twenty-
trading-day period ending five business days before the grant date, rounded up to the nearest whole share.

aurora.tech
280 N Bernardo Ave • Mountain View • California • 94043

                                



A. Vesting. This equity award (“Equity Award”) will vest based on the passage of your time served to Aurora over approximately
four years in accordance with Aurora’s vesting policies (“Vesting Policies”) that are in effect at the time the Equity Award is approved by
the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee. 

B. Current Vesting Policies. Aurora’s current Vesting Policies, which may be amended from time to time in Aurora’s sole
discretion, are as follows: 

i. Aurora RSUs will generally vest on 4 specific dates each year: February 20, May 20, August 20 and November 20
(each a “quarterly vesting date”). 

ii.Vesting of RSUs is satisfied over a period of 4 years following your Vesting Commencement Date (described below)
with a cliff as to 18.75% of shares time-vesting nine months after your Vesting Commencement Date, and 1/16 time-
vesting quarterly thereafter, in each case, subject to your continued employment.

iii. If your employment start date is on a quarterly vesting date, or within six weeks after a quarterly vesting date,
your Vesting Commencement Date will be the quarterly vesting date preceding your start date (or, if you start on a
quarterly vesting date, your Vesting Commencement Date will be on your start date).

iv. If your employment start date is more than six weeks after a quarterly vesting date, your Vesting
Commencement Date will be the first quarterly vesting date after your start date.

C. Other Terms. Your Equity Award shall be subject to the terms and conditions of Aurora’s Equity Incentive Plan and Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement (as applicable), including vesting requirements. No right to any equity is earned or accrued until such time that
vesting occurs, nor does the grant confer any right to continue vesting or employment.

5. Other Conditions of Employment.
A. PIIA. Like all Aurora employees, you will be required to sign Aurora’s standard Proprietary Information and Inventions

Agreement (PIIA) prior to starting employment at Aurora. A copy of the PIIA is attached to your offer letter as Exhibit B.

B. Proof of Identity and Work Authorization. As required by law, your employment with Aurora is contingent upon your providing
legal proof of your identity and authorization to work in the United States.

C. Background Check. Your offer of employment with Aurora is contingent upon the satisfactory completion of a background
check

D. Trade Compliance.

i. Restricted Parties Lists Verification. This offer of employment and your continued employment with Aurora is contingent
upon verification that you and, if applicable, your affiliated entity/institution do not appear on any of the Restricted Parties Lists maintained
by the United States Government that will prevent Aurora from transacting (including but not
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limited to financial transactions) or engaging in certain type of activities with you, directly or indirectly.

ii. Export License Determination. If an export control license is required in connection with your employment, this offer is
also contingent upon Aurora’s receipt of the necessary export license and any similar government approvals. Your employment with Aurora
will commence following receipt of such export license and governmental approvals and is conditioned upon your (a) maintaining your
employment with Aurora, and (b) continued compliance with all conditions and limitations imposed by such license and governmental
approvals. If, for any reason, such export license and governmental approvals cannot be obtained within a commercially reasonable time
from your date of signature on this offer of employment, with such reasonable time to be determined in Aurora’s sole discretion, then this
offer will automatically terminate and have no force and effect. Additionally, should an export license become necessary at any point
following the commencement of your employment with Aurora, no export-controlled items, information, and/or code will be released to you
until such license and any similar government approvals are obtained. Aurora is not obligated to apply for any export license or other
government approval that may be required in connection with your employment, and Aurora cannot guarantee that any such license or
similar approvals will be granted, if sought.

6. Employment Relationship. Your employment with Aurora will be for no specific period of time. Your employment with Aurora will
be “at will,” meaning that either you or Aurora may terminate your employment at any time and for any reason, or no reason. Any contrary
representations that may have been made to you are hereby superseded. This is the full and complete agreement between you and
Aurora on this term. Aurora may modify your job duties, title, compensation and benefits, as well as its personnel policies and procedures
from time to time as necessary and in its sole discretion. However, the “at will” nature of your employment may only be changed in an
express written agreement signed by you and a duly authorized officer of Aurora (other than you).

7. Additional Information About This Offer. Your offer letter, this Exhibit A, and Exhibit B constitute the complete agreement (the
“Agreement”) between you and Aurora, contain all of the terms of your employment with Aurora, and supersede any prior agreements,
representations or understandings (whether written, oral or implied) between you and Aurora. Except as provided herein, this Agreement
may not be amended or modified, except by an express written agreement signed by both you and a duly authorized officer of Aurora
(other than you). Any amendment or modification to this Agreement made by you that is not agreed to in an express written agreement
signed by a duly authorized officer of Aurora (other than you) after your request for such amendment or modification will render this
Agreement and Aurora’s signature hereto null and void. If one or more provisions in this Agreement are held to be illegal or unenforceable
under applicable law, such illegal or unenforceable provision(s) shall be limited or excluded from this Agreement to the minimum extent
required so that this Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect and enforceable in accordance with its terms. This
Agreement, and the resolution of any disputes as to the meaning, effect, performance or validity of this Agreement or arising out of, related
to, or in any way connected with, this Agreement, your employment with Aurora or any other relationship between you and Aurora (the
“Disputes”) will be subject to arbitration as set forth in the PIIA, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
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and except as set forth in the PIIA, will be governed by California law, excluding laws relating to conflicts or choice of law. In the event of a
Dispute that is not subject to the arbitration provisions set forth in the PIIA, you and Aurora submit to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of
the state courts located in Santa Clara County, California, and The United States District Court for the Northern District of California
located in San Francisco, California, as applicable, in connection with any Dispute or any claim related to any Dispute.
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APPENDIX B

California Labor Code Section 2870. Application of provision providing that employee shall assign or offer to assign rights in
invention to employer.

(a) Any provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee 
shall assign, or offer to assign, any of his or her rights in an invention to his or her employer shall not apply to an invention that the
employee developed entirely on his or her own time without using the employer’s equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information
except for those inventions that either:

(1) Relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the employer’s business, or actual or demonstrably
anticipated research or development of the employer; or

(2) Result from any work performed by the employee for his employer.

(b) To the extent a provision in an employment agreement purports to require an employee to assign an invention otherwise excluded from
being required to be assigned under subdivision (a), the provision is against the public policy of this state and is unenforceable.
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Aurora Innovation, Inc.
Shares of Class A Common Stock

(par value $0.00001 per share)

Controlled Equity Offering

Sales Agreement

February 14, 2025

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
499 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022

TD Securities (USA) LLC
1 Vanderbilt Avenue
New York, NY 10017

Allen & Company LLC
711 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10022

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Aurora Innovation, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), confirms its agreement (this “Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald
& Co., TD Securities (USA) LLC and Allen & Company LLC (each individually, an “Agent” and collectively, the “Agents”), as follows:

1 .    Issuance and Sale of Shares. The Company agrees that, from time to time during the term of this Agreement, on the terms and subject to
the conditions set forth herein, it may issue and sell to or through an Agent (the “Designated Agent”), as sales agent or principal, shares of
Class A common stock (the “ Placement Shares”) of the Company, par value $0.00001 per share (the “Class A Common Stock”); provided,
however, that in no event shall the Company issue or sell through the Designated Agent such number or dollar amount of Placement Shares
that would (a) exceed the number or dollar amount of shares of Class A Common Stock registered on the effective Registration Statement
(defined below) pursuant to which the offering is being made, (b) exceed the number of authorized but unissued shares of Class A Common
Stock (less shares of Class A Common Stock issuable upon exercise, conversion or exchange of any outstanding securities of the Company or
otherwise reserved from the Company’s authorized capital stock), (c) exceed the number or dollar amount of shares of Class A Common Stock
permitted to be sold under Form S-3 (including General Instruction I.B.6 thereof, if applicable) or (d) exceed the number or dollar amount of
shares of Class A Common Stock for which the Company has filed a Prospectus Supplement (defined below) (the lesser of (a), (b), (c) and (d),
the “Maximum Amount”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the parties hereto agree that compliance with the
limitations set forth in this Section 1 on the amount of Placement
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Shares issued and sold under this Agreement shall be the sole responsibility of the Company and that the Agents shall have no obligation in
connection with such compliance; provided that the Designated Agent follows the trading instructions in all material respects provided by the
Company pursuant to any Placement Notice (as defined below). The offer and sale of Placement Shares through the Designated Agent will be
effected pursuant to the Registration Statement filed by the Company, which became automatically effective upon filing on January 3, 2025,
although nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring the Company to use the Registration Statement to issue Class A Common
Stock. The Company acknowledges and agrees that sales of Placement Shares under this Agreement may be made through affiliates of the
Agents, and that each Agent may otherwise fulfill its respective obligations pursuant to this Agreement to or through an affiliated broker-
dealer.

The Company has filed, in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and the
rules and regulations thereunder (the “Securities Act Regulations”), with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) a
registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-284133), including a base prospectus, relating to certain securities, including the Placement
Shares to be issued from time to time by the Company, and which incorporates by reference documents that the Company has filed or will file
in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the rules and regulations
thereunder. The Company has prepared a prospectus or a prospectus supplement to the base prospectus included as part of the registration
statement, which prospectus or prospectus supplement relates to the Placement Shares to be issued from time to time by the Company (the
“Prospectus Supplement”). The Company will furnish to the Agents, for use by the Agents, copies of the prospectus included as part of such
registration statement, as supplemented by the Prospectus Supplement, relating to the Placement Shares to be issued from time to time by the
Company. Except where the context otherwise requires, such registration statement(s), and any post-effective amendments thereto, including
all documents filed as part thereof or incorporated by reference therein, and including any information contained in a Prospectus (as defined
below) subsequently filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act Regulations or deemed to be a part of such
registration statement pursuant to Rule 430B or 462(b) of the Securities Act Regulations, and any one or more additional effective registration
statements on Form S-3 from time to time that will contain a base prospectus and related prospectus or prospectus supplement, if applicable
(which shall be a Prospectus Supplement), with respect to the Placement Shares, is herein called the “Registration Statement. ” The base
prospectus or base prospectuses, including all documents incorporated therein by reference, included in the Registration Statement, as it may be
supplemented, if necessary, by the Prospectus Supplement, in the form in which such prospectus or prospectuses and/or Prospectus Supplement
have most recently been filed by the Company with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act Regulations, together
with the then issued Issuer Free Writing Prospectus(es) (as defined below), is herein called the “Prospectus.”

Any reference herein to the Registration Statement, any Prospectus Supplement, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus
shall be deemed to refer to and include the documents, if any, incorporated by reference therein (the “Incorporated Documents”),
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including, unless the context otherwise requires, the documents, if any, filed as exhibits to such Incorporated Documents. Any reference herein
to the terms “amend,” “amendment” or “supplement” with respect to the Registration Statement, any Prospectus Supplement, the Prospectus or
any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include the filing of any document under the Exchange Act on or after the
most-recent effective date of the Registration Statement, or the date of the Prospectus Supplement, Prospectus or such Issuer Free Writing
Prospectus, as the case may be, and incorporated therein by reference. For purposes of this Agreement, all references to the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus or to any amendment or supplement thereto shall be deemed to include the most recent copy filed with the
Commission pursuant to its Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval system, or if applicable, the Interactive Data Electronic
Application system when used by the Commission (collectively, “EDGAR”).

2 .    Placements. Each time that the Company wishes to issue and sell Placement Shares hereunder (each, a “Placement”), it will notify the
Designated Agent by email notice (or other method mutually agreed to by the parties) of the number of Placement Shares to be issued, the time
period during which sales are requested to be made, any limitation on the number of Placement Shares that may be sold in any one day and any
minimum price below which sales may not be made (a “Placement Notice”), the form of which is attached hereto as Schedule 1. The
Placement Notice shall originate from any of the individuals from the Company set forth on Schedule 3 (with a copy to each of the other
individuals from the Company listed on such schedule), and shall be addressed to each of the individuals from the Designated Agent set forth
o n Schedule 3, as such Schedule 3 may be amended from time to time. The Placement Notice shall be effective unless and until (i) the
Designated Agent declines in writing to accept the terms contained therein for any reason, in its sole discretion, in which case the Designated
Agent shall, within two (2) Trading Days of the receipt of such Placement Notice, notify the Company (by e-mail notice or other method
mutually agreed by the parties), (ii) the entire amount of the Placement Shares thereunder have been sold, (iii) the Company suspends or
terminates the Placement Notice for any reason, in its sole discretion, (iv) the Company issues a subsequent Placement Notice with parameters
superseding those in the earlier dated Placement Notice for any reason, in its sole discretion, or (v) this Agreement has been terminated under
the provisions of Section 13. The amount of any discount, commission or other compensation to be paid by the Company to the Designated
Agent in connection with the sale of the Placement Shares shall be calculated in accordance with the terms set forth in Schedule 2. It is
expressly acknowledged and agreed that neither the Company nor the Agents will have any obligation whatsoever with respect to a Placement
or any Placement Shares unless and until the Company delivers a Placement Notice to the Designated Agent and the Designated Agent does
not decline such Placement Notice pursuant to the terms set forth above, and then only upon the terms specified therein and herein. In the event
of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of a Placement Notice, the terms of the Placement Notice will control.

3 .    Sales Through One Designated Agent . The Company agrees that any offer to sell Placement Shares, any solicitation of an offer to buy
Placement Shares, or any sales of Placement Shares hereunder shall only be effected by or through an Agent, and only a single Agent, on any
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single given day and the Company shall in no event request that more than one Agent offer or sell Placement Shares on the same day.

4 .    Sale of Placement Shares by the Designated Agent . Subject to the provisions of Section 6(a), the Designated Agent, for the period
specified in the Placement Notice, will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and
applicable state and federal laws, rules and regulations and the rules of the Nasdaq Global Select Market (the “Exchange”), to sell the
Placement Shares up to the amount specified in, and otherwise in accordance with the terms of, such Placement Notice. The Designated Agent
will provide written confirmation to the Company and the other Agents no later than the opening of the Trading Day (as defined below)
immediately following the Trading Day on which it has made sales of Placement Shares hereunder setting forth the number of Placement
Shares sold on such day, the volume-weighted average price of the Placement Shares sold on such day, the compensation payable by the
Company to the Designated Agent pursuant to Section 2 with respect to such sales, and the Net Proceeds (as defined below) payable to the
Company, with an itemization of the deductions made by the Agent (as set forth in Section 6(b)) from the gross proceeds that it receives from
such sales. Subject to the terms of the Placement Notice, the Designated Agent may sell Placement Shares by any method permitted by law
deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) of the Securities Act Regulations. “Trading Day” means any day on
which Class A Common Stock is traded on the Exchange.

5 .    Suspension of Sales. The Company or the Designated Agent may, upon notice to the other party in writing (including by email
correspondence to each of the individuals of the other party set forth on Schedule 3, if receipt of such correspondence is actually acknowledged
by any of the individuals to whom the notice is sent, other than via auto-reply) or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable facsimile
transmission or email correspondence to each of the individuals of the other party set forth on Schedule 3), suspend any sale of Placement
Shares (a “Suspension”); provided, however, that such Suspension shall not affect or impair any party’s obligations with respect to any
Placement Shares sold hereunder prior to the receipt of such notice. While a Suspension is in effect any obligation under Sections 8(l), 8(m),
and 8(n) with respect to the delivery of certificates, opinions, or comfort letters to the Agents, shall be waived. Each of the parties agrees that
no such notice under this Section 5 shall be effective against any other party unless it is made to one of the individuals named on Schedule 3
hereto, as such Schedule may be amended from time to time. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, during any period (x) in
which the Company is in possession of material non-public information or (y) commencing on the business day prior to the time the Company
issues a press release containing or shall otherwise publicly announce, its earnings, revenues or other operating results for the fiscal period or
periods (each, an “Earnings Announcement”) through and including the second (2nd) full Trading Day following the Earnings
Announcement, the Company and the Agents agree that (i) no sale of Placement Shares will take place, (ii) the Company shall not request the
sale of any Placement Shares, and (iii) the Agents shall not be obligated to sell or offer to sell any Placement Shares.
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6.    Sale and Delivery to the Designated Agent; Settlement.

( a )     Sale of Placement Shares. On the basis of the representations and warranties herein contained and subject to the terms and conditions
herein set forth, upon the Designated Agent’s acceptance of the terms of a Placement Notice, and unless the sale of the Placement Shares
described therein has been declined, suspended, or otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Designated Agent,
for the period specified in the Placement Notice, will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales
practices and applicable law and regulations to sell such Placement Shares up to the amount specified, and otherwise in accordance with the
terms of such Placement Notice. The Company acknowledges and agrees that (i) there can be no assurance that the Designated Agent will be
successful in selling Placement Shares, (ii) the Designated Agent will incur no liability or obligation to the Company or any other person or
entity if it does not sell Placement Shares for any reason other than a failure by the Designated Agent to use its commercially reasonable efforts
consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and applicable law and regulations to sell such Placement Shares as required under this
Agreement and (iii) the Designated Agent shall be under no obligation to purchase Placement Shares on a principal basis pursuant to this
Agreement, except as otherwise agreed in writing by the Designated Agent and the Company.

(b)     Settlement of Placement Shares. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Placement Notice, settlement for sales of Placement Shares
will occur on the first (1 ) Trading Day (or such earlier day as is industry practice for regular-way trading) following the date on which such
sales are made (each, a “Settlement Date”). The Designated Agent shall notify the Company of each sale of Placement Shares no later than
the opening of the Trading Day immediately following the Trading Day on which it has made sales of Placement Shares hereunder. The
amount of proceeds to be delivered to the Company on a Settlement Date against receipt of the Placement Shares sold (the “Net Proceeds”)
will be equal to the aggregate sales price received by the Agents, after deduction for (i) the Agents’ commission, discount or other
compensation for such sales payable by the Company pursuant to Section 2 hereof, and (ii) any transaction fees imposed by any Governmental
Authority in respect of such sales.

( c )     Delivery of Placement Shares. On or before each Settlement Date, the Company will, or will cause its transfer agent to, electronically
transfer the Placement Shares being sold by crediting the Designated Agent’s or its designee’s account (provided the Designated Agent shall
have given the Company and the other Agents written notice of such designee at least one Trading Day prior to the Settlement Date) at The
Depository Trust Company through its Deposit and Withdrawal at Custodian System or by such other means of delivery as may be mutually
agreed upon by the parties hereto which in all cases shall be freely tradable, transferable, registered shares in good deliverable form. On each
Settlement Date, the Designated Agent will deliver the related Net Proceeds in same day funds to an account designated by the Company on, or
prior to, the Settlement Date. The Designated Agent will be responsible for providing DWAC instructions or instructions for delivery by other
means with regard to the transfer of the Placement Shares being sold. The Company agrees that if the Company, or its transfer agent (if
applicable), defaults in its obligation to deliver Placement Shares on a Settlement Date, the Company agrees that in addition to and in no way
limiting the rights and obligations set forth in

st
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Section 11(a) hereto, it will (i) hold the Designated Agent harmless against any loss, claim, damage, or documented expense (including
reasonable and documented legal fees and expenses), as incurred, arising out of or in connection with such default by the Company or its
transfer agent (if applicable) and (ii) pay to the Designated Agent any commission, discount, or other compensation to which it would
otherwise have been entitled absent such default.

(d)    Denominations; Registration. Certificates for the Placement Shares, if any, shall be in such denominations and registered in such names
as the Designated Agent may request in writing at least one full Business Day (as defined below) before the applicable Settlement Date. The
certificates for the Placement Shares, if any, will be made available by the Company for examination and packaging by the Designated Agent
in The City of New York not later than noon (New York time) on the Business Day prior to the applicable Settlement Date.

(e)    Limitations on Offering Size. Under no circumstances shall the Company cause or request the offer or sale of any Placement Shares if,
after giving effect to the sale of such Placement Shares, the aggregate gross sales proceeds of Placement Shares sold pursuant to this
Agreement would exceed the lesser of (A) together with all sales of Placement Shares under this Agreement, the Maximum Amount and
(B) the amount authorized from time to time to be issued and sold under this Agreement by the Company’s board of directors, a duly authorized
committee thereof or a duly authorized executive committee, and notified to the Agents in writing. Under no circumstances shall the Company
cause or request the offer or sale of any Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement at a price lower than the minimum price authorized from
time to time by the Company’s board of directors, a duly authorized committee thereof or a duly authorized executive committee. Further, under
no circumstances shall the Company cause or permit the aggregate offering amount of Placement Shares sold pursuant to this Agreement to
exceed the Maximum Amount.

(f)    Block Sales. In the event the Company engages a Designated Agent for a sale of Placement Shares that would constitute a “block” within
the meaning of Rule 10b-18(a)(5) under the Exchange Act (a “Block Sale”), the Company will provide the Designated Agent, at such
Designated Agent’s request and upon reasonable advance notice to the Company, on or prior to the Settlement Date, the opinions of counsel,
accountant’s letter and officers’ certificates set forth in Section 8 hereof, each dated the Settlement Date, and such other documents and
information as the Designated Agent shall reasonably request.

7 .    Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to, and agrees with the Agents that as of the date
of this Agreement and as of each Applicable Time (as defined below), unless such representation, warranty or agreement specifies a different
time:

(a)    Registration Statement and Prospectus. The Company and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement meet the requirements for and
comply with the applicable conditions set forth in Form S-3 (including General Instructions I.A and I.B) under the Securities Act. The
Registration Statement has been filed with the Commission and became automatically effective upon filing. The Registration Statement is
effective. The Prospectus Supplement will name the Agents as the agents in the section entitled “Plan of Distribution.” The Company has not
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received, and has no notice of, any order of the Commission preventing or suspending the use of the Registration Statement, or threatening or
instituting proceedings for that purpose. The Registration Statement and the offer and sale of Placement Shares as contemplated hereby meet
the requirements of Rule 415 under the Securities Act and comply in all material respects with said Rule. Any statutes, regulations, contracts or
other documents that are required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration
Statement have been so described or filed. Copies of the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, and any such amendments or supplements and
all documents incorporated by reference therein that were filed with the Commission on or prior to the date of this Agreement have been
delivered, or are available through EDGAR, to the Agents and their counsel. The Company has not distributed and, prior to the later to occur of
each Settlement Date and completion of the distribution of the Placement Shares, will not distribute any offering material in connection with
the offering or sale of the Placement Shares other than the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus to
which the Agents have consented, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditions or delayed. The Class A Common Stock is
registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and is currently listed on the Exchange under the trading symbol “AUR.” The
Company has taken no action designed to, or likely to have the effect of, terminating the registration of the Class A Common Stock under the
Exchange Act, delisting the Class A Common Stock from the Exchange, nor has the Company received any notification that the Commission
or the Exchange is contemplating terminating such registration or listing. To the Company’s knowledge, it is in compliance with all applicable
listing requirements of the Exchange.

( b )    No Misstatement or Omission. The Registration Statement, when it became or becomes effective, and the Prospectus, and any
amendment or supplement thereto, on the date of such Prospectus or amendment or supplement, conformed and will conform in all material
respects with the requirements of the Securities Act. At each Settlement Date, the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, as of such date,
will conform in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act. The Registration Statement, when it became or becomes
effective, did not, and will not, contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. The Prospectus and any amendment and supplement thereto related to the Placement
Shares, on the date thereof and at each Applicable Time (defined below), did not or will not include an untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading. The documents incorporated by reference in the Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement did not, and any further documents filed
and incorporated by reference therein will not, when filed with the Commission, contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact required to be stated in such document or necessary to make the statements in such document, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading. The foregoing shall not apply to statements in, or omissions from, any such document made in reliance
upon, and in conformity with, information furnished to the Company by the Agents in writing specifically for use in the preparation thereof, it
being understood and agreed that the only such information furnished by the Agents to the Company consists of “Agent Information” as
defined below.
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(c)    Conformity with the Securities Act and Exchange Act.  The Registration Statement, the Prospectus, any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or
any amendment or supplement thereto, and the documents incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any
amendment or supplement thereto, when such documents were or are filed with the Commission under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act
or became or become effective under the Securities Act, as the case may be, conformed or will conform in all material respects with the
requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable.

( d )    Financial Information. The consolidated financial statements of the Company included or incorporated by reference in the Registration
Statement, the Prospectus and the Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses, if any, together with the related notes and schedules, present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the dates indicated and the consolidated results
of operations, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity of the Company for the periods specified and have been prepared in compliance
with the requirements of the Securities Act and Exchange Act and in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(“GAAP”) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except (i) as may be otherwise indicated in such financial statements or
notes thereto, or (ii) in the case of unaudited financial statements, to the extent they may exclude footnotes or may be condensed or summary
statements and subject to normal year-end audit adjustments); the other financial and statistical data with respect to the Company and the
subsidiaries contained or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses, if
any, are accurately and fairly presented and prepared on a basis consistent with the financial statements and books and records of the
Company; there are no financial statements (historical or pro forma) that are required to be included or incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement, or the Prospectus that are not included or incorporated by reference as required; the Company and the subsidiaries do
not have any material liabilities or obligations, direct or contingent (including any off-balance sheet obligations), not described in the
Registration Statement (excluding the exhibits thereto), and the Prospectus; and all disclosures contained or incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses, if any, regarding “non-GAAP financial measures” (as such
term is defined by the rules and regulations of the Commission) comply with Regulation G of the Exchange Act and Item 10 of Regulation S-K
under the Securities Act, to the extent applicable. The interactive data in eXtensible Business Reporting Language included or incorporated by
reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus fairly presents the information called for in all material respects and has been
prepared in accordance with the Commission’s rules and guidelines applicable thereto.

( e )    Conformity with EDGAR Filing. The Prospectus delivered to the Agents for use in connection with the sale of the Placement Shares
pursuant to this Agreement will be identical to the versions of the Prospectus created to be transmitted to the Commission for filing via
EDGAR, except to the extent permitted by Regulation S-T.

( f )    Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has, since the date of the latest audited financial statements
included or incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, (i) sustained any material loss or interference with its business from fire, explosion,
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flood or other calamity, whether or not covered by insurance, or from any labor dispute or court or governmental action, order or decree or (ii)
entered into any transaction or agreement (whether or not in the ordinary course of business) that is material to the Company and its
subsidiaries taken as a whole or incurred any liability or obligation, direct or contingent, that is material to the Company and its subsidiaries
taken as a whole, in each case other than as set forth or contemplated in the Prospectus; and, since the respective dates as of which information
is given in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there has not been (x) any change in the capital stock of the Company (other than as
a result of (i) the exercise, if any, of stock options or the settlement of any restricted stock units (including any “net” or “cashless” exercises or
settlements) or the award, if any, of stock options, restricted stock units or restricted stock in the ordinary course of business pursuant to the
Company’s equity plans that are described in the Prospectus, (ii) the repurchase of shares of capital stock pursuant to agreements providing for
an option to repurchase or a right of first refusal on behalf of the Company pursuant to the Company’s repurchase rights that are described in
the Prospectus, or (iii) the issuance, if any, of stock upon conversion, exercise or exchange of Company securities as described in the
Prospectus) or long term debt of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or (y) any Material Adverse Effect (as defined below), in each case
other than as set forth or contemplated in the Prospectus; as used in this Agreement, “Material Adverse Effect” shall mean any material
adverse change or effect, or any development involving a prospective material adverse change or effect, in or affecting (i) the business,
properties, general affairs, management, financial position, stockholders’ equity or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries,
taken as a whole, except as set forth or contemplated in the Prospectus, or (ii) the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this
Agreement, including the issuance and sale of the Placement Shares, or to consummate the transactions contemplated in the Prospectus.

( g )    Title to Real and Personal Property. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect, the Company and its subsidiaries have good and marketable title in fee simple to all real property and good and marketable title
to all personal property (other than with respect to Intellectual Property Rights (as defined below) which is addressed exclusively in subsection
(y)) owned by them, in each case free and clear of all liens, encumbrances and defects except such as do not materially affect the value of such
property and do not interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property by the Company and its subsidiaries, and except for
ordinary course transactions relating to the financing of certain vehicles; and any real property and buildings held under lease by the Company
and its subsidiaries are held by them, to the Company’s knowledge, under valid, subsisting and enforceable leases (subject to the effects of (i)
bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the
rights or remedies of creditors generally; (ii) the application of general principles of equity (including without limitation, concepts of
materiality, reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing, regardless of whether enforcement is considered in proceedings at law or in equity);
and (iii) applicable law and public policy with respect to rights to indemnity and contribution), with such exceptions as are not material and do
not materially interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property and buildings by the Company and its subsidiaries.
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(h)    Organization. Each of the Company and each of its subsidiaries has been (i) duly organized and is validly existing and in good standing
under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization, with corporate power and authority to own and/or lease its properties and conduct its business
as described in the Prospectus, and (ii) duly qualified as a foreign corporation for the transaction of business and is in good standing under the
laws of each other jurisdiction in which it owns or leases properties or conducts any business so as to require such qualification, except, in the
case of clause (i) with respect to each subsidiary only and clause (ii) with respect to each of the Company and each of its subsidiaries, where the
failure to be so qualified or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect; and each subsidiary of
the Company has been listed in the Registration Statement, to the extent required.

(i)    Capitalization; Authorization of Placement Shares . The Company has an authorized capitalization as set forth in the Prospectus and all of
the issued shares of capital stock of the Company have been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable and
conform in all material respects to the description of the capital stock of the Company contained in the Prospectus; and all of the issued shares
of capital stock of each subsidiary of the Company have been duly and validly authorized and issued, are fully paid and non-assessable and
(except, in the case of any foreign subsidiary, for directors’ qualifying shares) are owned directly or indirectly by the Company, free and clear
of all liens, encumbrances, equities or claims, except for such liens or encumbrances described in the Prospectus; and the Placement Shares
have been duly and validly authorized and, when issued and delivered against payment therefor as provided herein, will be duly and validly
issued and fully paid and non-assessable and will conform in all material respects to the description of the capital stock of the Company
contained in the Prospectus; and the issuance of the Placement Shares is not subject to any preemptive or similar rights, in each case, other than
rights which have been validly waived or complied with.

( j )    No Violation or Default; No Consents Required. The issue and sale of the Placement Shares and the compliance by the Company with
this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated in this Agreement and the Prospectus will not conflict with or result in
a breach or violation of any of the terms or provisions of, or constitute a default under, (A) any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan
agreement, lease or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries is bound or to which any of the property or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is subject, (B) the certificate of
incorporation or by-laws (or other applicable organizational document) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or (C) any statute or any
judgment, order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency or body having jurisdiction over the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any of their properties, except, in the case of clauses (A) and (C) for such defaults, breaches, or violations that would not, individually or in
the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and no consent, approval, authorization, order, registration or
qualification of or with any such court or governmental agency or body is required for the issue and sale of the Placement Shares or the
consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except such as have been obtained under the Securities
Act, the approval for listing on the Exchange and for such consents, approvals, authorizations, orders, registrations or qualifications as may be
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required under state securities or Blue Sky laws in connection with the purchase and distribution of the Placement Shares by the Agents.

(k)    No Litigation. Other than as set forth in the Prospectus, there are no legal, governmental or regulatory investigations, actions, demands,
claims, suits, arbitrations, inquiries or proceedings (“Actions”) pending to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or, to the Company’s
knowledge, any officer or director of the Company is a party or of which any property or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or, to
the Company’s knowledge, any officer or director of the Company is the subject which, if determined adversely to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (or such officer or director), would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect;
and, to the Company’s knowledge, no such proceedings are threatened or contemplated by any Governmental Authority or others; there are no
current or pending Actions that are required under the Securities Act to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus that are not
so described therein; and there are no statutes, regulations or contracts or other documents that are required under the Act to be filed as exhibits
to the Registration Statement or described in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus that are not so filed as exhibits to the Registration
Statement or described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

( l )    No Violation. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is (i) in violation of its certificate of incorporation or by-laws (or other
applicable organizational document), as applicable, (ii) in violation of any statute or any judgment, order, rule or regulation of any court or
governmental agency or body having jurisdiction over the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their properties, or (iii) in default in the
performance or observance of any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan
agreement, lease or other agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it or any of its properties may be bound, except as
disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and, in the case of the foregoing clauses (ii) and (iii), for such defaults as would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

( m )    Accurate Summaries. The statements set forth in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as applicable, under the caption
“Description of Capital Stock”, insofar as they purport to constitute a summary of the terms of the capital stock of the Company, are accurate,
complete and fair in all material respects.

(n)    Finder’s Fees. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has incurred any liability for any finder’s fees, brokerage commissions or
similar payments in connection with the transactions herein contemplated, except as may otherwise exist with respect to the Agents pursuant to
this Agreement.

( o )    Investment Company Act. The Company is not and, after giving effect to the offering and sale of the Placement Shares and the
application of the proceeds thereof, will not be required to register as, an “investment company”, as such term is defined in the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”).
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( p )    Status Under the Securities Act. The Company is not an ineligible issuer as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act at the times
specified in Rules 164 and 433 under the Securities Act in connection with the offering of the Placement Shares.

( q )    No Misstatement or Omission in an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as of its issue date and as of
each Applicable Time (as defined in Section 25 below), did not, does not and will not include any information that conflicted, conflicts or will
conflict with the information contained in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, including any incorporated document deemed to be a
part thereof that has not been superseded or modified. The foregoing sentence does not apply to statements in or omissions from any Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus based upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by the Agents specifically for use therein.

(r)    Independent Public Accounting Firm. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who has certified certain financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries are independent public accountants as required by the Securities Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder.

(s)    Internal Controls. The Company maintains a system of internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) that (i) complies with the requirements of the Exchange Act applicable to the Company, (ii) has been designed by the
Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or under their supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and (iii) is
sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that (A) transactions are executed in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization, (B) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP and to
maintain accountability for assets, (C) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific authorization and
(D) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with
respect to any differences; and, except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is effective and the Company is not aware of any material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting.

( t )    Changes to Internal Controls. Since the date of the latest audited financial statements included or incorporated by reference in the
Prospectus, there has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that has materially and adversely affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially and adversely affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, except as disclosed in the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus.

( u )    Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) under the Exchange Act) that have been designed to comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act applicable to the Company; such
disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company and its subsidiaries is made
known to the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer by others within those entities; and, except as
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disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, such disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

( v )    Market Capitalization. At the time the Registration Statement was originally declared effective, and at the time the Company’s most
recent Annual Report on Form 10-K was filed with the Commission, the Company met the then applicable requirements for the use of Form S-
3 under the Securities Act, including, but not limited to, General Instruction I.B.1 of Form S-3. The Company is not a shell company (as
defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) and has not been a shell company for at least 12 calendar months previously and if it has been a
shell company at any time previously, has filed current Form 10 information (as defined in Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3) with the Commission
at least 12 calendar months previously reflecting its status as an entity that is not a shell company.

(w)    FINRA Matters. The information provided to the Agents by the Company, its counsel, and its officers and directors for purposes of the
Agents’ compliance with applicable Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“ FINRA”) rules in connection with the offering of the
Placement Shares is true, complete, and correct and compliant with FINRA’s rules. The Company meets the requirements for use of Form S-3
under the Securities Act specified in FINRA Ruel 5110(h)(1)(C) and is an experienced issuer (as defined in FINRA Rule 5110(j)(6)).

( x )    Anti-Corruption Laws. In the past five years, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company,
after due inquiry, any director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any agent, controlled affiliate or other person
associated with or acting with the authority and on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries has (while acting on behalf of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries) (i) made, offered, promised or authorized any unlawful contribution, gift, entertainment or other unlawful expense (or
taken any act in furtherance thereof); (ii) made, offered, promised or authorized any direct or indirect unlawful payment; or (iii) violated or is
in violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or the rules and regulations thereunder or any other
applicable anti-corruption, anti-bribery or related law, statute or regulation (collectively, “ Anti-Corruption Laws”); the Company and its
subsidiaries have conducted their business in compliance with Anti-Corruption laws and have instituted and maintained and will continue to
maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to promote and achieve compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and with the
representations and warranties contained herein; neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries will use, directly or indirectly, the proceeds of
the offering in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or anything else of value,
to any person in violation of Anti-Corruption Laws.

( y )    Operations. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in compliance with all
applicable anti-money laundering laws, including 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956, 1957, the applicable anti-money laundering laws of various jurisdictions
where the Company and its subsidiaries conduct business, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and any related or similar rules,
regulation or guidelines issued, administered or enforced by any governmental agency (collectively, the “Anti-Money Laundering Laws”).
To
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the knowledge of the Company, no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority or body or any
arbitrator involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries with respect to the Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending or threatened.

(z)    Sanctions. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor any director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any agent, controlled affiliate or other person acting with the authority and on behalf of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries is (i) currently the subject or the target of any sanctions administered or enforced by the U.S. Government, including,
without limitation, the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, or the U.S. Department of State and including,
without limitation, the designation as a “specially designated national” or “blocked person,” the European Union, His Majesty’s Treasury, the
United Nations Security Council, or other relevant sanctions authority (collectively, “Sanctions”), (ii) located, organized, or resident in a
country or territory that is the subject or target of comprehensive Sanctions, including, without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, Syria, the
Crimea Region, the non-government controlled areas of the Zaporizhzhia and Kherson Regions of Ukraine and any other Covered Region of
Ukraine identified pursuant to Executive Order 14065, the so-called Donetsk People’s Republic and the so-called Luhansk People’s Republic
(a “Sanctioned Jurisdiction”), and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of the offering of the Placement Shares
hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any subsidiary, joint venture partner or other person or entity (i) to
fund or facilitate any activities of or business with any person, or in any country or territory, that, at the time of such funding, is the subject or
the target of Sanctions in violation of Sanctions or (ii) in any other manner that will result in a violation by any person (including any person
participating in the transaction, whether as underwriter, advisor, investor or otherwise) of Sanctions; neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries is knowingly engaged in, or has, at any time in the applicable statute of limitations period, knowingly engaged in, any dealings or
transactions with or involving any individual or entity that was or is, as applicable, at the time of such dealing or transaction, the subject or
target of Sanctions or with any Sanctioned Jurisdiction; the Company and its subsidiaries have instituted, and maintain, policies and procedures
designed to promote and achieve continued compliance with Sanctions.

(aa)    Authorization. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company.

(bb)    Intellectual Property. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, (i) the Company and each of its subsidiaries
own or have a license or other right to use all patents, patent applications, trademarks, service marks, trade names, domain names, copyrights
and registrations and applications thereof, know-how, (including trade secrets and other unpatented and/or unpatentable proprietary or
confidential information, systems or procedures and other intellectual property), technology, inventions, software, technical data and
information (statutory and common law intellectual property rights in the foregoing collectively, “Intellectual Property Rights”) that are used
in or necessary for the conduct of their respective businesses as currently conducted, except where a failure to own, possess or have a license or
other right to use any of the foregoing would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) to the Company’s knowledge,
the granted or registered Intellectual Property
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Rights owned by the Company and its subsidiaries that are material to the business of the Company and its subsidiaries and registered with a
Governmental Authority are valid, subsisting and enforceable, and there is no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, presently
threatened in writing action, suit, proceeding or claim by any third party challenging the validity, scope or enforceability of any such
Intellectual Property Rights, except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (iii) the Company and each of its
subsidiaries do not infringe or misappropriate any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party, and have not infringed or misappropriated any
Intellectual Property Rights of any third party, for each of the foregoing, in a manner that would reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect, (iv) during the two year period prior to the date hereof, the Company and each of its subsidiaries have not received any written
notice of any claim of infringement or misappropriation, with any Intellectual Property Rights of any third party in a manner that would
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (v) no third party is infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating, or has
infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated, any Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Company or its subsidiaries in a manner that
would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (vi) all employees or contractors engaged in the development of Intellectual
Property Rights for Company or its subsidiaries have executed an enforceable invention assignment agreement whereby such employee or
contractor presently assigns all of their right, title and interest in and to such Intellectual Property Rights created within the scope of the
performance of such services for the Company or its subsidiaries to the Company or the applicable subsidiary, except where a failure to enter
into such agreement would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and to the Company’s knowledge, no such
agreement has been breached or violated, (vii) the Company and its subsidiaries use, and have used, reasonable efforts to appropriately
maintain all material confidential information which the Company or its subsidiaries desired to maintain as confidential in their reasonable
business judgment, including any information that is intended to be maintained as a trade secret, (viii) the Company and each of its subsidiaries
use and have used all software and other materials used in their businesses that are distributed under a “free,” “open source” or similar licensing
model (including but not limited to the MIT License, Apache License, GNU General Public License, GNU Lesser General Public License and
GNU Affero General Public License) (collectively, “ Open Source Software”) in compliance with all license terms applicable to such Open
Source Software, except where the failure to comply would not have a Material Adverse Effect and, (ix) the Company and each of its
subsidiaries do not use or distribute and have not used or distributed any Open Source Software in any manner that requires or has required (A)
the Company or any of its subsidiaries to permit the reverse engineering by a third party of any software code or other technology owned by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or (B) any software code or other technology owned by the Company or any of its subsidiaries to be (1)
disclosed or distributed in source code form, (2) licensed for the purpose of making derivative works or (3) redistributed at no charge, except,
in the cases of clauses (A) and (B), as would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(cc)    Cybersecurity. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and Prospectus and as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be
reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (i) the information technology assets and equipment, computers, systems, networks,
websites, and their constituent hardware, software, applications, and databases, owned or used by

15



the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “IT Systems”) are adequate in capacity and operation for, and operate and perform as required
in connection with the operation of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries as currently conducted, free and clear of all bugs, errors,
defects, Trojan horses, time bombs, malware and other malicious code; and (ii) the Company and each of its subsidiaries, as applicable, have
established, implemented, complied with, maintained, and enforced a comprehensive, Company-wide information security program that
includes reasonable information technology, information security, cyber security and data protection controls, policies, procedures, and
safeguards and organizational, physical, administrative and technical measures consistent with Privacy Laws (as defined below), and any
written policy adopted by the Company, to (A) to maintain and protect the integrity, continuous operation, redundancy and security of all IT
Systems, (B) protect confidential information, including trade secrets and all personal, personally identifiable, sensitive, or regulated data or
information (collectively, “Personal Data”) collected or otherwise processed by or for the Company or one of its subsidiaries against any
security breaches, incidents or compromises, accidental or unauthorized access, use, loss, disclosure, alteration, destruction or other
unauthorized processing or misuse (each, a “Security Incident”), and (C) identify and address internal and external risks to the privacy and
security of Personal Data in its or one of its subsidiaries’ possession or control. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and
Prospectus, there have been no Security Incidents regarding Personal Data collected or otherwise processed by or for the Company or one of its
subsidiaries, and no breaches, outages, or Security Incidents regarding IT Systems, except in each case for those that would not, individually or
in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect and those that have been fully remedied without material cost or
liability or the duty to notify any other person, nor are any incidents under internal review or, to the Company’s knowledge, investigations
relating to the same. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and Prospectus and as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be
reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, the Company and each of its subsidiaries are in compliance with and have at all times
(i) complied with all applicable laws or statutes and all applicable judgments, orders, rules and regulations of any court or arbitrator or
governmental or regulatory authority, and all regulatory, industry, and self-regulatory guidelines and codes that are binding upon the Company
and its subsidiaries, in each case, that govern the receipt, collection, compilation, use, storage, processing, sharing, safeguarding, security,
disposal, destruction, disclosure or transfer of Personal Data or relate to privacy, data security, data or security breach notification, including
with respect to website and mobile application privacy policies and practices, Social Security number protection, processing and security of
payment card information, and email, text message, or telephone communications (“Privacy Laws”), and all published interpretations by any
governmental or regulatory authority of such Privacy Laws applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (ii) maintained, continues
to maintain and has complied with the Company’s policies regarding privacy and data security, any contractual commitment of the Company
or its subsidiaries with respect to data privacy, data protection, or cybersecurity, and any privacy policy or other written disclosure or assurance
otherwise made available by the Company to the persons to whom the Personal Information relates. The Company and its subsidiaries in
relation to any Security Incident and/or Privacy Laws, have not: (ii) received any notice, request, claim, complaint, correspondence or other
communication regarding non-compliance; or (ii) been subject to or become aware of any pending or threatened inquiry, action, suit,
investigation or proceeding by or before any
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governmental entity, and, the Company is not aware of any reasonable basis for any such inquiry, action, suit, investigation or proceeding.

(dd)    Forward-Looking Statements. No forward-looking statement (within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E
of the Exchange Act) included or incorporated by reference in either of the Registration Statement or Prospectus has been made or reaffirmed
without a reasonable basis or has been disclosed other than in good faith.

(ee)    Agent Purchases. The Company acknowledges and agrees that the Agents have informed the Company that each Designated Agent may,
to the extent permitted under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, purchase and sell Class A Common Stock for its own account while this
Agreement is in effect, provided, that the Company shall not be deemed to have authorized or consented to any such purchases or sales by the
applicable Agent.

( f f )        Statistical and Market-Related Data. Nothing has come to the attention of the Company that has caused the Company to believe that
the statistical and market-related data included in each of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus is not based on or derived from sources
that the Company believes to be reliable and accurate in all material respects.

(gg)    Sarbanes-Oxley Act. There is and has been no failure on the part of the Company or any of the Company’s directors or officers, in their
capacities as such, to comply in all material respects with any provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), as
amended and the rules and regulations promulgated in connection therewith, including Section 402 related to loans and Sections 302 and 906
related to certifications.

(hh)    Market Activities. Neither the Company nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any of its controlled affiliates has taken or will take, directly
or indirectly, any action designed to or that could reasonably be expected to cause or result in the stabilization or manipulation of the price of
any security of the Company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the offering of the Placement Shares; however, the Company makes
no representation or warranty with respect to any actions taken by the Agents or their respective affiliates.

(ii)        Permits. The Company and each of its subsidiaries have such permits, licenses, approvals, consents, franchises, certificates of need and
other approvals or authorizations of governmental or regulatory authorities (“Permits”) as are necessary under applicable law to lease or own
their respective properties and conduct their respective businesses in the manner described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus,
except for any of the foregoing that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has received notice of any
proceedings related to the revocation or modification of any such Permits that, individually or in the aggregate, if the subject of an unfavorable
decision, ruling or finding, would have a Material Adverse Effect.

( j j )        Insurance. The Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, are insured against such losses and risks and in such amounts as are
prudent and customary in the businesses in which they are engaged and as required by law.
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( k k )    Environmental Laws. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and as would not, individually or in the
aggregate, be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, the Company and each of its subsidiaries (i) is, and has been, in
compliance with any and all applicable laws and regulations relating to the protection of human health and safety as affected by exposure to
hazardous or toxic substances, the environment or hazardous or toxic substances or wastes, pollutants or contaminants (“Environmental
Laws”), (ii) has received and is in compliance with all permits, licenses or other approvals required of it under applicable Environmental Laws
to conduct its business as presently conducted, (iii) has not received written notice of any actual or potential enforcement action or liability
under any Environmental Law; and (iv) is not aware of any events, facts or circumstances (including, without limitation, any release or
threatened release of any hazardous or toxic substances at or from any property owned or operated by the Company and each of its subsidiaries,
or at or from any property to which hazardous or toxic substances have been sent by or on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries from
any property owned or operated by the Company or any of its subsidiaries) that are reasonably likely to form the basis of any order, decree,
plan or agreement requiring clean up or remediation, or any action, suit or proceeding by any private party or governmental body or agency,
against or affecting the Company or any of its subsidiaries relating to hazardous or toxic substances or Environmental Laws.

(ll)        Taxes. The Company and each of its subsidiaries have timely filed all material federal, state, local and foreign tax returns required to be
filed through the date of this Agreement or have requested extensions thereof and have timely paid all material taxes required to be paid
thereon (except for such taxes being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves in conformity with
U.S. GAAP have been created in the financial statements of the Company), and no material tax deficiency has been determined adversely to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor has the Company or any of its subsidiaries received any written notice of any asserted material tax
deficiency which, if determined adversely to the Company or its subsidiaries, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(mm)    Actively Traded Security. The Class A Common Stock is an “actively traded security” excepted from the requirements of Rule 101 of
Regulation M by subsection (c)(1) of such rule.

(nn)    Rating of Securities. There are no debt securities, convertible securities or preferred stock issued or guaranteed by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries that are rated by a “nationally recognized statistical rating organization”, as such term is defined in Section 3(a)(62) under the
Exchange Act.

(oo)    Underwriting Agreements. The Company is not a party to any agreement with an agent or underwriter for any other “at the market” or
continuous equity transaction.

(pp)    Lending Relationship. Except as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company does not intend to use any of the proceeds from the sale of
the Placement Shares to repay any outstanding debt owed to an Agent or any affiliate of an Agent.

8.    Covenants of the Company. The Company covenants and agrees with the Agents that:
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( a )    Registration Statement Amendments. After the date of this Agreement and during any period in which a Prospectus relating to any
Placement Shares is required to be delivered by the Agents under the Securities Act (including in circumstances where such requirement may
be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities Act or similar rule), (i) the Company will notify the Agents promptly of the time when
any subsequent amendment to the Registration Statement, other than documents incorporated by reference, has been filed with the Commission
and/or has become effective or any subsequent supplement to the Prospectus has been filed and of any request by the Commission for any
amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or Prospectus or for additional information (insofar as it relates to the transactions
contemplated hereby), (ii) the Company will prepare and file with the Commission, promptly upon the Agents’ request, any amendments or
supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that, in the Agents’ reasonable opinion, may be necessary or advisable in connection
with the distribution of the Placement Shares by the Designated Agent (provided, however, that the failure of the Agents to make such request
shall not relieve the Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect the Agents’ right to rely on the representations and warranties
made by the Company in this Agreement and provided, further, that the only remedy the Agents shall have with respect to the failure to make
such filing shall be to cease making sales under this Agreement until such amendment or supplement is filed); (iii) the Company will not file
any amendment or supplement (except for documents incorporated by reference) to the Registration Statement or Prospectus, in each case,
relating to the Placement Shares or a security convertible into the Placement Shares unless a copy thereof has been submitted to the Agents
within a reasonable period of time before the filing and the Agents have not objected thereto (provided, however, that (A) the failure of the
Agents to make such objection shall not relieve the Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect the Agents’ right to rely on the
representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement; and (B) the only remedy the Agents shall have with respect to the
failure by the Company to obtain such consent shall be to cease making sales under this Agreement) and the Company will furnish to the
Agents at the time of filing thereof a copy of any document that upon filing is deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Registration
Statement or Prospectus, except for those documents available via EDGAR; and (iv) the Company will cause each amendment or supplement
to the Prospectus to be filed with the Commission as required pursuant to the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act or, in
the case of any document to be incorporated therein by reference, to be filed with the Commission as required pursuant to the Exchange Act,
within the time period prescribed (the determination to file or not file any amendment or supplement with the Commission under this Section
8(a), based on the Company’s reasonable opinion or reasonable objections, shall be made exclusively by the Company); provided, however,
that the Company may delay any such amendment or supplement, if, in the reasonable judgment of the Company, it is in the best interests of
the Company to do so. Until such time as the Company shall have effected such compliance, the Company shall not notify the Agents to
resume the offering of Placement Shares.

(b)    Notice of Commission Stop Orders. The Company will advise the Agents, promptly after it receives notice or obtains knowledge thereof,
of the issuance or threatened issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, of the
suspension of the qualification of the Placement Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or
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of the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for any such purpose; and it will promptly use its commercially reasonable efforts to prevent
the issuance of any stop order or to obtain its withdrawal if such a stop order should be issued. The Company will advise the Agents promptly
after it receives any request by the Commission for any amendments to the Registration Statement or any amendment or supplements to the
Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or for additional information related to the offering of the Placement Shares or for additional
information related to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus.

(c)    Delivery of Prospectus; Subsequent Changes. During any period in which a Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be
delivered by the Agents under the Securities Act with respect to the offer and sale of the Placement Shares, (including in circumstances where
such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities Act or similar rule), the Company will comply with all
requirements imposed upon it by the Securities Act, as in effect from time to time, and to file on or before their respective due dates (taking into
account any extensions available under the Exchange Act) all reports and any definitive proxy or information statements required to be filed by
the Company with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, 15(d) or any other provision of or under the Exchange Act. If the
Company has omitted any information from the Registration Statement pursuant to Rule 430B under the Securities Act, it will use its
commercially reasonable efforts to comply with the provisions of and make all requisite filings with the Commission pursuant to said Rule
430B and to notify the Agents promptly of all such filings. If during such period any event occurs as a result of which the Prospectus as then
amended or supplemented would include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
therein, in the light of the circumstances then existing, not misleading, or if during such period it is necessary to amend or supplement the
Registration Statement or Prospectus to comply with the Securities Act, the Company will promptly notify the Agents to suspend the offering
of Placement Shares during such period and the Company will promptly amend or supplement the Registration Statement or Prospectus (at the
expense of the Company) so as to correct such statement or omission or effect such compliance; provided, however, that the Company may
delay any such amendment or supplement, if, in the reasonable judgment of the Company, it is in the best interests of the Company to do so.
Until such time as the Company shall have corrected such statement or omission or effected such compliance, the Company shall not notify the
Agents to resume the offering of Placement Shares.

(d)    Listing of Placement Shares. Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice, the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to
cause the Placement Shares to be listed on the Exchange.

( e )    Delivery of Registration Statement and Prospectus. The Company will furnish to the Agents and their counsel (at the expense of the
Company) copies of the Registration Statement, the Prospectus (including all documents incorporated by reference therein) and all
amendments and supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that are filed with the Commission during any period in which a
Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered under the Securities Act (including all documents filed with the
Commission during
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such period that are deemed to be incorporated by reference therein), in each case as soon as reasonably practicable and in such quantities as
the Agents may from time to time reasonably request and, at the Agents’ request, will also furnish copies of the Prospectus to each exchange or
market on which sales of the Placement Shares may be made; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to furnish any
document (other than the Prospectus) to the Agents to the extent such document is available on EDGAR.

(f)    Earning Statement. To the extent not otherwise available on EDGAR, the Company will make generally available to its security holders
as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 15 months after the end of the Company’s current fiscal quarter, an earning statement
covering a 12-month period that satisfies the provisions of Section 11(a) and Rule 158 of the Securities Act.

(g)    Use of Proceeds. The Company will use the Net Proceeds as described in the Prospectus in the section entitled “Use of Proceeds.”

( h )    Notice of Other Sales. Without the prior written consent of the Agents, the Company will not, directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell,
contract to sell, grant any option to sell or otherwise dispose of any Class A Common Stock (other than the Placement Shares offered pursuant
to this Agreement) or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Class A Common Stock, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire,
Class A Common Stock during the period beginning on the fifth (5 ) Trading Day immediately prior to the date on which any Placement
Notice is delivered to the Designated Agent hereunder and ending on the fifth (5 ) Trading Day immediately following the final Settlement
Date with respect to Placement Shares sold pursuant to such Placement Notice (or, if the Placement Notice has been terminated or suspended
prior to the sale of all Placement Shares covered by a Placement Notice, the date of such suspension or termination); and will not directly or
indirectly in any other “at the market” or continuous equity transaction offer to sell, sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell or otherwise
dispose of any Class A Common Stock (other than the Placement Shares offered pursuant to this Agreement) or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for Class A Common Stock, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire, Class A Common Stock prior to the sixtieth (60 ) day
immediately following the termination of this Agreement; provided, however, that such restrictions will not be required in connection with the
Company’s (i) offer, issuance, grant or sale of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) issuance or sale of Class A Common Stock,
equity awards to purchase or receive Class A Common Stock or Class A Common Stock issuable upon the exercise, vesting or settlement of
equity awards, pursuant to (A) any employee, consultant or director stock option, incentive or benefits plan, stock ownership plan or dividend
reinvestment plan (but not Class A Common Stock subject to a waiver to exceed plan limits in its dividend reinvestment plan) of the Company
whether now in effect or hereafter implemented or (B) Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(c)(4), (iii) issuance or sale of Class A Common Stock
issuable upon the exchange, conversion or redemption of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights as may be outstanding
from time to time, (iv) modification of any outstanding equity awards, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire Class A Common Stock
and (v) issuance or sale of, Class A Common Stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Class A Common Stock as
consideration for or in connection with mergers, acquisitions, other
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business combinations, strategic alliances or partnerships (including with vendors and customers) occurring after the date of this Agreement.

(i)    Change of Circumstances. The Company will, at any time during the pendency of a Placement Notice, advise the Agents promptly after it
shall have received notice or obtained knowledge thereof, of any information or fact that would alter or affect in any material respect any
opinion, certificate, letter or other document required to be provided to the Agents pursuant to this Agreement.

( j )    Due Diligence Cooperation. During the term of this Agreement, the Company will cooperate with any reasonable due diligence review
conducted by the Agents or its representatives in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation,
providing information and making available documents and senior corporate officers, during regular business hours and at the Company’s
principal offices, as the Agents may reasonably request.

(k)    Required Filings Relating to Placement of Placement Shares. The Company shall disclose, in its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and in its
annual report on Form 10-K to be filed by the Company with the Commission from time to time, the number of the Placement Shares sold
through the Agents under this Agreement, and the net proceeds to the Company from the sale of the Placement Shares pursuant to this
Agreement during the relevant quarter or, in the case of an Annual Report on Form 10-K, during the fiscal year covered by such Annual
Report and the fourth quarter of such fiscal year. The Company agrees that on such dates as the Securities Act shall require, the Company will
(i) file a prospectus supplement with the Commission under the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, which prospectus
supplement will set forth, within the relevant period, the amount of Placement Shares sold through the Agents, the Net Proceeds to the
Company and the compensation payable by the Company to the Agents with respect to such Placement Shares (provided that the Company
may satisfy its obligations under this Section 8(k)(i) by making a filing in accordance with the Exchange Act including such information), and
(ii) deliver such number of copies of each such prospectus supplement to each exchange or market on which such sales were effected as may be
required by the rules or regulations of such exchange or market.

( l )    Representation Dates; Certificate. (1) On or prior to the date of the first Placement Notice and (2) following the delivery of the first
Placement Notice, each time the Company:

(i) files the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares or amends or supplements (other than a prospectus supplement relating
solely to an offering of securities other than the Placement Shares) the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the
Placement Shares by means of a post-effective amendment, sticker, or supplement but not by means of incorporation of
documents by reference into the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares;

(ii) files an annual report on Form 10-K under the Exchange Act (including any Form 10-K/A containing amended financial
information or a material amendment to the previously filed Form 10-K);
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(iii) files its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act; or

(iv) files a current report on Form 8-K containing (a) amended financial information (other than information “furnished” pursuant
to Items 2.02 or 7.01 of Form 8-K or to provide disclosure pursuant to Item 8.01 of Form 8-K relating to the reclassification of
certain properties as discontinued operations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144) or (b)
financial information required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 2.01 of Form 8-K, under the Exchange Act (each date of filing of
one or more of the documents referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) shall be a “Representation Date”);

the Company shall furnish the Agents (but in the case of clause (iv) above only if the Agents reasonably determine that the information
contained in such Form 8-K is material) with a certificate dated the Representation Date, in the form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Agents and their counsel, substantially similar to the form previously provided to the Agents and their counsel,
modified, as necessary, to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or supplemented. The requirement to
provide a certificate under this Section 8(l) shall be automatically waived for any Representation Date occurring at a time during which
no Placement Notice is pending or a Suspension is in effect, which waiver shall continue until the earlier to occur of the date the
Company delivers instructions for the sale of Placement Shares hereunder (which for such calendar quarter shall be considered a
Representation Date) and the next occurring Representation Date for which the requirement to provide a certificate under this Section
8(l) is not waived pursuant to the terms thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company subsequently decides to sell Placement
Shares following a Representation Date when the Company relied on such waiver and did not provide the Agents with a certificate under
this Section 8(l), then before the Company delivers the instructions for the sale of Placement Shares or the Designated Agent sells any
Placement Shares pursuant to such instructions, the Company shall provide the Agents with a certificate in conformity with this Section
8(l) dated as of the date that the instructions for the sale of Placement Shares are issued.

(m)    Legal Opinion. (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice and (2) within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date with
respect to which the Company is obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 8(l) for which no waiver is applicable and excluding the
date of this Agreement, the Company shall cause to be furnished to the Agents a written opinion and negative assurance letter of Wilson
Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C. (“ Company Counsel”), or other counsel reasonably satisfactory to the Agents, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Agents and their counsel, substantially similar to the form previously provided to the Agents and their counsel,
modified, as necessary, to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented; provided, however, that,
other than as required by Section 6(f) or as a result of the filing by the Company of a Form 10-K/A containing amended financial information
or a material amendment to the previously filed Form 10-K or a Form 8-K described in Section 8(l)(2)(iv), the Company shall be required to
furnish to the Agents no more than one opinion and negative assurance letter hereunder per filing of an Annual
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Report on Form 10-K and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; provided, further, that in lieu of such legal opinion or negative assurance letter for
subsequent periodic filings under the Exchange Act, Company Counsel may furnish the Agents with a letter (a “Reliance Letter”) to the effect
that the Agents may rely on a prior legal opinion or negative assurance letter, as the case may be, delivered under this Section 8(m) to the same
extent as if it were dated the date of such letter (except that statements in such prior legal opinion or negative assurance letter shall be deemed
to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or supplemented as of the date of the Reliance Letter).

(n)    Comfort Letter. (1) Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice and (2) within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation Date with
respect to which the Company is obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 8(l) for which no waiver is applicable and excluding the
date of this Agreement, the Company shall cause (i) its independent registered public accounting firm to furnish the Agents letters (the
“Comfort Letters”), dated the date the Comfort Letter is delivered, which shall meet the requirements set forth in this Section 8(n) and (ii) the
Company’s chief financial officer to furnish the Agents a certificate (the “ CFO Certificate”), dated the date the CFO Certificate is delivered;
provided, that if reasonably requested by the Agents, the Company shall cause a Comfort Letter and/or CFO Certificate to be furnished to the
Agents within ten (10) Trading Days of the date of occurrence of any material transaction or event requiring the filing of a Current Report on
Form 8-K containing material financial information (including the restatement of the Company’s financial statements). The Comfort Letter
from the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm shall be in a form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agents, (i)
confirming that they are an independent registered public accounting firm within the meaning of the Securities Act and the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board, (ii) stating, as of such date, the conclusions and findings of such firm with respect to the financial information
and other matters ordinarily covered by accountants’ “comfort letters” to underwriters in connection with registered public offerings (the first
such letter, the “Initial Comfort Letter”) and (iii) updating the Initial Comfort Letter with any information that would have been included in
the Initial Comfort Letter had it been given on such date and modified as necessary to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus,
as amended and supplemented to the date of such letter. The CFO Certificate shall be in a form and substance satisfactory to the Agents, with
respect to certain financial data contained in the Registration Statement, Prospectus or documents incorporated by reference therein, providing
“management comfort” with respect to such information, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agents.

(o)    Market Activities; Compliance with Regulation M. The Company will not, directly or indirectly, (i) take any action designed to cause or
result in, or that constitutes or would reasonably be expected to constitute, the stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the
Company to facilitate the sale or resale of Class A Common Stock or (ii) sell, bid for, or purchase Class A Common Stock in violation of
Regulation M, or pay anyone any compensation for soliciting purchases of the Placement Shares other than the Agents.

(p)    Investment Company Act. The Company will conduct its affairs in such a manner so as to reasonably ensure that neither it nor any of its
subsidiaries will be or become, at any time prior
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to the termination of this Agreement, required to register as an “investment company,” as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act.

( q )    No Offer to Sell. Other than an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus approved in advance by the Company and the Agents in its capacity as
agents hereunder, neither the Agents nor the Company (including its agents and representatives, other than the Agents in their capacity as such)
will make, use, prepare, authorize, approve or refer to any written communication (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act), required to
be filed with the Commission, that constitutes an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy Placement Shares hereunder.

(r)    Blue Sky and Other Qualifications. The Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts, in cooperation with the Agents, to qualify
the Placement Shares for offering and sale, or to obtain an exemption for the Placement Shares to be offered and sold, under the applicable
securities laws of such states and other jurisdictions (domestic or foreign) as the Agents may designate and to maintain such qualifications and
exemptions in effect for so long as required for the distribution of the Placement Shares; provided, however, that the Company shall not be
obligated to file any general consent to service of process or to qualify as a foreign corporation or as a dealer in securities in any jurisdiction in
which it is not so qualified or to subject itself to taxation in respect of doing business in any jurisdiction in which it is not otherwise so subject.
In each jurisdiction in which the Placement Shares have been so qualified or exempt, the Company will file such statements and reports as may
be required by the laws of such jurisdiction to continue such qualification or exemption, as the case may be, in effect for so long as required for
the distribution of the Placement Shares.

( s )    Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company and the subsidiaries will maintain and keep accurate books and records reflecting their assets and
maintain internal accounting controls in a manner designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP and including those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the Company, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, (iii) that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in
accordance with management’s and the Company’s directors’ authorization, and (iv) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on its financial
statements. The Company and its subsidiaries will maintain such controls and other procedures, including, without limitation, those required by
Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the applicable regulations thereunder that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, including, without limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or
persons
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performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to ensure that material information
relating to the Company or its subsidiaries is made known to them by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which such
periodic reports are being prepared.

(t)    Secretary’s Certificate; Further Documentation. Prior to the date of the first Placement Notice, the Company shall deliver to the Agents a
certificate of the Secretary of the Company, dated as of such date, certifying as to (i) the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, (ii) the
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, (iii) the resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company authorizing the execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement and the issuance of the Placement Shares and (iv) the incumbency of the officers duly authorized
to execute this Agreement and the other documents contemplated by this Agreement. Within five (5) Trading Days of each Representation
Date, with respect to which the Company is obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 8(l) above and for which no waiver is
applicable, the Company shall have furnished to the Agents such further information, certificates and documents as the Agents may reasonably
request.

9 .    Payment of Expenses. The Company will pay all expenses incident to the performance of its obligations under this Agreement,
including (i) the preparation and filing of the Registration Statement, including any fees required by the Commission, and the printing or
electronic delivery of the Prospectus as originally filed and of each amendment and supplement thereto relating to the Placement Shares, in
such number as the Agents shall reasonably deem necessary, (ii) the printing and delivery to the Agents of this Agreement and such other
documents as may be required in connection with the offering, purchase, sale, issuance or delivery of the Placement Shares, (iii) the
preparation, issuance and delivery of the certificates, if any, for the Placement Shares to the Designated Agent, including any stock or other
transfer taxes and any capital duties, stamp duties or other similar duties or taxes payable upon the sale, issuance or delivery of the Placement
Shares to the Designated Agent, (iv) the fees and disbursements of the counsel, accountants and other advisors to the Company, (v) the fees
and expenses of the Agents including but not limited to the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of the counsel to the Agents, payable
upon the execution of this Agreement, (a) in an amount not to exceed $100,000 in connection with the execution of this Agreement, (b) in an
amount not to exceed $25,000 per calendar quarter thereafter payable in connection with each Representation Date with respect to which the
Company is obligated to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 8(l) for which no waiver is applicable and excluding the date of this
Agreement, and (c) in an amount not to exceed $40,000 for each program “refresh” (filing of a new registration statement, prospectus or
prospectus supplement relating to the Placement Shares and/or an amendment of this Agreement) in relation to this Agreement, (vi) the
qualification or exemption of the Placement Shares under state securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 8(r) hereof,
including filing fees, but excluding fees of the Agents’ counsel, (vii) the printing and delivery to the Agents of copies of any Permitted Issuer
Free Writing Prospectus and the Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto in such number as the Agents shall deem necessary,
(viii) the preparation, printing and delivery to the Agents of copies of the blue sky survey, (ix) the fees and expenses of the transfer agent and
registrar for the Class A Common Stock, (x) the filing and other fees incident to any review by FINRA of the terms of the
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sale of the Placement Shares including the fees of the Agents’ counsel (which fees will be included in and subject to the cap, set forth in clause
(v) above), and (xi) the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange. The Company
agrees to pay the fees and expenses of counsel to the Agents set forth in clause (v) above by wire transfer of immediately available funds
directly to such counsel within thirty (30) days of presentation to the Company of an invoice containing the requisite payment information
prepared by such counsel.

1 0 .    Conditions to the Agents’ Obligations . The obligations of the Agents hereunder with respect to a Placement will be subject to the
continuing accuracy and completeness of the representations and warranties made by the Company herein (other than those representations and
warranties made as of a specified date or time), to the due performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder, to the completion by the
Agents of a due diligence review satisfactory to it in its reasonable judgment, and to the continuing satisfaction (or waiver by the Agents in
their sole discretion) of the following additional conditions:

(a)    Registration Statement Effective. The Registration Statement is effective and available for (i) resale of all Placement Shares issued to the
Agents and not yet sold by the Agents and (ii) the sale of all Placement Shares contemplated to be issued by any Placement Notice.

(b)    No Material Notices. None of the following events shall have occurred and be continuing: (i) receipt by the Company of any request for
additional information from the Commission or any other federal or state Governmental Authority during the period of effectiveness of the
Registration Statement, the response to which would require any post-effective amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or
the Prospectus, which amendments or supplements have not, as of the time of such Placement, been made; (ii) the issuance by the Commission
or any other federal or state Governmental Authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or the
initiation of any proceedings for that purpose; (iii) receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the
qualification or exemption from qualification of any of the Placement Shares for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threatening of any
proceeding for such purpose; or (iv) the occurrence of any event that makes any statement of a material fact made in the Registration Statement
or the Prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference untrue or that requires the making of any
changes in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or documents so that, in the case of the Registration Statement, it will not contain an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading and, that in the case of the Prospectus, it will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, which changes have not, as of the time of such Placement, been made.

(c)    No Misstatement or Material Omission. The Agents shall not have advised the Company that the Registration Statement or Prospectus, or
any amendment or supplement thereto, contains an untrue statement of fact that in the Agents’ reasonable opinion is material, or omits to state
a
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fact that in the Agents’ reasonable opinion is material and is required to be stated therein or is necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading.

(d)    Material Changes. Except as contemplated in the Prospectus, or disclosed in the Company’s reports filed with the Commission, there shall
not have been any material adverse change in the authorized capital stock of the Company or any Material Adverse Effect or any development
that would reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect, or a downgrading in or withdrawal of the rating assigned to any of the
Company’s securities (other than asset backed securities) by any rating organization or a public announcement by any rating organization that
it has under surveillance or review its rating of any of the Company’s securities (other than asset backed securities), the effect of which, in the
case of any such action by a rating organization described above, in the reasonable judgment of the Agents (without relieving the Company of
any obligation or liability it may otherwise have), is so material as to make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the offering of the
Placement Shares on the terms and in the manner contemplated in the Prospectus.

(e)    Legal Opinions. The Agents shall have received the opinions and negative assurance letters required to be delivered pursuant to Section
8(m) on or before the date on which such delivery of such opinions and negative assurance letters, as applicable is required pursuant to Section
8(m).

(f)    Comfort Letter. The Agents shall have received the Comfort Letter required to be delivered pursuant to Section 8(n) on or before the date
on which such delivery of such Comfort Letter is required pursuant to Section 8(n).

(g)    Representation Certificate. The Agents shall have received the certificate required to be delivered pursuant to Section 8(l) on or before the
date on which delivery of such certificate is required pursuant to Section 8(l).

(h)    No Suspension. Trading in the Class A Common Stock shall not have been suspended on the Exchange and the Class A Common Stock
shall not have been delisted from the Exchange.

(i)    Other Materials. On each date on which the Company is required to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 8(l), the Company shall have
furnished to the Agents such appropriate further information, opinions, certificates, letters and other documents as the Agents may reasonably
request. All such opinions, certificates, letters and other documents will be in compliance with the provisions hereof.

(j)    Securities Act Filings Made. All filings with the Commission required by Rule 424 under the Securities Act with respect to the Placement
Shares to have been filed prior to the issuance of any Placement Notice hereunder shall have been made within the applicable time period
prescribed for such filing by Rule 424.

(k)    Approval for Listing. As necessary, the Placement Shares shall either have been (i) approved for listing on the Exchange, subject only to
notice of issuance, or (ii) the Company
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shall have filed an application for listing of the Placement Shares on the Exchange at, or prior to, the issuance of any Placement Notice.

( l )    FINRA. If applicable, FINRA shall have raised no objection to the terms of this offering and the amount of compensation allowable or
payable to the Agents as described in the Prospectus.

(m)    No Termination Event. There shall not have occurred any event that would permit the Agents to terminate this Agreement pursuant to
Section 13(a).

11.    Indemnification and Contribution.

( a )    Company Indemnification. The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Agents, their affiliates and their
respective partners, members, directors, officers, employees and agents and each person, if any, who controls the Agents or any affiliate within
the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act as follows:

(i)    against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, joint or several, arising out of
or based upon any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendment
thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein not misleading, or arising out of any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact included in any related Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus or the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto), or the omission or alleged omission therefrom of a material
fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;

(ii)    against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense whatsoever, as incurred, joint or several, to the extent
of the aggregate amount paid in settlement of any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any Governmental Authority, commenced or
threatened, or of any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue statement or omission;
provided that (subject to Section 11(d) below) any such settlement is effected with the written consent of the Company, which consent shall not
unreasonably be delayed or withheld; and

(iii)    against any and all expense whatsoever, as incurred (including the fees and disbursements of counsel), reasonably
incurred in investigating, preparing or defending against any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by any Governmental Authority,
commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever based upon any such untrue statement or omission, or any such alleged untrue statement or
omission (whether or not a party), to the extent that any such expense is not paid under (i) or (ii) above,

provided, however, that this indemnity agreement shall not apply to any loss, liability, claim, damage or expense to the extent arising out of
any untrue statement or omission or alleged untrue statement or omission made solely in reliance upon and in conformity with the Agent
Information (as defined below).
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(b)    Agent Indemnification. The Agents agree, severally but not jointly, to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and its
directors and each officer of the Company who signed the Registration Statement, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within
the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and
expense described in the indemnity contained in Section 11(a), as incurred, but only with respect to untrue statements or omissions, or alleged
untrue statements or omissions, made in the Registration Statement (or any amendments thereto), the Prospectus (or any amendment or
supplement thereto) or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity with
information relating to the Agents and furnished to the Company in writing by the Agents expressly for use therein. The Company hereby
acknowledges that the only information that the Agents have furnished to the Company expressly for use in the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus, any Prospectus Supplement or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) are the statements set
forth in the second sentence of the seventh paragraph and the eighth paragraph under the caption “Plan of Distribution” in the Prospectus (the
“Agent Information”).

(c)    Procedure. Any party that proposes to assert the right to be indemnified under this Section 11 will, promptly after receipt of
notice of commencement of any action against such party in respect of which a claim is to be made against an indemnifying party or parties
under this Section 11, notify each such indemnifying party of the commencement of such action, enclosing a copy of all papers served, but the
omission so to notify such indemnifying party will not relieve the indemnifying party from (i) any liability that it might have to any
indemnified party otherwise than under this Section 11 and (ii) any liability that it may have to any indemnified party under the foregoing
provision of this Section 11 unless, and only to the extent that, such omission results in the forfeiture of substantive rights or defenses by the
indemnifying party. If any such action is brought against any indemnified party and it notifies the indemnifying party of its commencement,
the indemnifying party will be entitled to participate in and, to the extent that it elects by delivering written notice to the indemnified party
promptly after receiving notice of the commencement of the action from the indemnified party, jointly with any other indemnifying party
similarly notified, to assume the defense of the action, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party, and after notice from the
indemnifying party to the indemnified party of its election to assume the defense, the indemnifying party will not be liable to the indemnified
party for any other legal expenses except as provided below and except for the reasonable costs of investigation subsequently incurred by the
indemnified party in connection with the defense. The indemnified party will have the right to employ its own counsel in any such action, but
the fees, expenses and other charges of such counsel will be at the expense of such indemnified party unless (1) the employment of counsel by
the indemnified party has been authorized in writing by the indemnifying party, (2) the indemnified party has reasonably concluded (based on
advice of counsel) that there may be legal defenses available to it or other indemnified parties that are different from or in addition to those
available to the indemnifying party, (3) a conflict or potential conflict exists (based on advice of counsel to the indemnified party) between the
indemnified party and the indemnifying party (in which case the indemnifying party will not have the right to direct the defense of such action
on behalf of the indemnified party) or (4) the indemnifying party has not in fact employed counsel
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to assume the defense of such action or counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party, in each case, within a reasonable time after
receiving notice of the commencement of the action; in each of which cases the reasonable and documented fees, disbursements and other
charges of counsel will be at the expense of the indemnifying party or parties. It is understood that the indemnifying party or parties shall not,
in connection with any proceeding or related proceedings in the same jurisdiction, be liable for the reasonable and documented fees,
disbursements and other charges of more than one separate firm (plus local counsel) admitted to practice in such jurisdiction at any one time
for all such indemnified party or parties. All such reasonable and documented fees, disbursements and other charges will be reimbursed by the
indemnifying party promptly as they are incurred. An indemnifying party will not, in any event, be liable for any settlement of any action or
claim effected without its written consent. No indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of each indemnified party, settle or
compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment in any pending or threatened claim, action or proceeding relating to the matters
contemplated by this Section 11 (whether or not any indemnified party is a party thereto), unless such settlement, compromise or consent
(1) includes an express and unconditional release of each indemnified party, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified
party, from all liability arising out of such litigation, investigation, proceeding or claim and (2) does not include a statement as to or an
admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

(d)    Settlement Without Consent if Failure to Reimburse. If an indemnified party shall have requested an indemnifying party to
reimburse the indemnified party for reasonable fees and expenses of counsel, such indemnifying party agrees that it shall be liable for any
settlement of the nature contemplated by Section 11(a)(ii) effected without its written consent if (1) such settlement is entered into more than
45 days after receipt by such indemnifying party of the aforesaid request, (2) such indemnifying party shall have received notice of the terms of
such settlement at least 30 days prior to such settlement being entered into and (3) such indemnifying party shall not have reimbursed such
indemnified party in accordance with such request prior to the date of such settlement.

( e )    Contribution. In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in circumstances in which the indemnification
provided for in the foregoing paragraphs of this Section 11 is applicable in accordance with its terms but for any reason is held to be
unavailable or insufficient from the Company or the Agents, the Company and the Agents will contribute to the total losses, claims, liabilities,
expenses and damages (including any investigative, legal and other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with, and any amount paid in
settlement of, any action, suit or proceeding or any claim asserted) to which the Company and the Agents may be subject in such proportion as
shall be appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Agents on the other hand. The relative
benefits received by the Company on the one hand and the Agents on the other hand shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total
net proceeds from the sale of the Placement Shares (before deducting expenses) received by the Company bear to the total compensation
received by the Agents from the sale of Placement Shares on behalf of the Company. If, but only if, the allocation provided by the foregoing
sentence is not permitted by applicable law, the allocation of contribution shall be made in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only
the relative
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benefits referred to in the foregoing sentence but also the relative fault of the Company, on the one hand, and the Agents, on the other hand,
with respect to the statements or omission that resulted in such loss, claim, liability, expense or damage, or action in respect thereof, as well as
any other relevant equitable considerations with respect to such offering. Such relative fault shall be determined by reference to, among other
things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to
information supplied by the Company or the Agents, the intent of the parties and their relative knowledge, access to information and
opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The Agents’ obligations under this Section 11(e) to contribute are several in
proportion to their respective obligations hereunder and not joint. The Company and the Agents agree that it would not be just and equitable if
contributions pursuant to this Section 11(e) were to be determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take
into account the equitable considerations referred to herein. The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the loss, claim,
liability, expense, or damage, or action in respect thereof, referred to above in this Section 11(e) shall be deemed to include, for the purpose of
this Section 11(e), any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any
such action or claim to the extent consistent with Section 11(c) hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 11(e), the
Agents shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the commissions received by it under this Agreement and no person found
guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 12(f) of the Securities Act) will be entitled to contribution from any
person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. For purposes of this Section 11(e), any person who controls a party to this
Agreement within the meaning of the Securities Act, any affiliates of the Agents and any officers, directors, partners, employees or agents of
the Agents or any of its affiliates, will have the same rights to contribution as that party, and each director of the Company and each officer of
the Company who signed the Registration Statement will have the same rights to contribution as the Company, subject in each case to the
provisions hereof. Any party entitled to contribution, promptly after receipt of notice of commencement of any action against such party in
respect of which a claim for contribution may be made under this Section 11(e), will notify any such party or parties from whom contribution
may be sought, but the omission to so notify will not relieve that party or parties from whom contribution may be sought from any other
obligation it or they may have under this Section 11(e) except to the extent that the failure to so notify such other party materially prejudiced
the substantive rights or defenses of the party from whom contribution is sought. Except for a settlement entered into pursuant to the last
sentence of Section 11(c) hereof, no party will be liable for contribution with respect to any action or claim settled without its written consent if
such consent is required pursuant to Section 11(c) hereof.

1 2 .    Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery. The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in Section 11 of this
Agreement and all representations and warranties of the Company herein or in certificates delivered pursuant hereto shall survive, as of their
respective dates, regardless of (i) any investigation made by or on behalf of the Agents, any controlling persons, or the Company (or any of
their respective officers, directors, employees or controlling persons), (ii) delivery and acceptance of the Placement Shares and payment
therefor or (iii) any termination of this Agreement.
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13.    Termination.

(a)    An Agent may terminate this Agreement with respect to itself, by notice to the Company and the other Agent, as hereinafter specified at
any time (1) if there has been, since the time of execution of this Agreement or since the date as of which information is given in the
Prospectus, any Material Adverse Effect, or any change, or any development or event that is reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse
Effect, which individually or in the aggregate, in the reasonable judgment of such Agent is so material and adverse as to make it impractical or
inadvisable to market the Placement Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Placement Shares, (2) if there has occurred any material
adverse change in the financial markets in the United States or the international financial markets, any outbreak of hostilities or escalation
thereof or other calamity or crisis or any change or development involving a prospective change in national or international political, financial
or economic conditions, in each case the effect of which is such as to make it, in the judgment of such Agent, impracticable or inadvisable to
market the Placement Shares or to enforce contracts for the sale of the Placement Shares, (3) if trading in the Class A Common Stock has been
suspended or limited by the Commission or the Exchange, or if trading generally on the Exchange has been suspended or limited, or minimum
prices for trading have been fixed on the Exchange, (4) if any suspension of trading of any securities of the Company on any exchange or in the
over-the-counter market shall have occurred and be continuing, (5) if a major disruption of securities settlements or clearance services in the
United States shall have occurred and be continuing, or (6) if a banking moratorium has been declared by either U.S. Federal or New York
authorities. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except that the provisions of Section 9 (Payment of
Expenses), Section 11 (Indemnification and Contribution), Section 12 (Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery), Section 18
(Governing Law and Time; Waiver of Jury Trial) and Section 19 (Consent to Jurisdiction) hereof shall remain in full force and effect
notwithstanding such termination. If an Agent elects to terminate this Agreement as provided in this Section 13(a), such Agent shall provide the
required notice as specified in Section 14 (Notices).

(b)    The Company shall have the right, by giving ten (10) days’ notice as hereinafter specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole
discretion at any time after the date of this Agreement. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except
that the provisions of Section 9, Section 11, Section 12, Section 18 and Section 19 hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding
such termination.

(c)    Each of the Agents shall have the right, by giving ten (10) days’ notice as hereinafter specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole
discretion at any time after the date of this Agreement. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except
that the provisions of Section 9, Section 11, Section 12, Section 18 and Section 19 hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding
such termination.

(d)    This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless terminated pursuant to Sections 13(a), (b), or (c) above or otherwise by mutual
agreement of the parties; provided, however, that any such termination by mutual agreement shall in all cases be deemed to provide
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that Section 9, Section 11, Section 12, Section 18 and Section 19 shall remain in full force and effect.

(e)    Any termination of this Agreement shall be effective on the date specified in such notice of termination; provided, however, that such
termination shall not be effective until the close of business on the date of receipt of such notice by the Agents or the Company, as the case
may be. If such termination shall occur prior to the Settlement Date for any sale of Placement Shares, such Placement Shares shall settle in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

14.    Notices. All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given by any party to any other party pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement shall be in writing, unless otherwise specified, and if sent to the Agents, shall be delivered to:

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
499 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attention:    Capital Markets
Email:    [ ]

and:

Cantor Fitzgerald & Co.
499 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attention:    General Counsel
Email:    [ ]

and:

TD Securities (USA) LLC
1 Vanderbilt Avenue
New York, NY 10017
Attention:    CIB Legal
Email:    [ ]

and:

Allen & Company LLC
711 Fifth Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attention:    General Counsel
Email:    [ ]

with a copy to:
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        Latham & Watkins LLP
        12670 High Bluff Drive
        San Diego, CA 92130
        Attention:    Michael E. Sullivan; Steven B. Stokdyk; Brent T. Epstein

Email:        [ ]

and if to the Company, shall be delivered to:

Aurora Innovation, Inc.
1654 Smallman Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15222
Attention:    Chief Financial Officer

Chief Legal Officer
Email:        [ ]

with a copy to:

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C.
1301 Avenue of the Americas 40th Floor
New York, NY 10019
Attention:    Damien Weiss; Megan Baier; David Sharon
Email:        [ ]

Each party to this Agreement may change such address for notices by sending to the parties to this Agreement written notice of a new
address for such purpose. Each such notice or other communication shall be deemed given (i) when delivered personally or by verifiable
facsimile transmission (with an original to follow) on or before 4:30 p.m., New York City time, on a Business Day or, if such day is not a
Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, (ii) by Electronic Notice, as set forth below, (iii) on the next Business Day after timely
delivery to a nationally-recognized overnight courier or (iv) on the Business Day actually received if deposited in the U.S. mail (certified or
registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid). For purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” shall mean any day on which the
Exchange and commercial banks in the City of New York are open for business.

An electronic communication (“Electronic Notice”) shall be deemed written notice for purposes of this Section 14 if sent to the
electronic mail address specified by the receiving party under separate cover. Electronic Notice shall be deemed received at the time the party
sending Electronic Notice receives verification of receipt by the receiving party. Any party receiving Electronic Notice may request and shall
be entitled to receive the notice on paper, in a nonelectronic form (“Nonelectronic Notice”) which shall be sent to the requesting party within
ten (10) days of receipt of the written request for Nonelectronic Notice.

1 5 .    Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and the Agents and their
respective successors and the parties referred to in
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Section 11 hereof. References to any of the parties contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the successors and permitted assigns
of such party. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any party other than the parties hereto or their
respective successors and permitted assigns any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement, except as
expressly provided in this Agreement. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent
of the other party; provided, however, that the Agents may assign their rights and obligations hereunder to an affiliate thereof without obtaining
the Company’s consent, so long as such affiliate is a registered broker and the Agents provide advance written notice of such assignment to the
Company.

1 6 .    Adjustments for Stock Splits. The parties acknowledge and agree that all share-related numbers contained in this Agreement shall be
adjusted to take into account any stock split, stock dividend or similar event effected with respect to the Placement Shares.

1 7 .    Entire Agreement; Amendment; Severability; Waiver . This Agreement (including all schedules and exhibits attached hereto and
Placement Notices issued pursuant hereto) constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all other prior and contemporaneous agreements and
undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with regard to the subject matter hereof. Neither this Agreement nor any term
hereof may be amended except pursuant to a written instrument executed by the Company and the Agents. In the event that any one or more of
the provisions contained herein, or the application thereof in any circumstance, is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable as written by a court of
competent jurisdiction, then such provision shall be given full force and effect to the fullest possible extent that it is valid, legal and
enforceable, and the remainder of the terms and provisions herein shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable term or
provision was not contained herein, but only to the extent that giving effect to such provision and the remainder of the terms and provisions
hereof shall be in accordance with the intent of the parties as reflected in this Agreement. No implied waiver by a party shall arise in the
absence of a waiver in writing signed by such party. No failure or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege hereunder shall operate as a
waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any right, power,
or privilege hereunder.

1 8 .    GOVERNING LAW AND TIME; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL . THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO THE
PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS. SPECIFIED TIMES OF DAY REFER TO NEW YORK CITY TIME. EACH PARTY
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

1 9 .    CONSENT TO JURISDICTION. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL
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COURTS SITTING IN THE CITY OF NEW YORK, BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN, FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY
DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, AND HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERT IN ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, ANY CLAIM THAT
IT IS NOT PERSONALLY SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT, THAT SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING IS BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM OR THAT THE VENUE OF SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING IS IMPROPER. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF PROCESS AND
CONSENTS TO PROCESS BEING SERVED IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY MAILING A COPY
THEREOF (CERTIFIED OR REGISTERED MAIL, RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED) TO SUCH PARTY AT THE ADDRESS IN
EFFECT FOR NOTICES TO IT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND AGREES THAT SUCH SERVICE SHALL CONSTITUTE
GOOD AND SUFFICIENT SERVICE OF PROCESS AND NOTICE THEREOF. NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL BE
DEEMED TO LIMIT IN ANY WAY ANY RIGHT TO SERVE PROCESS IN ANY MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW.

20.    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed Agreement by one party to the other may be made by facsimile,
electronic mail (including any electronic signature covered by the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, the
Electronic Signatures and Records Act or other applicable law, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so
delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.

21.    Construction. The section and exhibit headings herein are for convenience only and shall not affect the construction hereof. References
herein to any law, statute, ordinance, code, regulation, rule or other requirement of any Governmental Authority shall be deemed to refer to
such law, statute, ordinance, code, regulation, rule or other requirement of any Governmental Authority as amended, reenacted, supplemented
or superseded in whole or in part and in effect from time to time and also to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

22.    Permitted Free Writing Prospectuses. The Company represents, warrants and agrees that, unless it obtains the prior written consent of the
Agents, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and the Agents represent, warrant and agree that, unless they obtain
the prior written consent of the Company, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, they have not made and will not
make any offer relating to the Placement Shares that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, or that would otherwise constitute a
“free writing prospectus,” as defined in Rule 405, required to be filed with the Commission. Any such free writing prospectus consented to by
the Agents or by the Company, as the case may be, is hereinafter referred to as a “Permitted Free Writing Prospectus.” The Company
represents and warrants that it has treated and agrees that it will treat each Permitted Free Writing Prospectus as an “issuer free writing
prospectus,” as defined in Rule 433, and has
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complied and will comply with the requirements of Rule 433 applicable to any Permitted Free Writing Prospectus, including timely filing with
the Commission where required, legending and record keeping. For the purposes of clarity, the parties hereto agree that all free writing
prospectuses, if any, listed in Exhibit 21 hereto are Permitted Free Writing Prospectuses.

23.    Absence of Fiduciary Relationship. The Company acknowledges and agrees that:

(a)    the Agents are acting solely as agents in connection with the public offering of the Placement Shares and in connection with each
transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the process leading to such transactions, and no fiduciary or advisory relationship between the
Company or any of its respective affiliates, stockholders (or other equity holders), creditors or employees or any other party, on the one hand,
and the Agents, on the other hand, has been or will be created in respect of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, irrespective
of whether or not the Agents have advised or are advising the Company on other matters, and the Agents have no obligation to the Company
with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement except the obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement;

(b)    it is capable of evaluating and understanding, and understands and accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement;

(c)    neither the Agents nor their affiliates have provided any legal, accounting, regulatory or tax advice with respect to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and it has consulted its own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it has deemed
appropriate;

(d)    it is aware that the Agents and their affiliates are engaged in a broad range of transactions which may involve interests that differ from
those of the Company and the Agents and their affiliates have no obligation to disclose such interests and transactions to the Company by
virtue of any fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship or otherwise; and

(e)    it waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against the Agents or their affiliates for breach of fiduciary duty
or alleged breach of fiduciary duty in connection with the sale of Placement Shares under this Agreement and agrees that the Agents and their
affiliates shall not have any liability (whether direct or indirect, in contract, tort or otherwise) to it in respect of such a fiduciary duty claim or to
any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on its behalf or in right of it or the Company, employees or creditors of Company.

24.    Recognition of the U.S. Special Resolution Regimes.

(a)    In the event that any Agent is a Covered Entity and becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer
from such Agent of this Agreement, and any interest and obligation in or under this Agreement, will be effective to the same extent as the
transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if this Agreement, and any such interest and obligation, were governed
by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.
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(b)    In the event that any Agent is a Covered Entity and such Agent or a BHC Act Affiliate of such Agent becomes subject to a proceeding
under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under this Agreement that may be exercised against such Agent are permitted to be
exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if this Agreement were
governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.

(c)    For purposes of this Section 24; (a) “BHC Act Affiliate ” has the meaning assigned to the term “affiliate” in, and shall be interpreted in
accordance with, 12 U.S.C. § 1841(k), (b) “Covered Entity” means any of the following: (i) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and
interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(b); (ii) a “covered bank” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.F.R. § 47.3(b); or (iii) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. § 382.2(b), (c) “Default
Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable,
and (d) “U.S. Special Resolution Regime” means each of (i) the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder
and (ii) Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

25.    Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the respective meanings set forth below:

“Applicable Time” means (i) each Representation Date, (ii) the time of each sale of any Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement
and (iii) each Settlement Date.

“Governmental Authority” means (i) any federal, provincial, state, local, municipal, national or international government or
governmental authority, regulatory or administrative agency, governmental commission, department, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality,
court, tribunal, arbitrator or arbitral body (public or private); (ii) any self-regulatory organization; or (iii) any political subdivision of any of the
foregoing.

“Issuer Free Writing Prospectus” means any “issuer free writing prospectus,” as defined in Rule 433, relating to the Placement
Shares that (1) is required to be filed with the Commission by the Company, (2) is a “road show” that is a “written communication” within the
meaning of Rule 433(d)(8)(i) whether or not required to be filed with the Commission, or (3) is exempt from filing pursuant to Rule 433(d)(5)
(i) because it contains a description of the Placement Shares or of the offering that does not reflect the final terms, in each case in the form filed
or required to be filed with the Commission or, if not required to be filed, in the form retained in the Company’s records pursuant to Rule
433(g) under the Securities Act Regulations.

“Rule 164,” “Rule 172,” “Rule 405,” “Rule 415,” “Rule 424,” “Rule 424(b),” “Rule 430B,” and “Rule 433” refer to such rules under
the Securities Act Regulations.

All references in this Agreement to financial statements and schedules and other information that is “contained,” “included” or “stated”
in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus (and all other references of like import) shall be deemed to mean and include all such
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financial statements and schedules and other information that is incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as
the case may be.

All references in this Agreement to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing
shall be deemed to include the copy filed with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR; all references in this Agreement to any Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus (other than any Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses that, pursuant to Rule 433, are not required to be filed with the
Commission) shall be deemed to include the copy thereof filed with the Commission pursuant to EDGAR; and all references in this Agreement
to “supplements” to the Prospectus shall include, without limitation, any supplements, “wrappers” or similar materials prepared in connection
with any offering, sale or private placement of any Placement Shares by the Agents outside of the United States.

[Signature Page Follows]If the foregoing correctly sets forth the understanding between the Company and the Agents, please so
indicate in the space provided below for that purpose, whereupon this letter shall constitute a binding agreement between the Company and the
Agents.

Very truly yours,

AURORA INNOVATION, INC.

By: /s/ Chris Urmson
Name:    Chris Urmson
Title:    Chief Executive Officer

ACCEPTED as of the date first-above written:

CANTOR FITZGERALD & CO.

By: /s/ Sameer Vasudev
Name:    Sameer Vasudev
Title:    Managing Director

TD SECURITIES (USA) LLC

By: /s/ Michael Murphy
Name:    Michael Murphy
Title:    Managing Director
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ALLEN & COMPANY LLC

By: /s/ Peter Dilorio
Name:    Peter Dilorio
Title:    General Counsel
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SCHEDULE 1

__________________________

Form of Placement Notice

__________________________

From:         Aurora Innovation, Inc.

To:     [Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. / TD Securities (USA) LLC / Allen & Company LLC]
Attention: [•]

Subject:     Placement Notice

Date:        [•], 202[•]

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the Sales Agreement between Aurora Innovation, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., TD Securities (USA) LLC and Allen & Company LLC, dated February [•], 2025,
the Company hereby requests that [Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. / TD Securities (USA) LLC / Allen & Company LLC] sell up to [•] of the
Company’s Class A common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, at a minimum market price of $[•] per share, during the time period
beginning [month, day, time] and ending [month, day, time].



SCHEDULE 2

__________________________

Compensation

__________________________

The Company shall pay to the Designated Agent in cash, upon each sale of Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement, an amount
equal to up to 3.0 % of the aggregate gross proceeds from each sale of Placement Shares. 



SCHEDULE 3

__________________________

Notice Parties

__________________________

The Company

David Maday ([ ])

Kevin Smith ([ ])

Stacy Feit ([ ]) (for notice only)

Yijun Han ([ ]) (for notice only)

The Agents

Sameer Vasudev ([ ]); with copies to [ ]

Michael Murphy ([ ])

Adriano Pierroz ([ ])

Megan Sanford ([ ])

Bill Follis [ ]

Scott Bacigalupo ([ ])

Jeff Stanley ([ ])

Matt Westfall ([ ])

Thomas Moore ([ ])



Form of Representation Date Certificate Pursuant to Section 8(l)

The undersigned, the duly qualified and elected Chief Executive Officer, of Aurora Innovation, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), does hereby certify in such capacity and on behalf of the Company, pursuant to Section 8(l) of the Sales Agreement, dated
February 14, 2025 (the “Sales Agreement”), among the Company and Cantor Fitzgerald & Co., TD Securities (USA) LLC and Allen &
Company LLC, that to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned:

(i) The representations and warranties of the Company in Section 7 of the Sales Agreement are true and correct on and as of the date
hereof with the same force and effect as if expressly made on and as of the date hereof, except for those representations and warranties that
speak solely as of a specific date and which were true and correct as of such date; provided, however, that such representations and warranties
also shall be qualified by the disclosure included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and Prospectus; and

(ii) The Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied pursuant to the
Sales Agreement at or prior to the date hereof.

Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Sales Agreement.

AURORA INNOVATION, INC.
By:     

Name:

Title:

Date: [•]



Exhibit 21

Permitted Free Writing Prospectus

None.



INSIDER TRADING POLICY

While performing services for Aurora Innovation, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company” or “Aurora”), you may come into possession of material
nonpublic information about Aurora, its suppliers, partners, or other third parties. Federal and state securities laws prohibit individuals and entities from trading
in the securities of a company (e.g., stocks, bonds, warrants, etc.) on the basis of material nonpublic information. Securities laws also prohibit disclosure of
material nonpublic information to others (often referred to as “tipping”) who then trade on the basis of that information. The purpose of this Insider Trading Policy
(the “Policy”) is to help Aurora’s directors, officers, employees and other service providers comply with the federal and state securities laws and regulations that
govern trading in securities, and to help Aurora minimize its own legal and reputational risk.

Aurora’s General Counsel serves as the Compliance Officer of this Policy. The Compliance Officer may from time to time designate others to assist with the
execution of his or her duties under this Policy. Should you have any questions about this Policy, you can reach out to trading-questions@aurora.tech.

A.    What is Aurora’s policy regarding insider trading?
Federal and state securities laws prohibit trading in securities on the basis of material nonpublic information. If you are in possession of material nonpublic
information about Aurora, you are prohibited from:

1. using it to transact in securities of Aurora;

2. disclosing it to anyone outside of Aurora (including spouses, friends and family), except as expressly authorized by the Compliance Officer;

3. disclosing it to other insiders at Aurora (e.g., employees, consultants, advisors, etc.) whose roles do not require them to have the information; or

4. using it to express an opinion or make a recommendation about trading in Aurora’s securities.

In addition, if you learn of material nonpublic information through your service with Aurora that could be expected to affect the trading price of the securities of
another company (e.g., Aurora’s partners, suppliers, customers or competitors), you cannot (x) use that information to trade, directly or indirectly through others,
or (y) provide that information to another person in order to trade, in the securities of that other company. Any such action will be deemed a violation of this
Policy.

You may not at any time disclose material nonpublic information about the Company or about another company that you obtained in connection with your
service with the Company to friends, family members or any other person or entity that the Company has not authorized to know such
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information. In addition, you must handle the confidential information of others in accordance with any related non-disclosure agreements and other obligations
that the Company has with respect to such information.

If you receive an inquiry for information from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, or a request for sensitive information outside the
ordinary course of business from someone outside of the Company, such as a business partner, vendor, supplier or salesperson, then you should refer the
inquiry to the Compliance Officer.

B.    What is material nonpublic information?
This Policy prohibits trading in Aurora securities when you are in possession of information that is both “material” and “nonpublic.”

Material Information

“Material information” means, with respect to a given company, information that a reasonable investor would be substantially likely to consider important in
deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities of that company, or view as significantly altering the total mix of information available in the marketplace about
that company as an issuer of the securities. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the market price of a security is likely to be
material. Either positive or negative information may be material.

It is not possible to define all categories of potentially “material” information. However, some examples of information that could be regarded as material include,
but are not limited to:

1. financial results, key metrics, financial condition, earnings pre-announcements, guidance, projections or forecasts, particularly if inconsistent with the
Company’s guidance or the expectations of the investment community;

2. changes in independent auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report;

3. business plans or budgets;

4. creation of significant financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation;

5. significant developments involving business relationships, including execution, modification or termination of significant agreements with partners,
suppliers or manufacturers;

6. significant developments in technology, research and development, or relating to intellectual property, in each case to the extent they might impact goals
that have been identified publicly as important targets for the Company;

7. major events involving Aurora’s securities, including option re-pricings, stock splits, public or private securities offerings, or modification to the rights of
security holders;

8. significant corporate events, such as a pending or proposed merger, joint venture or tender offer, a significant investment, the acquisition or disposition of
a significant business or asset or a change in control of the Company;

9. major personnel changes;
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10. data breaches or other cybersecurity events; and

11. the existence of a special blackout period.

Nonpublic Information

Information is considered “nonpublic” if it is not generally known or made available to the public. Even if information is widely known throughout Aurora, it may
still be nonpublic. Generally, in order for information to be considered public, it must be made generally available through media outlets or SEC filings.

After the release of information, a reasonable period of time must elapse in order to provide the public an opportunity to absorb and evaluate the information
provided. As a general rule, at least two full trading days must pass after the dissemination of information before it is considered public.

C.    Who is covered by this Policy?
This Policy applies to Aurora’s directors, officers, employees, and certain consultants, advisors and contractors of the Company who may have access to
material nonpublic information about Aurora (collectively, “Covered Persons”). This Policy also covers Covered Persons’ immediate family members, persons
with whom they share a household, persons who are their economic dependents and any entity whose transactions in securities they influence, direct or control
(collectively, “Related Parties”), provided, however, that the Policy shall not apply to any such entity that engages in the investment of securities in the ordinary
course of its business (e.g., an investment fund or partnership) if such entity has established its own insider trading controls and procedures in compliance with
applicable securities laws. Covered Persons are responsible for making sure that their Related Parties comply with this Policy.

This Policy continues to apply even if a Covered Person leaves Aurora or is otherwise no longer affiliated with or providing services to the Company, for as long
as they remain in possession of material nonpublic information. In addition, if a Covered Person is subject to a trading blackout under this Policy at the time they
leave Aurora, they and their Related Parties must abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period.

D.    What types of transactions are covered by this Policy?
Subject to the exceptions described in Section F, this Policy applies to all transactions involving (a) Aurora’s securities or (b) the securities of other companies
about which you possess material nonpublic information which was obtained in connection with your service with Aurora. This Policy therefore applies to:

1. any purchase, sale, loan or other transfer or disposition of any equity securities (including common stock, options, restricted stock units, warrants and
preferred stock) and debt securities (including debentures, bonds and notes) of Aurora and such other companies, whether direct or indirect (including
transactions made on your behalf by money managers);

2. any disposition in the form of a gift of any securities of the Company;

3. any distribution to holders of interests in an entity if the entity is subject to this Policy;
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4. any other arrangement that generates gains or losses from or based on changes in the prices of such securities including derivative securities (for
example, exchange-traded put or call options, swaps, caps and collars), hedging and pledging transactions, short sales and certain arrangements
regarding participation in benefit plans; and

5. any offer to engage in the transactions discussed above.

Further, Covered Persons and their Related Parties may not engage in any of the following types of transactions, regardless of whether they have material
nonpublic information or are within an open trading window:

Short Sales. You may not engage in short sales (meaning the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) or “sell short against the box”
(meaning the sale of a security with a delayed delivery) if such sales involve Aurora’s securities.

Derivative Securities and Hedging Transactions. You may not, directly or indirectly, (a) trade in publicly-traded options, such as puts and calls, and other
derivative securities with respect to Aurora’s securities (other than stock options, restricted stock units and other compensatory awards issued to you by
Aurora) or (b) purchase financial instruments (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds), or otherwise engage in
transactions, that hedge or offset, or are designed to hedge or offset, any decrease in the market value of equity securities either (i) granted to you by Aurora
as part of your compensation or (ii) held, directly or indirectly, by you.

Pledging Transactions. You may not pledge Aurora’s securities as collateral for any loan or as part of any other pledging transaction.

Margin Accounts. You may not hold Aurora’s common stock in margin accounts.

There are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction or the type of consideration received.

E.    Are there blanket trading restrictions that will apply to me?
The announcement of Aurora’s quarterly financial results can impact the market for Aurora’s securities. Even if you do not have actual knowledge of Aurora’s
financial results or key performance metrics, any trades made by you before the Company’s quarterly results are released to the public could create an
appearance of improper trading and lead to SEC scrutiny. In addition, there are certain individuals who by virtue of their role at Aurora may continue to have
material nonpublic information after quarterly results have been publicly announced. Accordingly (and subject to the exceptions set forth below), this Policy
restricts trading during certain periods and by certain people as follows:

Quarterly Blackout Periods . Subject to the exceptions discussed in Section F, all directors, officers and employees of Aurora must refrain from conducting
transactions involving the Company’s securities during quarterly blackout periods. Quarterly blackout periods also cover your Related Parties.

Quarterly blackout periods will start at the end of the fifteenth day of the third month of each fiscal quarter and will end after two full trading days have passed
following Aurora’s earnings release. For example, if the Company publicly announces its earnings after market close on a Wednesday, the first time that
Aurora’s directors, officers and employees would be able to buy
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or sell Aurora’s securities is when the market opens the following Monday (assuming that Thursday and Friday are trading days).

The prohibition against trading during the blackout period also means that brokers cannot fulfill open orders on your behalf or on behalf of your Related
Parties, during the blackout period (even if the order is placed outside of a blackout period), including “limit orders” to buy or sell stock at a specific price or
better and “stop orders” to buy or sell stock once the price of the stock reaches a specified price. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre-clearance
requirements, you should so inform any broker with whom such an open order is placed at the time it is placed.

From time to time, the Company may identify other persons who should be subject to quarterly blackout periods.

Special Blackout Periods. The Company always retains the right to impose additional or longer trading blackout periods at any time on any or all Covered
Persons. The Compliance Officer will notify you if you are subject to a special blackout period. If you are notified that you are subject to a special blackout
period, you and your Related Parties may not engage in any transaction involving the Company’s securities until the special blackout period has ended other
than the transactions that are covered by the exceptions below. You also may not disclose to anyone else that the Company has imposed a special blackout
period, except that you may instruct your Related Parties not to trade in Aurora securities while you are subject to the special blackout period, provided you
don’t tell them why there is a special blackout.

Regulation BTR Blackouts. Directors and officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction, or
Regulation BTR, under U.S. federal securities laws. In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any director or officer from trading in Company equity securities
during a blackout period imposed under an “individual account” retirement or pension plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the plan participants
are prevented from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or transferring an interest in equity securities of the Company held in individual account plans
for a period of at least three consecutive business days, due to a temporary suspension of trading imposed by the Company or the plan fiduciary. Any profits
realized from a transaction that violates Regulation BTR are recoverable by the Company, regardless of the intentions of the director or officer effecting the
transaction. In addition, individuals who engage in such transactions are subject to sanction by the SEC as well as potential criminal liability. The Company
will notify directors and officers if they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR.

Pre-Clearance Groups. Aurora’s directors and officers and any other persons identified from time to time by the Compliance Officer as being subject to pre-
clearance requirements must obtain pre-clearance prior to trading the Company’s securities at all times. If you are subject to pre-clearance requirements, you
should submit a pre-clearance request to the Compliance Officer at least two business days prior to your desired trade date, including by submitting a
compliance certification in the form specified by the Company. The Compliance Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-
clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction.

If the Compliance Officer is the requester, then Aurora’s Chief Executive Officer, or his or her delegate, must pre-clear or deny any trade. All trades must be
executed within two business days of any pre-clearance.
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Even after pre-clearance, a person may not trade the Company’s securities if they become subject to a blackout period or aware of material nonpublic
information prior to the trade being executed.

F.    Are there exceptions to the restrictions described in this Policy?
There are no unconditional “safe harbors” for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should exercise good judgment at all times.
Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the Company’s securities because you
possess material nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy.

The following are certain limited exceptions to the quarterly and special blackout period restrictions and pre-clearance requirements imposed by the Company
under this Policy:

1. stock option exercises where the purchase price of such stock options is paid in cash, and there is no other associated market activity;

2. receipt and vesting of stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock or other equity compensation awards from the Company;

3. net share withholding with respect to equity awards where shares are withheld by the Company in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x) as
required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect, if
permitted by the Company, so long as the election is (i) irrevocable during periods when you are subject to trading blackouts and (ii) made in writing at a
time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic information;

4. sell to cover transactions where shares are sold on your behalf upon vesting of equity awards and sold in order to satisfy tax withholding requirements, (x)
as required by either the Company’s board of directors (or a committee thereof) or the award agreement governing such equity award or (y) as you elect,
if permitted by the Company, so long as the election is (i) irrevocable during periods when you are subject to trading blackouts and (ii) made in writing at a
time when a trading blackout is not in place and you are not in possession of material nonpublic information; however, this exception does not apply to
any other market sale for the purposes of paying required withholding;

5. transactions made pursuant to a valid 10b5-1 trading plan approved by the Company (see Section G (How do 10b5-1 trading plans work?) below;

6. transfers by will or the laws of descent or distribution and, provided that prior written notice is provided to the Compliance Officer, distributions or transfers
(such as certain tax planning or estate planning transfers) that effect only a change in the form of beneficial interest without changing your pecuniary
interest in the Company’s securities; and

7. changes in the number of the Company’s securities you hold due to a stock split or a stock dividend that applies equally to all securities of a class, or
similar transactions.

If there is a Regulation BTR blackout (and no quarterly or special blackout period), then the limited exceptions set forth in Regulation BTR will apply. Any other
Policy exceptions must be approved by the Compliance Officer.
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G.    How do 10b5-1 trading plans work?
The Company permits its directors, officers and certain employees to adopt written 10b5-1 trading plans in order to mitigate the risk of trading on material
nonpublic information. These plans allow for individuals to enter into a prearranged trading plan as long as the plan is not established or modified during a
blackout period or when the individual is otherwise in possession of material nonpublic information. To be approved by the Company and qualify for an
exception to the trading restrictions described in this Policy, any 10b5-1 trading plan adopted by an eligible Covered Person must be submitted to the
Compliance Officer for approval and comply with the requirements set forth in the Requirements for Trading Plans attached as Exhibit A. If the Compliance
Officer is the requester, then the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, or their delegate, must approve the written 10b5-1 trading plan.

H.    Are there special requirements under this Policy for people who are considered “Section 16” insiders?
All of the Company’s officers and directors and certain other individuals are required to comply with Section 16 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and
related rules and regulations which set forth reporting obligations, limitations on “short swing” transactions, which are certain matching purchases and sales of
the Company’s securities within a six-month period, and limitations on short sales.

To ensure transactions subject to Section 16 requirements are reported on time, each person subject to these requirements must provide the Company with
detailed information (for example, trade date, number of shares, exact price, etc.) about his or her transactions involving the Company’s securities on the same
day that the transaction occurs.

The Company is available to assist in filing Section 16 reports, but the obligation to comply with Section 16 is personal. If you have any questions, you should
check with the Compliance Officer.

I.    What are the consequences for violations of this Policy?
Any Covered Persons who violate this Policy will be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, including ineligibility for future Company equity or incentive
programs or termination of employment or an ongoing relationship with the Company. The Company has full discretion to determine whether this Policy has
been violated based on the information available.

There are also serious legal consequences for individuals who violate insider trading laws, including large criminal and civil fines, significant imprisonment terms,
disgorgement of any profits gained or losses avoided, and bars on serving as an officer or director of a public company. In addition to your own liability for
insider trading, the Company, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, could face liability. Even the appearance of insider trading
can lead to government investigations or lawsuits that are time-consuming. You may also be liable for improper securities trading by any person
(commonly referred to as a “tippee”) to whom you have disclosed material nonpublic information that you have learned through your position at the
Company or made recommendations or expressed opinions about securities trading on the basis of such information.

Please consult with your personal legal and financial advisors as needed. Note that the Company’s legal counsel, both internal and external, represent the
Company and not you personally. There
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may be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction because of the restrictions
imposed by this Policy or under securities laws. If you were aware of the material nonpublic information at the time of the trade, it is not a defense that you did
not “use” the information for the trade. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under securities laws and will
not excuse your failure to comply with this Policy.

In addition, a blackout or trading-restricted period will not extend the term of your options. As a consequence, you may be prevented from exercising your
options by this Policy or as a result of a blackout or other restriction on your trading, and as a result your options may expire by their term. It is your responsibility
to manage your economic interests and to consider potential trading restrictions when determining whether to exercise your options. In such instances, the
Company cannot extend the term of your options and has no obligation or liability to replace the economic value or lost benefit to you.

J.    Other Notices
Protected Activity Not Prohibited

Nothing in this Policy, or any related guidelines or other documents or information provided in connection with this Policy, shall in any way limit or prohibit you
from engaging in any of the protected activities set forth in the Company’s Whistleblower Policy, as amended from time to time.

Reporting

If you believe someone is violating this Policy or otherwise using material nonpublic information that they learned through their position at the Company to trade
securities, you should report it to the Compliance Officer, or if the Compliance Officer is implicated in your report, then you should report it in accordance with
the Company’s Whistleblower Policy.

Amendments

The Company reserves the right to amend this Policy at any time, for any reason, subject to applicable laws, rules and regulations, and with or without notice,
although it will attempt to provide notice in advance of any change. Unless otherwise permitted by this Policy, any amendments must be approved by the Board
of Directors of the Company.

**********

Adopted on February 3, 2025.
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EXHIBIT A REQUIREMENTS FOR TRADING PLANS
For transactions under a trading plan to be exempt from (A) the prohibitions in the Company’s Insider Trading Policy (the “Policy”) of Aurora Innovation, Inc.
(together with any subsidiaries, collectively the “Company”) with respect to transactions made while aware of material nonpublic information and (B) the pre-
clearance procedures and blackout periods established under the Policy, the trading plan must comply with the affirmative defense set forth in Exchange Act
Rule 10b5-1 and must meet the following requirements:

1. The trading plan must be in writing and signed by the person adopting the trading plan.

2. The trading plan must be adopted at a time when:

a. the person adopting the trading plan is not aware of any material nonpublic information; and

b. there is no quarterly, special or other trading blackout in effect with respect to the person adopting the plan.

3. The trading plan must be entered in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1, and the person adopting the
trading plan must act in good faith with respect to the trading plan.

4. The trading plan must include representations that, on the date of adoption of the trading plan, the person adopting the trading plan:

a. is not aware of material nonpublic information about the securities or the Company; and

b. is adopting the trading plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b5-1.

5. The person adopting the trading plan may not have entered into or altered a corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the securities
subject to the trading plan and must agree not to enter into any such transaction while the trading plan is in effect.

6. Cooling-off Period:

a. For Section 16 Insiders: The first trade under the trading plan may not occur until the expiration of a cooling-off period consisting of the later of (i) 90
calendar days after the adoption of the trading plan and (ii) two business days after the filing by the Company of its financial results in a Form 10-Q or
Form 10-K for the completed fiscal quarter in which the trading plan was adopted (but, in any event, this required cooling-off period is subject to a
maximum of 120 days after adoption of the trading plan).

b. For non-Section 16 Insiders: The first trade under the trading plan may not occur until after the later of (i) termination of the next quarterly blackout period
following adoption of the trading plan and (ii) 30 calendar days after adoption of the trading plan (but, in any event,
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this required cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the trading plan).

7. The trading plan must have a minimum term of one year (starting from the date of adoption of the trading plan).

8. The person adopting the trading plan may not have an outstanding (and may not subsequently enter into any additional) trading plan except as permitted by
Rule 10b5-1. For example, as contemplated by Rule 10b5-1, a person may adopt a new trading plan before the scheduled termination date of an existing
trading plan, so long as the first scheduled trade under the new trading plan does not occur prior to the last scheduled trade(s) of the existing trading plan and
otherwise complies with these guidelines. Termination of the existing trading plan prior to its scheduled termination date may impact the timing of the first
trade or the availability of the affirmative defense for the new trading plan; therefore, persons adopting a new trading plan are advised to exercise caution and
consult with the Compliance Officer prior to the early termination of an existing trading plan.

9. Any modification or change to the amount, price or timing of transactions under the trading plan is deemed the termination of the trading plan and the
adoption of a new trading plan (“Modification”). Therefore, a Modification is subject to the same conditions as a new trading plan as set forth in Sections 1
through 8 herein.

10. Within the one-year period preceding the adoption or a Modification of a trading plan, a person may not have otherwise adopted or made a Modification to a
plan more than once.

11. A person may adopt a single trade plan (i.e., a trading plan designed to cover a single trade only once in any consecutive 12-month period) except as
permitted by Rule 10b5-1.

12. If the person that adopted the trading plan terminates the plan prior to its stated duration, he or she may not trade in the Company’s securities until after the
expiration of 30 calendar days following termination, and then only in accordance with the Policy.

13. The Company must be promptly notified of any Modification or termination of the trading plan, including any suspension of trading under the trading plan.

14. The Company must have authority to require the suspension or cancellation of the trading plan at any time.

15. If the trading plan grants discretion to a stockbroker or other person (a “Designee”) with respect to the execution of trades under the trading plan:

a. trades made under the trading plan must be executed by someone other than the stockbroker or other person that executes trades in other securities for
the person adopting the trading plan;

b. if the Designee has discretion over whether to execute all transactions in a single trade, the trading plan shall be deemed a single trade plan, and shall be
subject to the limitations set forth in Section 11 above;

c. the person adopting the trading plan may not confer with the person administering the trading plan regarding the Company or its securities; and
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d. the person administering the trading plan must provide prompt notice to the Company of the execution of a transaction pursuant to the plan.

16. All transactions under the trading plan must be in accordance with applicable law.

17. The trading plan (including any Modification) must meet such other requirements as the Compliance Officer may determine.

18. Any trading plans adopted or modified prior to February 27, 2023 (the “Effective Date”) are permitted to continue in place until all trades are executed
thereunder or they expire by their terms (“Grandfathered Plans”). If the person undertakes a Modification of a Grandfathered Plan on or after the Effective
Date, then the Modification must meet all of the requirements set forth herein.
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Aurora Innovation, Inc. as of December 31, 2024

Organization Jurisdiction
Aurora Innovation Holdings, Inc. Delaware
Aurora Operations, Inc. Delaware
Other subsidiaries* Various

_____________

*     Other subsidiaries are not shown by name in the above list because, considered in aggregate, they would not constitute a significant subsidiary.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-260835, 333-273378, and 333-284133) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-
272272, 333-269887, 333-263498 and 333-277080) of Aurora Innovation, Inc. of our report dated February 14, 2025 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
February 14, 2025



Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Nos. 333-260835, 333-273378, and 333-284133) on Form S-3 and (Nos. 333-272272, 333-269887,
333-263498, and 333-277080) on Form S-8 of our report dated February 21, 2023, except for Note 14, as to which the date is February 14, 2025, with respect to the
consolidated financial statements of Aurora Innovation, Inc..

/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
February 14, 2025



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Chris Urmson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aurora Innovation, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b)     Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 2025 By: /s/ Chris Urmson
Name: Chris Urmson
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, David Maday, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aurora Innovation, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)     Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

(b)     Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)     Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)     Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)     All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)     Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 14, 2025 By: /s/ David Maday
Name: David Maday
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Aurora Innovation, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1)     The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 14, 2025 By: /s/ Chris Urmson
Name: Chris Urmson
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Aurora Innovation, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1)     The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)     The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 14, 2025 By: /s/ David Maday
Name: David Maday
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)


